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SENT BY E-MAIL AND COURIER 

Toronto, October 18,2008 

Ms. Kirsten Walli 
Board Secretary 
Ontario Energy Board 
2300 Yonge Street, Suite 2700 
Toronto, Ontario 
M4P 1E4 

Dear Ms. Walli: 

RE: Union Gas Application to Discontinue Service (EB-2008-0273) 
0 

We are counsel to NRG in the above-noted matter. 

Please find enclosed the Pre-Filed Evidence of David Pallett (Neal, Pallett & Townsend) and the 
Pre-filed Evidence of NRG. An electronic copy of same was provided to Board counsel and all 
parties to the proceeding today, and hard copies will be brought to the hearing in Aylmer on 
Monday, October 20,2008. 

At the commencement of the oral hearing on Monday, NRG will be raising as a preliminary 
matter the relevance of the pre-filed evidence filed by the two intervenors in this proceeding: the 
Town of Aylmer (the "Town") and the Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. and IGPC 
Ethanol Inc. ("IGPC"). It is NRG's position that both the Town's and IGPC's evidence are 
unrelated to the matters that are the subject of this proceeding, and clearly fall outside the Issues 
List approved by the Board. As a result, both the Town's and IGPC's pre-filed evidence should 
be inadmissible. 

Town of Aylmer Evidence 

The Town filed the Pre-filed Evidence of Margaret Heather Adams on behalf of the Town of 
Aylmer (the "Town") on Wednesday afternoon, after the conclusion of the Issues Day 
conference. Ms. Adarns, by her own admission, states in her pre-filed evidence that: 
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"The Town has no knowledge of, and takes no position with respect to 
the issues regarding the contracts and alleged breach of contracts 
between Union and NRG in this matter." 

Since the Town has no knowledge and takes no position on these contracts, its pre-filed evidence 
serves to carry out the Town's broad communication strategy with the OEB. Accordingly, NRG 
submits that the Town's evidence should be rejected by the OEB and removed from the record. 

According to the Town's pre-filed evidence, the purpose of the Town's evidence is to 
communicate to the Board the Town's perspective on "the broader context and recent 
developments in its relationship with NRG", as part of a larger communications strategy that is 
described in the Town's Council Resolution of October 14, 2008, where Council approved the 
following: 

"Intervening at OEB hearings which involve NRG to ensure the OEB is 
aware of issues of concern to the Town and its residents generally 
identified as follows: 

Quality of infrastructure; 
Rates not competitive; 
Reluctance to serve new comrnercial/industrial customers; 
Significant customer service issues; 
Financial issues raised by customers and suppliers are troubling; and 
Deterrent to local economic development." 

Based on this Council Resolution, it is apparent that the Town intends to raise general concerns 
with NRG at every OEB hearing that involves NRG, regardless of the scope or nature of the 
hearing and regardless of the relevance of those issues to the proceeding. This is an abuse of 
process, and is exactly what the Town has done in this proceeding by introducing evidence on: 
(a) the Town's dissatisfaction with NRG's security deposit policy; (b) the Town's dissatisfaction 
with the relationship between NRG and IGPC; and (c) the level of NRG's distribution rates. 
While there may be forums before the OEB that are appropriately suited to address the Town's 
issues as they arise, this proceeding has nothing to do with any of the issues addressed in the Ms. 
Adam's evidence. The purpose of this proceeding is to deal with the issue of financial 
assurances under the Bundled-T Gas Contract and M9 Delivery Contract between Union and 
NRG. The Town's evidence speaks to none of these issues, yet NRG has had to expend 
significant resources responding to the broad variety of issues raised. The Town should not be 
permitted to abuse the Board's process in this way either in this proceeding, or those in the 
future. 
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Should the OEB allow the Town's pre-filed evidence to form part of the record in this 
proceeding, NRG has replied to the misleading and harmful allegations made by the Town in 
NRG's Pre-filed Evidence. 

IGPC Evidence 

IGPC's Pre-filed Evidence was only filed at 3:00 pm on Friday afternoon. As with the Town's 
evidence, IGPC's evidence relates to matters wholly irrelevant to the matter at hand. In the 
IGPC evidence, IGPC confirms Union "will no longer be seeking an order under subsection 
42(1) of the Act" to discontinue service to NRG, and that "there is no prospect of Union 
discontinuing service to NRG as a result of this proceeding". Based on its own evidence, IGPC 
has no interest in the proceeding and no standing to introduce evidence. IGPC's interests will 
not be affected by the relief sought, even if it is granted. 

IGPC also has confirmed that any allegations made by Union concerning the financial integrity 
or creditworthiness of NRG have no relationship to the construction and operation of the 28.5 
kilometre, six-inch diameter natural gas pipeline and ancillary facilities (the "Pipeline") 
constructed by NRG to provide service to IGPC. 

As a result, the IGPC evidence is not relevant to any of the issues raised by Union on the 
application, and is not admissible. If it is accepted as evidence, NRG will have no choice but to 
respond. There is a lengthy record of correspondence and conduct that demonstrates the IGPC 
evidence to be incomplete, misleading and in some aspects simply false. 

In the event that the Town's and IGPC's pre-filed evidence is considered admissible and allowed 
to form part of the record, cross-examination will be conducted by Mr. Lawrence Thacker of 
Lenczner Slaght Royce Smith Griffin LLP, who will act as NRG's co-counsel with me on 
Monday and Tuesday. Mr. Thacker has been NRG's external counsel on most matters related to 
IGPC and dealings with the Town, and can more readily address this evidence. After reviewing 
the Town's and IGPC's evidence, Mr. Thacker advises that he expects to be approximately two 
hours cross-examining Ms. Adams and approximately one hour cross-examining IGPC's 
witness. 
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Costs 

Finally, if the evidence of the Town and IGPC is admitted, NRG requests that time be set aside at 
the end of the hearing to permit NRG to make submissions to recover the significant legal costs 
incurred by NRG in responding, on a last minute basis, to allegations that are entirely outside the 
scope of the matters in issue in the Union application. 

Yours very truly, 

Richard ing 
RJW rjd 

'/ 
cc: Mark Kitchen (Union) 

Michael Penny (Torys) 
Heather Adarns (Aylmer) 
Philip Tunley (Stockwoods) 
Jim Grey (IGPC) 
Scott Stoll (Aird & Berlis) 
Michael Millar (OEB) 
Lawrence Thacker (Lenczner) 
Neil McKay (OEB) 
Nabih Mikhail (OEB) 
Mark Bristoll (NRG) 
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ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD 

IN THE MATTER OF the Ontario Energy Board Act, 
1998, S.O. 1998, c.15 (Sched. B); 

AND IN THE MATTER OF an Application by Union 
Gas Limited for an order granting it leave to 
discontinue gas transmission to Natural Resource Gas 
Limited. 

PRE-FILED EVIDENCE 

of 

NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

October 18,2008 
-- 
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1. This evidence is organized into three parts, to reply to the pre-filed evidence of Union 

Gas Limited ("Union"), the Town of Aylmer ("Town") and the Integrated Grain Processors 

Cooperative Inc. and IGPC Ethanol Inc. ("IGPC"). 

2. The evidence in response to the Town and IGPC is offered notwithstanding NRG's 

position that the concerns raised in the Town's evidence and IGPC's evidence are wholly outside 

the scope of this hearing. NRG's counsel will raise this argument as a preliminary matter. In the 

event that the Town's evidence and IGPC's evidence are admitted into the record, though, NRG 

will introduce the evidence in response as set out herein. 

RESPONSE TO PRE-FILED EVIDENCE OF UNION 

3. Union has stated that there are only two reasons for their determination that NRG's 

creditworthiness has become unsatisfactory: 

NRG's 2006 Financial Statements were axompanied by a qualified auditor's opinion. 

in 2006, NRG pledged all of its present and future assets, property and undertaking to the 

Bank of Nova Scotia ("BNS") pursuant to a demand loan. 

Each of these issues is addressed in turn. In addition, we respond to Union's assertions about 

NRG's alleged failure to meet with Union on this issue. 

(a) NRG's 2006 Financial Statements 

4. Union's 2007 credit review of NRG was based on NRG's 2006 financial statements, 

which contained a qualified Auditor's Report. Union states that this was "cause for concern" 

(Union Pre-filed Evidence, para. 12). Union notes that the reason for the auditor's qualified 

opinion was that NRG had Class C retractable shares outstanding (with a redemption value of 

about $13.5 million) and that Canadian GAAI' rules require the retractable shares to be 

presented on the balance sheet as a liability (Union Pre-filed Evidence, para. 13). According to 



Union, decreasing NRG's equity by $13.5 million and increasing NRG's liabilities by $13.5 

million would mean a negative shareholder's equity "which provides no protection for creditors" 

(Union Pre-filed Evidence, para. 14). 

5. Union's credit reviews of NRG prior to 2007 (which were based on NRG's financial 

state~nents from 2005 and earlier) did not cause Union concern, and Union assigned an 

unsecured credit limit of $3 million to NRG (Union Pre-filed Evidence, para. 11). 

6. Union's "cause for concern" here rests on what Union considers to be a material change 

in NRG's financial statements as of the 2006 audiled financial statements. 

7 .  NRG's reply to this is three-fold: 

the presentation of NRG's financial statements changed in form slightly in 2006, 

but NRG's underlying share capital and financial condition has not changed at all 

in recent years; 

the retractable nature of the Class C shares has been postponed for five years, at 

the request of the Bank of Nova Scotia (i.e., the shares cannot be retracted by 

NRG for five years); and, 

the Ontario Energy Board ("OEB'"' or "Board") has in two previous NRG rate 

cases (for rate years 2005 (EB-2004-0167) and 2007 (EB-2005-0544)) scrutinized 

NRG's share capital and considered the Class C shares to be equity. 

NRGys Share Capital Has Remained Unchanged Since 2003 

8. The share transactions that created the Class C retractable shares occurred in 2003, as 

referred to in Note 7 of NRG's 2003 financial statements (Appendix A to Pre-filed Evidence of 

David Pallett): 



"During the year the company issmd 134,614.18 Class C shares 
,for $1 00 each. " 

9. The Class C shares are described in Note 7 of NRG's 2003 financial statements as: 

"Unlimited Class C shares non-voting, with a preferential 7% non- 
cumulative dividends redeemable and retractable at $100 per 
share. " 

10. The nature of these Class C shares has not changed since being issued in 2003. 

1 1 .  Moreover, NRG's election to treat the retractable shares as equity instead of a liability in 

their financial statements has also not changed since the time of the issuance of the shares. In 

NRG's 2004 and 2005 financial statements, the following is found in the Notes to the Financial 

Statements: 

"Share Capital 

The company has elected to apply the differential reporting 
measurement option allowed for the accounting for retractable 
shares and, therefore has presented as equity instead of disclosing 
as a liability, the issued and 0ut:itanding Class A and Class C 
shares of the company. " 

(NRG 2004 Audited Financial St;itements, p. 7; Appendix B to 
Pallett Evidence) 
(NRG 2005 Audited Financial Statements, p. 7; Attachment 2 to 
Union Supplemental Evidence) 

12. In 2006, the qualification was moved fiorn the Notes to the Financial Statements to the 

Auditor's Report, and reworded to state: 

"The company has issued and outstanding Class C shares with a 
redemption value of $13,461,418. Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles require that the company present and 
classifj, shares that are retractable at the option of the shareholder 
as a liability on the balance sheei. The company has presented 
these shares as part of the Shareholder's equity. If the shares were 



classz~ed as liabilities, then the total liabilities would increase by 
$1 3,461,418 and share capital would decrease by $13,461,418. " 

(NRG 2006 Financial Statements, p. 1 - Auditor's Report; Exhibit 
I to Union's Original Pre-Filed Evidence) 

13. Although the presentation of how the shares were treated was altered, the substantive 

nature of the Class C shares and how they were treated fi-om an accounting perspective did not 

change in 2006, and have not changed to date since issuance of the shares in 2003. 

Union Has Known of the Retractable Nature of NRG's Shares since 2003 

14. The retractable nature of NRG's Class C shares has been explicitly set out in NRG's 

financial statements since their issuance in 2003. The accounting treatment of those shares has 

been explicitly set out in NRG's financial statements since 2004. 

15. Union's annual credit review includes an examination of NRG's financial statements 

every year. Since 2003, then, Union would ha1.e been aware of the retractable nature of the 

Class C shares. Since 2004, NRG would have been aware of NRG's election under GAAP to 

report these shares as equity. Union would have reviewed these statements as part of their 

annual credit review, and in NRG's 2005 and 2007 rate cases (which Union regularly intervenes 

in, and which contain the financial statements for the years 2003,2004 and 2005 in evidence). 

16. Nothing new has occurred in NRG's 2006 audited financial statements to change this, yet 

Union did not express any concern about this until 2007. 

NRG's Class C Shares Have Been Postponed 



17. By way of an Assignment, Postponement and Subordination Agreement dated August 22, 

2008 (the "Postponement Agreement"), the shareholder of NRG's Class C shares has postponed 

its right to retract the Class C shares. The Postponement Agreement states as follows: 

"From the date hereof and until such time as all indebtedness, 
obligations and liabilities of the Borrower to the Bank under the 
Credit Agreement or arising una'er any other credit agreement 
between the Bank and the Bor.vower are repaid in full, the 
Subordinator agrees: 

(a) to postpone the payment and satisfaction by the Borrower of all 
shareholder loans, dividends and other rights to withdraw capital 
now ov hereajtev due and owing Ey the Borrower to the [Class C 
shareholder] and all interest accruing thereon (the "Subordinated 
Obligations'? in favour of the Bank, and to subordinate the 
Subordinated Obligations to ali indebtedness, liabilities and 
obligations of the Borrower to the Bank. " 

(Postponement Agreement, page 1; Appendix C to Pallett 
Evidence) 

18. Thus, NRG's Class C shareholder cannot currently retract them, and will not be able to 

retract them as long as the BNS loan remains in place (which is at least five years from 

September 2008). 

The Class C Shares are Equity 

19. The GAAP rules governing how retractable shares are reported under GAAP do not 

change the fact that NRG's Class C Shares are in fact shares. They represent the legal paid-up 

capital of NRG, and the equity contributed by the shareholders to the business. 

20. The Board has through the past two NRG rate cases treated the Class C shares as equity. 
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(b) NRG's Pledging of Assets to BNS 

21. Union's second reason for considering, NRG's creditworthiness to have become 

unsatisfactory is that NRG has pledged all of its assets to BNS pursuant to the demand loan with 

BNS (Union Pre-filed Evidence, para.15). Beca~se  of this, Union asserts, there would not be 

sufficient current assets to repay the cost of the gas NRG borrows from Union by March 31 of 

the heating season (Union Pre-filed Evidence, para.16). Again, Union paints this as a material 

change in NRG's circumstances that occurred in 2006. NRG's response to this is four-fold: 

it is very common in secured finiincings to have a general security agreement 

("GSA") pledging all the borrower's assets to the lender; 

as evidence of this, and the fact that nothing has changed in respect of NRG's 

financial circumstances, NRG's previous loan had a GSA; 

the existence of a GSA is not indicative of the creditworthiness of any company; 

and, 

the creditworthiness of NRG has not deteriorated. 

Each of these is addressed in turn. 

GSAs are Very Common in Secured Financing:: 

22. GSAs are common. It is not unusual for f nancings (even of very large companies) to be 

secured by the lender. Many large, household name companies have pledged all of their assets 

as security. For example, Canwest Limited I'artnership's credit facilities are secured "by 

substantially all of its directly held assets", which suggest a GSA or similar security. A very 

quick website search of some companies' financial statements reveal that many other large, well- 

know companies such as TransAlta, Hudson's 13ay, Toys R Us, Circuit City, Emco, United 

Rentals, and Wajax, indicate secured financing as well. 



23. Attached as Appendix A to this evidence is an excerpt from Canwest's financial 

statements. 

NRG's Assets Have Always Been Pledged undeir a GSA (since 1994) 

24. Prior to the re-financing and establishment. of the BNS loan, NRG's main debt financing 

was through a Loan Agreement with the Imperial Life Assurance Company of Canada ("Imperial 

Life") . This NRG financing was in place for approximately 12 years - from 1994 to 2006, when 

it was replaced by the BNS loan. The Imperial Life loan had a GSA whereby NRG pledged all 

of its assets to Imperial Life (attached as Appendix D, Pallett Evidence). 

25. The existence of a GSA was disclosed in every financial statement issued by NRG since 

1994. For example, in the Notes to the Financial Statements for the 2003 financial statements, 

Note 6 dealing with long-term debt states: 

"The following has been pledged as security for the Imperial Life 
loan: 
a)-fixed andfloating charge over all of the assets of the company; 
b) general security agreement; 
c) general assignment of accounts r'zceivable; and, 
d) assignment of all risk insurtznce over the assets of the 
company. 

(Page 13, NRG's 2003 Financial Statements; Appendix A to Pallett 
Evidence) 

26. NRG's 2004 and 2005 financial statements contain virtually identical statements. 

27. NRG's 2006 and 2007 set out a very similar statement in respect of the GSA in relation 

to the BNS loan: 

"The company has pledged the foilowing as security against the 
term note payable, the operating line of credit, and the revolving 
line of' credit: 



a) General assignment of book debts 
b) General Security Agreement ovc?r all of the present and future 
personal property and undertaking (of the company 
c) Security under Section 427 of the Bank Act with appropriate 
insurance coverage assigned to the Bank; 
d) Demand Debenture for $1 5,000, (300 secured by a first fixed and 
.floating charge over all assets inchding, but not limited to, the 
CertiJicate o f  Public Convenience and Necessity and all Municipal 
Franchise Agreements, with rep/acement cost fire insurance 
coverage, loss i f  any, payable to the Bank as mortgagee. " 

(Page 14, NRG's 2007 Financial Statements; Attachment 1 to Union 
Supplemental Evidence) 

28. It seems highly unlikely that none of Union's annual credit reviews would have caught 

this. 

Existence of a GSA is Not Indicative of Creditwlorthiness 

29. The existence (or non-existence) of a GSA does not mean a company is less 

creditworthy. A GSA simply grants a creditor security over the borrower's assets. Lenders will 

not grant credit to a borrower if they do not believe the borrower is creditworthy (regardless of 

what security is granted). 

30. Furthermore, a borrower may choose to grant security (even if it could obtain credit on an 

unsecured basis) for two reasons: (a) the granting of security may result in less restrictive 

covenants; and (b) the granting of security may provide the borrower with a better rate. 

Union is Alone in Considering NRG's Financial Position to Have Deteriorated 

31. No other entity with whom NRG has dealings has raised issues with NRG's 

creditworthiness. For example, NRG purchases ap-proximately $4 million of natural gas annually 

i'rom two suppliers: Shell Energy and Energy Source Canada. Neither have required security 



from NRG - and it is very common to be required to post collateral under these types of 

contracts. 

32. If anything, NRG's financial position has consistently improved since the company was 

purchased by Mr. Graat in 1979. Since then, the company has changed from a smaller system 

serving approximately 2,000 customers to today's company which services nearly 7,000 

customers. That is a 350% increase in customers in 20 years. The company is much larger and 

on a more sound financial footing today than ever in the past. Indicative of that is the fact that 

NRG was able to re-finance with BNS. 

33. NRG has never missed a payment to Union under the contracts in question. 

(d) NRG's Alleged Failure to Meet Union on this Issue 

34. Union's pre-filed evidence makes a number of allegations about NRG's reluctance to 

meet with Union about the financial assurance issue. This issue should be clarified. NRG was 

consistently ready to meet with Union provided Union detailed its exposure calculation for NRG 

(i.e., how it arrived at the financial assurance calculation). Union did not provide NRG with this 

infonnation. 

RESPONSE TO PRE-FILED EVIDENCE OF THE TOWN OF AYLMER 

35. The Pre-filed Evidence of Ms. Adams on behalf of the Town raises the following five 

issues, none of which relate to the issue to be determined in the Union application: 

the fairness of NRG's security depxit policy; 

the level of NRG's distribution rates; and, 



NRG's ability to attract new custoniers to the Town; 

the Town's argument that any resultant rate impacts ought to be borne by NRG's 

shareholder not the ratepayer; and, 

NRG's attempts to meet with the Town to resolve concerns. 

Each is dealt with in turn. 

(a) Security Deposits 

36. NRG's security deposit policy for residential accounts is set out at Appendix B. It can 

generally be summarized as follows: 

A credit report will be obtained for all accounts. The General 
Manager will review the credit report and determine if and how 
much of a deposit will be required. The maximum deposit that may 
be required is an amount equal to ?.5 months of the average of the 
account's three highest months of consumption. 

Once a security deposit has been received the Customer must 
satisb the following requiremenls in order to receive a 50% 
security deposit refund: 

The customer must have a full 12 months of clean payments (i.e. no 
late payments, NSF Cheques, etc.), 

Thc Customer cannot have received any disconnection notices or 
been disconnected within the last 24 months, 

l f ' the customer's payment history has no late payments within the 
last 12 months a 50% of the securiiy deposit will be refunded, and 

lf ' the customer's payment history has no late payments within the 
last 24 months the balance of the szcurity deposit will be refunded. 

37. NRG's security deposit policy for residential accounts is similar to Union's, which is set 

out at Appendix C. 



38. Both NRG's and Union's policies provide them with the discretion to require a security 

deposit based on the risk associated with the account, up to a maximum limit of three months 

consumption for Union and 2.5 months consumption for NRG. 

39. The OEB is currently in the process of considering amendments to the Gas Distribution 

Access Rule (the "GDAR") (EB-2008-0313)' which would establish a standardized regulatory 

framework for the collection and administration of security deposits by gas distributors. Parties 

have the opportunity to comment on the Board's proposed amendments to the GDAR by 

November 19, 2008. According to the Town's Council Resolution dated October 14, 2008 

referred to above, the Town's communications strategy includes: 

"...endorsing the OEB proposed amendment to the Gas Distribution 
Access Rule provide direction to ncztural gas distributors regarding 
customer security deposits ... " 

Therefore, the Town has acknowledged in this proceeding through its pre-filed evidence that it 

will attempt to address its concerns with NRG's security deposit policy through the GDAR 

amendment proceeding. 

40. NRG's current security deposit policy set out at Appendix B generally conforms with the 

proposed GDAR amendments. 

4 1 .  Curiously, an endorsement by the Town o F the proposed GDAR amendments suggests an 

endorsement of NRG's security deposit policy - lhe very same policy the Town now purports to 

condemn. 

42. Further, NRG met with the Town's Mayor and Ms. Adams on September 11, 2008. At 

that meeting, NRG provided them with a copy cf  its security deposit policy, and discussed the 

policy with the Mayor and Ms. Adams, requesting the Town to provide comments to NRG on the 

policy. Neither during nor since that meeting has NRG received any feedback on its security 



deposit policy from the Town. In fact, NRG was surprised and disappointed to see the issue 

raised by the Town in this proceeding. 

43. The petition included in the Town's pre-filed evidence should be disregarded by the OEB 

for the following reasons: 

only 12 of the 457 names were pro~rided; 

of the 12 names provided, 4 are not customers of NRG; 

there are several instances where there is more than one signatory per account; 

some of the 12 customers have a recent late payment history; 

some of the 12 customers have had their security deposit policy refunded; and, 

NRG has never received a copy of the petition, so any refunds occurred in the 

normal course of NRG's business (i.e., it was not dependent on any petition). 

(b) NRG's Gas Distribution Rates 

44. NRG's last cost of service application for gas distribution rates (for fiscal 2007) was filed 

on March 28, 2006 (EB-2005-0544). In that proceeding, NRG's rate application was scrutinized 

by the OEB, Board Staff and intervenors. 

45. The Town was served with the Notice of .4pplication in that proceeding, but chose not to 

intervene. The OEB ultimately approved gas distribution rates for NRG that are in effect today. 

Pursuant to section 36 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998 (the "OEB Act"), the Board is 

required to set rates that are just and reasonable. Thus, NRG's current distribution rates are just 

and reasonable. 



46. NRG's gas distribution rates are also in compliance with the Franchise Agreement 

between the Town and NRG (included in the Town's pre-filed evidence): 

"7. The rates to be charged and collected and the terms of service 
to be providzd by the Company jbr gas supplied by it under this 
franchise shall be the rates and the terms of service approved or 
j'ixed by the Ontario Energy Board.. . " 

47. According to the Town, NRG's gas distribution rates are not competitive with Union's 

rates. As part of NRG's last cost of service application (EB-2005-0544)' a public forum to allow 

NRG ratepayers to voice their concerns was held in the Town on July 18, 2006 (the "Public 

Forum"). Customer concerns about the difference in rates between Union and NRG were raised 

at the Public Forum. 

48. In the Board's Decision with Reasons dated September 20, 2006 (EB-2005-0544)' the 

Board summarized this concern and NRG's reasons for the rate differences: 

NRG responded to customer concerns about difference in rates 
between Union and NRG at the oral hearing in Toronto and 
provided a detailed explanation. A'RG's analysis indicated that its 
cost of providing gas to a residential customer is approximately 
20% higher than a customer in Uvlion's southern operations area 
and 8% higher than a customer in Union's eastern operations area. 
With respect to NRG's seasonal cztstomers such as tobacco curing 
customers, the cost is 17% higher than for a similar Union 
customer. 

The Company provided a number of reasons for the difference as 
outlined below: 

The volumes consumed by an average NRG customer are 
considerably less than tile volumes consumed by an 
average Union customer. This is true for all classes of 
customers and essentially wakes the NRG system a more 
costly system to operate. 

NRG has a higher return or! equity as compared to Union. 
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Union has embedded debt costs of 7.68% in its rates as 
compared to NRG's total debt cost of 8.45%. 

NRG has a relatively new rate base as compared to Union. 
This means that its meters, regulators and mains have not 
depreciated to the same extent as Union's. In other words, 
NRG is carvying a higher nc't book value in its rate base. 

NRG's .franchise area is essentially rural with no urban 
centres while Union has l a y e  urban centres in its Southern 
Operations Zone including ,Yamilton, London and Windsor. 
This means that NRG has to put more pipes in the ground 
to get to the same number 'of customers. This is one of the 
reasons why Union's other operating areas that are 
sparsely populated reveal smaller differences in rates when 
compared to NRG. 

49. The OEB accepted NRG's explanations fo:- the rate difference between NRG and Union: 

With respect to differences in rutes between Union and NRG 
which was raised at the town hall' meeting, the Board instructed 
NRG to provide an analysis. That analysis explains the 
differences to the satisfaction of the Board. There are signzjcant 
dzfferences in operating costs which flow directly from the nature 
of' the territory in which the two companies operate. Essentially 
NRG enjoys smaller economies of scale than Union. NRG also has 
newer plant and therefore higher level of capital costs including a 
higher level ofequity and debt. 

50. The concern now raised by the Town in this proceeding was carefully considered and 

rejected by the OEB at the Public Forum. At th2.t time, the OEB accepted NRG's explanations 

for the rate differences in its last rate case. Moreover, the Town is raising these after choosing 

not to intervene in that rate case. The OEB's analysis and findings were correct and binding. It 

appears as though the Town will continue to raise this same concern in every OEB proceeding 

(for rates or otherwise) that NRG is involved in. This is a key element of the Town's broad 

cominunication strategy with the OEB. However, the OEB should not permit the Town to 

manipulate the OEB process for self-interested political purposes. 
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51. It is worth noting that NRG's distribution charges are about the same as those for an 

Enbridge customer that uses 2,000 cubic metres of gas per year. Both utilities are in the 14 to 15 

cent per cubic metre range for delivery (NRG's monthly charge is lower). 

52. According to the Town, the OEB approved rate increases for NRG in March, June and 

September of 2008, but the Town did not receive riotice in regard to the corresponding hearings. 

NRG wishes to point out that the March, Junt: and September rate increases pertained to 

commodity cost adiustments under the QRAM methodology. Further, the Town is a customer of 

NRG and receives the same notices as any other customer. 

53. Commodity cost adjustments are beyond NRG's control and generally track the trend of 

commodity costs of the other two utilities. In faci:, NRG's current gas commodity rate (38.9444 

cents per cubic metre) is lower than Union's (39.3075 cents per cubic metre). 

54. Further, in those proceedings, NRG was directed by the Board to provide notice of those 

proceedings to intervenors in EB-2005-0544 ('VRG's last cost of service proceeding). As 

mentioned above, the Town did not intervene in that proceeding, and was therefore not entitled 

to notice in the subsequent QRAM proceedings. 

55.  The Town also suggested that NRG's gas distribution rates are high relative to NRG's 

history of investment in the maintenance of its distribution infrastructure in the Town. According 

to the Town: 

"In recent years, the Town has not been advised of any 
distribution system improvemenfs in the pipelines within the 
Town's boundaries. Since our frtznchise agreement requires that 
we be notijied we must assume that no maintenance or 
improvement of these zlndergrolnnd facilities has been carried 
out. I )  
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(Town Pre-filed Evidence, Report t3 Council) 

56. NRG carries-out maintenance activities alrnost every day to maintain the reliability of its 

distribution system, in accordance with good utility practice. 

57. The franchise agreement does not require NRG to provide notice to the Town of day-to- 

day maintenance. Rather, notice is generally required: (i) for work (exclusive of service 

connections from the street main to the property line) that interferes with the traveling surface of 

any highway; and (ii) before laying or installing new (or renewal) mains, pipes and works 

(exclusive of service connections from the street main to the property line) (Section 4 of 

Franchise Agreement, Town Pre-File Evidence). 

58.  The Town's assertion that no maintenance has been carried out is incorrect. Moreover, 

the Town's purported assumption that no maintenance is being done is contrary to the plain, 

express words of the franchise agreement and the actual knowledge of the Town. It is an 

improper attempt to mislead the Board. 

59. In fact, NRG's system is relatively new compared to Union's, as acknowledged by the 

Board and set out in the quotation from the OEB'a decision in EB-2005-0544 above: 

NRG has a relatively new rate bcse as compared to Union. This 
means that its meters, regulators cznd mains have not depreciated 
to the same extent as Union 's. 

60. Therefore, it is reasonable to expect that NRG's system requires less maintenance than 

that of the other two utilities. 

(c) New CommerciaVIndustrial Customers 



61. The Town argues that NRG's record of support for new industrial development in the 

'Town of Aylmer has been poor. Specifically, the Town refers to two examples (NRG has not 

been apprised by the Town or anyone else of any other specific customers that have chosen to 

not invest in Aylmer because of NRG being the gas supply). The first is NRG's conduct in 

connection with the development of an ethanol plajlt by IGPC. The second is a brief reference in 

the Town's Report to Council to "complaints fi-on1 a business constructing a new facility about 

the unreasonableness of NRG in its requirements in order to provide natural gas service to the 

new facility - subsequently company used propane" (Town Pre-filed Evidence, Report to 

Council, p. 2). 

62. With respect to the latter example, the Town has completely misstated the facts 

surrounding this customer (the "Customer"). 

63. In dealing with the Customer, NRG made every effort to support the development of its 

new facility. NRG acted reasonably and did not impose any unreasonable requirements on the 

Customer in offering to provide natural gas service. Despite this, it was the Customer's 

preference to instead use propane at the facility because of their longstanding relationship with a 

propane supplier, which made it possible for the Customer to obtain propane at a more 

favourable price. NRG is not aware of any complaints related to its dealings with the Customer 

in connection with this facility. 

64. With respect to the IGPC facility, NRG has conducted its business in a manner that has 

sought to balance the need to act as a commercially responsible and prudent utility (connecting a 

new company with no financial history that would triple NRG's throughput) with the objective 

of supporting the development of the IGPC facility. 



65 .  The evidence of Ms. Adams is incomplete and misleading in its description of NRG's 

conduct. For instance, she alleges that NRG "i~iexplicably" sought additional payments that 

resulted in delays to the project (Town Pre-filed E.(idence, para.11). As the Board is well aware, 

these matters have been the subject of prior proceedings before the Board and prior decisions and 

orders of the Board (discussed somewhat in the next section of this evidence). 

66. The "additional payments" sought by NRG did not result in any delays to the project. 

The payments referred to by Ms. Adams related to the security deposit required from IGPC. 

This matter was the subject of EB-2006-0243, in which the Board defined the central issue as 

being "IGPC's failure to deliver credit and the dispute as to the proper amount of that letter of 

credit" (EB-2006-0243, Motion Hearing Transcr .pt, February 28, 2008, p. 138, line 20). The 

delays were caused solely by IGPC's refusal to provide security to NRG. 

67. These deficiencies continue to the present day. IGPC to date has failed to fully 

commission its own ethanol facility. 

68. As such, it was not an "inexplicable" effort on the part of NRG to obtain additional 

payments that caused delays to the project, as alleged by Ms. Adams. Moreover, Ms. Adams 

was present at the February 28 proceedings and is well aware of what actually transpired and the 

Board's findings. 

69. Moreover, NRG performed all of its 01)ligations relating to the construction of the 

pipeline servicing the IGPC facility. The agreed-upon in-service date was initially July 1, 2008 

and NRG had its work completed by July 3, 2008, but IGPC was not ready to accept delivery 

then. NRG has since July 3,2008 been ready to deliver to IGPC, but IGPC has consistently been 

the source of delay for several reasons including: 



on Augwst 20, the commissioning of the facility could not proceed because IGPC had not 

purged its system; 

on August 25, the commissioning could not proceed because NRG's inspection of the 

IGPC facility revealed Code infractions fclr virtually all of IGPC's equipment (including 

their hot water heater and furnace)(see Appendix D hereto); 

on September 4, IGPC requested inspection of their hot water heater but NRG's 

inspection on September 5'" revealed it still to be non-compliant; 

NRG was asked to visit IGPC's facility on September 15 because of water in the gas line 

(to determine whether the source was from IGPC or NRG), and it was determined that 

IGPC had connected a water line to their gas line; 

Lakeside is now temporarily booked for the week of October 25 to install the permanent 

custody transfer station which should be fc~llowed by a NRG inspection; 

after that (and not before), NRG will be able to do a final cost accounting to IGPC. 

(d) Rate Impacts of Financial Assurance/Neltv Contract Date 

70. If NRG is required to provide the financial assurance being requested by Union, this cost 

(which is associated with gas supply to NRG's customers) would normally be passed on to 

NRG's customers unless that cost was imprudently incurred. Although we have not had time to 

do a detailed rate impact analysis, our rate consultant (Mr. Randy Aiken) advises us that the rate 

impacts would be in the ballpark of: 

$8 per year for residential customer; 

$35 per year for a small commercial custolner; 



$68 per year for a grain dryer; 

$656 per year for a large commercial grain dryer; 

$1,100 per year for the high school (Large 113 customer). 

71. If NRG is required to move its contract date to April 1, then NRG would have gas in 

inventory as an asset typically included in rate base. Based on a $10 per GJ cost of gas and 

previous NRG gas usage figures, the resultant rate impacts are very close to those above (for 

financial assurance). 

(e) NRG Attempts to Meet with the Town to Resolve Concerns 

72. On June 13, 2008, NRG, through counsel, fi~rmally requested an opportunity to meet with 

the Town to discuss the renewal of NRG's franchise and commence the franchise renewal 

process. NRG had previously made requests of Heather Adams for a meeting. On June 11, Ms. 

Adams told NRG that she was unable to provide a meeting date and time. 

73. On June 17, Ms. Adams responded advising that the Town would not meet with NRG 

until "immediately after natural gas is being provicled by NRG to site [sic] of the Town's newest 

business. IGPC Ethanol Inc." 

74. On June 20, NRG responded repeating its request for an opportunity to meet with the 

'Town and confirming that construction of the Pipeline was well underway and was expected to 

be completed by July. NRG specifically wanted to determine if the Town had any concerns 

about the renewal of NRG's franchise so that NRG could address them immediately. 

75. On July 8, the Town responded through counsel again refusing to set a date for the 

meeting. 
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76. On August 11, NRG through counsel again repeated its previous requests for an 

opportunity to meet with the Town to discuss the franchise renewal process. 

77. The exchange of correspondence referred to above is attached at Appendix Q. 

78. NRG has demonstrated its efforts to maintain an open and productive relationship with 

the Town, and a willingness to meet with the 'Town to resolve any concerns it might have. 

Despite repeated requests, the Town refused for over two months to meet with NRG and never 

advised NRG of any concerns about the renewal of its franchise. In those circumstances, NRG is 

surprised that the Town has now chosen the Union proceeding as the forum to raise these 

concerns that it has specifically refused to discuss with NRG. 

RESPONSE TO PRE-FILED EVIDENCE OF IIGPC 

79. In the IGPC Evidence, IGPC confirms that the applicant Union "will no longer be 

seeking an order under subsection 42(1) of the .4ctn to discontinue service to NRG, and that 

"there is no prospect of Union discontinuing service to NRG as a result of this proceeding". 

80. Based on its own evidence, IGPC has no interest in the proceeding and no standing to 

introduce evidence. IGPC's interests will not be affected by the relief sought, even if it is 

granted. 

81. IGPC has also confirmed that any allegations made by Union concerning the financial 

integrity or credit worthiness of NRG have no relationship to the construction and operation of 

the 28.5 kilometre, six-inch diameter natural gas pipeline and ancillary facilities (the "Pipeline") 

constructed by NRG to provide service to IGPC. 



82. As a result, the IGPC Evidence is not relevant to any of the issues raised by Union on the 

application, and is not admissible. 

83. The IGPC Evidence presents a false and rnisleading picture of the relationship between 

NRG and IGPC, and fails to disclose IGPC's: 

(a) repeated defaults; 

(b) failures to comply with its obligations owed to NRG; and 

(c) unnecessarily litigious approach to managing the relationship with NRG. 

84. IGPC's conduct as outlined below has co~itributed to unnecessary legal and other costs 

incurred by NRG, for which IGPC is liable. 

(a) Financing the Pipeline 

85 .  Pursuant to the Pipeline Cost Recovery Agreement dated as of January 31, 2007 

("PCRA") (Appendix E) among NRG and IGPC, NRG and IGPC agreed to construct the 

Pipeline on certain terms and conditions. The OE13 approved the PCRA and granted NRG leave 

to construct by Decision and Order dated February 2, 2007. 

86. As a regulated utility whose stakeholders ~nclude commercial and industrial consumers, 

customers and municipalities, NRG has an obligat: on to ensure that any transaction it enters into 

does not expose it to inappropriate financial liabilities and/or other unacceptable risks. 

Accordingly, the purpose and intent of the PCRA was to ensure that NRG would at all times be 

fully secured for all costs related to the constniction of the Pipeline. Acknowledging this 

hndemental principle, the OEB approved the PCRA and other documents necessary to enable 

NRG and IGPC to work together to construct the Pipeline. 

(b) Letter of Credit 

87. The PCRA provides for NRG to be fully secured for all costs, obligations and risks by 

way of letters of credit. There are two letters of credit required: 

(a) Customer Letter of Credit (Section '1.1); and 



(b) Delivery Letter of Credit (Section 7.3). 

88. Article 7.1 of the PCRA provides that IGI'C will, prior to NRG ordering the pipe and 

stations, provide NRG "an irrevocable letter or letrers of credit ("Customer Letter of Credit") in 

an amount equal to the quoted cost of the pipe and the stations minus any payments made by the 

Customer to the Utility in respect of the pipe and the stations." 

89. IGPC failed to comply with its obligations under Article 7.1. IGPC never delivered a 

Customer Letter of Credit. 

90. IGPC's failure to provide the Customer Letter of Credit caused numerous delays with 

construction. For example, NRG was unable to 01-der components and materials from Lakeside 

Controls Process Controls Ltd. ("Lakeside Controls") for the stations, and IGPC refused to pay 

Lakeside Controls directly the amounts it required to deliver components and materials 

according to the construction schedule. 

9 Article 7.3 of the PCRA provides that prior to the award of the construction agreement by 

NRG, IGPC will provide to NRG an irrevocable Letter of Credit ("Delivery Letter of Credit") in 

an amount equal to the difference between the Revised Estimated Capital Cost and the Revised 

Estimated Aid-to-Construct. 

92. As of February 28, 2008, despite repeated requests by NRG, IGPC refused to provide 

NRG with the Delivery Letter of Credit. 

93. The failure to provide the Delivery Letter of Credit put NRG in a compromised position. 

Any default by IGPC in the payment of money owed would have had repercussions not only for 

NRG stakeholders, but also for ratepayers. That is, if NRG were forced to absorb a default, the 

rates paid by NRG customers would have to be increased. It was fundamentally unfair to place 

the risk of this project on the shoulders of NRG customers. 

94. By letter dated February 15, 2008 (Appendix F), counsel for NRG pointed out that an 

earlier January 3 1, 2008 letter - outlining the proposed terms and conditions of the proposed 

Delivery Letter of Credit - was intended to "forrr~ the basis for good faith negotiations towards 

mutually acceptable terms and conditions for a letter of credit". 



95. Instead of responding to NRG's February 15 proposal, which was provided by NRG at 

IGPC's specific request, IGPC delivered a 3 volunle "Motion Record" to the OEB that contained 

numerous false and misleading statements. On February 28, 2008, the OEB held a hearing in 

Aylmer. 

(c) The February 28,2008 OEB Hearing 

96. The OEB stated in its Decision rendered on February 28, 2008 (EB-2006-0243) that 

IGPC has failed to deliver the required Delivery Letter of Credit: 

"The central issue is, first and foremost, IGPC's failure to deliver credit 

and the dispute as to the proper amount of that Letter of Credit" 

(Transcript of Proceedings of OEB Hearing held February 28, 2008, T. 

138). 

97. Despite the OEB's ruling, it was not until April 2008 that IGPC provided the required 

Delivery Letter of Credit to NRG. IGPC had been in default of its obligations owed to NRG 

continuously until April 2008. Nonetheless, NRG proceeded with the design and construction of 

the Pipeline throughout that period, despite having an absolute contractual right to terminate the 

Pipeline due to IGPC's ongoing default and breach of its contractual obligations owed to NRG. 

98. Notwithstanding IGPC's failure to provide security, NRG contracted for and started 

construction on the Pipeline (in the amount of $3 million) to keep the project moving forward. 

This was a $3 million exposure that NRG took for IGPC's project. 

(d) Union Gas 

99. As a result of IGPC's failure to provide 1:he required Delivery Letter of Credit to NRG, 

NRG was unable to pay amounts demanded by Union as aid-to-construct for a 1.6 kilometre 

extension that was an integral part of the Pipeline located in the Union franchise area. This was 

recognized by the OEB. When NRG demons~rated that the complaints of Union Gas were 

caused solely by IGPC's defiiult, the OEB directed IGPC to pay the required amount to Union 

directly. That solution was suggested by NRG, because NRG did not wish to have its progress 

I ions. impaired by IGPC's default of its financial obligrt' 



100. Subsequently, after being ordered to do so by the OEB, IGPC paid Union $736,000 as an 

Aid-To-Construct and delivered a Letter of Credit to Union in the amount of $73,100. The 

uniqueness of the situation was caused solely by IGPC's default and breach of its contractual 

obligation to provide NRG with the Delivery Letter of Credit. IGPC simply refused or failed to 

comply with its financial obligations. 

(e) Union Gas and Lakeside 

101. Despite IGPC's failure to provide NRG with the Customer Letter of Credit and the 

consequent breach of the PCRA, NRG continued to move forward with construction of the 

Facility. NRG obtained quotes fiom both Union Gas and Lakeside Process Controls for essential 

components of the pipeline construction that were required to be purchased in advance to ensure 

timely delivery. NRG forwarded details about the quotes to IGPC as it acquired that 

information, and conveyed the requests for payment as well. 

102. The PCRA does not specifically contemplate a system whereby NRG makes 

arrangements with subcontractors and asks IGPC for payment to fulfill the contracts. That is 

because under the PCRA, NRG was required to have received, by that stage, the Customer Letter 

of Credit from IGPC, thus enabling NRG to remit the payments directly to the subcontractors 

without delay. However, because IGPC refused to deliver the Customer Letter of Credit, NRG 

was required to seek ad hoc financing or securty from IGPC for each advance payment or 

liability that it incurred to keep the construction or: the required timeline. 

103. These delays and frustrations were exacerbated by IGPC's refusal to cooperate with 

NRG. NRG initially asked IGPC to pay directly to Union the $700,000 it required. IGPC 

refused to do so. It was not until after the OEB's February 28 decision that IGPC finally made 

the required payments to Union. 

104. Thc inefficiency inherent in such a process was evident in the inevitable delays in 

reviewing invoices, requisitioning payments and remitting those payments through multiple 

parties. Despite NRG's best efforts to relay information as soon as possible, all parties ended up 

feeling that they were not accorded sufficient time to deal with the demands placed upon them. 

However, these delays were all caused by IGPC':; refusal to provide the Letters of Credit it was 

contractually bound to deliver. 
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(0 IGPC Fails to Pay Security Deposit 

105. A history of negotiations between NRG and IGPC about the security deposit IGPC is 

required to pay to NRG was set out in detail in a 1ei:ter dated August 15,2008 (Appendix G). 

106. By letter dated July 8 (Appendix H), NR(3 issued an invoice to IGPC for the security 

deposit required pursuant to the Gas Delivery Agreement dated January 30,2007 ("GDA"). 

107. By letters dated July 10 and 17 (Appendix I), NRG advised IGPC that the security 

deposit was required to secure amounts payable by IGPC to NRG. The pipeline was completed 

and fully cominissioned by July 10 and NRG had performed all of its obligations relating to the 

construction of the pipeline. 

108. To accommodate IGPC, NRG had previo~sly agreed with IGPC that the in-service date 

would be July 15. As a result, IGPC was required to pay NRG all delivery charges commencing 

July 15. For that reason, IGPC was required to pay the security deposit to NRG by July 15 

regardless of whether IGPC was ready to receive gas on that day. 

1 NRG again requested that IGPC pay the security deposit. IGPC again refused to pay the 

security deposit. 

1 10. On July 17, NRG again repeated its request that IGPC pay the security deposit required 

under the GDA. NRG and IGPC had several disc~~ssions subsequently about the form and timing 

of the delivery of the security deposit. IGPC advised NRG that it was financially unable to pay 

the security deposit due to limitations on its ability to draw down cash due to the terms and 

conditions of its credit facility. 

11 1 .  On July 28, IGPC told NRG that it would provide a letter of credit that could be cashed 

immediately so that NRG would be in the same position as if IGPC had paid a cash deposit. 

1 12. Subsequently, IGPC demanded that any security paid by IGPC be segregated in a special 

account and not be accessed by NRG for any puqose until IGPC defaults. On August 13, before 

NRG could respond to IGPC, IGPC delivered a letter of credit in the amount of $232,666.84. 

1 13. At no time between July 8 and August 13 did IGPC ever provide NRG with a copy of the 

proposed letter of credit so that NRG could review its terms and conditions. To the contrary, 



IGPC had advised that it was prepared to pay a cash deposit, but simply could not do so until the 

next regularly scheduled draw down against its credit facility at the end of July. 

1 1  4. If NRG had known IGPC was refusing to pay the security deposit in cash, it would have 

demanded an opportunity to review the proposed letter of credit. 

1 15. The letter of credit delivered by IGPC on A.ugust 13 contains numerous deficiencies. For 

example, the letter of credit expires in December 2008. Clearly, the amounts required to be 

secured will be owing for many years beyond 2008. Accordingly, the current form of letter of 

credit is not acceptable to NRG. 

1 16. On August 14, 2008 (Appendix J), IGPC, through counsel, responded. 

11 7. By letter dated August 15, 2008 (Appendix G), NRG responded to the new allegations 

raised by IGPC. As mentioned earlier, NRG was ready to commission the IGPC facility 

throughout July, but was unable to do so due to technical problems that are the fault of IGPC's 

(failure to purge lines, water contamination of lines, and non-complaint equipment). IGPC is 

still not ready to be commissioned. 

1 1  8. On September 17, 2008 (Appendix K), NRG provided IGPC with a proposed form of 

Letter of Credit. 

1 1 9. On September 24, 2008 (Appendix L), IG PC, through counsel provided its comments on 

NRG's proposed draft Letter of Credit. 

120. On September 24, 2008 (Appendix M), NRG provided its response to IGPC on the draft 

Letter of Credit, and provided a revised draft Lettcr of Credit. 

121. To date, IGPC has not yet provided NRG with the required security deposit in a form 

acceptable to NRG. This is yet another example of IGPC's breach of the PCRA. Despite being 

in a position to terminate service, NRG has continued to provide service to IGPC continuously 

since the agreed in-service date of July 15, except where specifically directed by IGPC not to 

deliver gas. 



(g) IGPC's Refusal to Pay NRG's Invoice 

122. On January 2, 2008, NRG forwarded its invoice (Appendix N) to IGPC for payment in 

accordance with the PCRA. Under the PCRA, IGPC is required to pay NRG for all its 

"reasonable internal, consulting and third party expenses incurred", which explicitly includes 

"consultant, legal, construction and commission" costs. 

123. The fees covered by the invoice included reasonable legal fees paid by NRG to 

Lenczner Slaght and Ogilvy Renault, as well as consulting fees necessary to protect its NRG 

stakeholders and to enter into appropriate subcontracts. IGPC rejected this invoice and 

complained about every aspect of it, including that the legal bills were "not executed". IGPC's 

refusal to pay what it has committed to paying is further evidence of the fi-ustrations NRG is 

encountering at every turn, making it difficult to justify continuing with the process. It also 

forces NRG to question whether IGPC is truly committed to adhering to the PCRA. 

124. By letter dated February 22, 2008 (Appendix 0), NRG responded fully to IGPC's 

concern about the NRG invoice of January 2. 

NRG has now had an opportunity to fillly review your letter of January 9, 
2008. I will respond to your comments in the order raised in your letter. 

You assert that the invoices of Lenczner Slaght LLP and Ogilvy Renault 
"are not executed". Attached are copies of the signed invoices from 
Lenczner Slaght LLP and signed cover letters from Ogilvy Renault. 
These invoices were rendered to NRC; by its solicitors, for work done in 
connection with the IGPC pipeline project. Whether or not IGPC has 
paid the amounts invoiced, NRG is liable to pay those amounts. In any 
event, NRG has paid in full the invoices of Lenczner Slaght and Ogilvy 
Renault in full. 

You criticized the invoices because they "do not attempt to characterize 
the nature of the amounts" claimed. The legal work done is plainly 
stated in the detailed time dockets set out in each of the solicitors' 
invoices. All of the work done by the solicitors was done solely in 
connection with the IGPC pipeline project. This is clear on the face of 
the invoices. There is no need to further characterize anything. The 
work done was "work required to plan, design, construct, install, test and 
commission the Utility connection facilities." 

Section 3.3(b) of the Pipeline Cost Recovery Agreement dated 
January 31, 2007 ("PCRA") requires that IGPC will pay NRG "for 
reasonable internal, consulting ancl third party expenses incurred in 
the prior calendar month within fifteen (15) Business Days of receiving 
such invoice". Paragraph 3.4(b) of the PCW, confirms that those costs 



include, but are not limited to, "overhead, engineering, surveying, 
consultant, legal, major materials (pipe, metres, major equipment, 
heating equipment costs), easement, internal and external construction 
and commission and costs". 

IGPC is liable to pay the costs incurred by NRG pursuant to the PCRA. 

Previous invoices rendered by NRG have been paid. NRG followed 
exactly the same process as it has fur previous invoices, by providing 
you with copies of the invoices for costs incurred by third party advisors 
or contractors. They are all reasonable costs payable under the PCRA. 
IGPC's failure to pay those costs is a breach of its obligations owed to 
NRG under the PCRA. 

The fees and expenses incurred for work done by Lenczner Slaght LLP 
relate to legal work, legal services and other strategic and project 
management advice rendered to NRG solel) in connection with the 
construction of the IGPC pipeline. All of the services provided by 
Lenczner Slaght LLP to NRG were related to "pipeline work". IGPC is 
required to pay NRG all of its costs associated with the IGPC pipeline 
construction project. 

The fees and expenses incurred for work done by Ogilvy Renault LLP 
for NRG are required to be paid in full by IGPC under the PCRA. Since 
the commencement of this project, NRG has billed IGPC for its 
reasonable costs incurred in connec1,ion with the construction of the 
IGPC Pipeline. Paragraph 3.3(b) of the PCRA specifically provides that 
IGPC is required to pay NRG "for reasonable internal, consulting and 
third party expenses". The amounts invoiced by NRG are reasonable, 
internal expenses which IGPC is required to pay. The hourly rate 
charged by NRG of $295 per hour is less than the fees charged by most 
of the third party contractors to NRG for which NRG has paid and is 
required to be paid under the PCRA. 

IGPC appears to be incapable of complying with its financial obligations. 
It has repeatedly demonstrated either a lack of financial capacity or a 
simple unwillingness to comply with its obligations to advance funds to 
NRG or to third party contractors to NRG for the purchase of raw 
materials and services required to ensure the pipeline project proceeds on 
a timely basis. 

These delays have been caused by its lenders, who apparently are 
unwilling to allow IGPC to pay amounts it is specifically obligated to 
pay under the PCRA, within the time required for payment. These are 
issues between IGPC and its lenders. They in no way mitigate or limit 
IGPC's obligation to NRG. In any event, the suggestion that the delays 
were caused by NRG's conduct is simply false. 



For example, IGPC has failed to pay amounts owing to Union Gas under 
the Aid-to-Construct provisions. In order to assist IGPC, NRG has 
obtained several extensions to the deadlines imposed by Union Gas. Yet 
IGPC refuses to pay the amounts owing and instead chooses to let 
deadline after deadline lapse. 

Similarly, NRG has obtained extensions for IGPC to pay amounts owing 
to Lakeside Controls. However, for no good reason, IGPC has again 
refused to pay the amounts owing to Lakeside Controls when required. 
By its refusal to pay, IGPC has caused a delay in the delivery by 
Lakeside Controls of components required to complete the pipeline. 

Whether this is caused by IGPC's management, or its lender's refusal to 
authorize the release of funds, it is jn no way caused by any act or 
omission of NRG. NRG is not responsible for IGPC's financial inability 
or refusal to pay amounts that IGPC is required to pay under the PCRA. 

IGPC's conduct suggests that it does not have the financial resources to 
complete the project. Certainly its recent conduct suggest that it is either 
unwilling or unable to pay amounts due and owing when required to 
ensure the construction projects proceeds along the timelines required. 

IGPC's inability to obtain the finance required to complete the pipeline 
construction project, or even to ensure that it proceeds along the 
timelines agreed to in the PCRA, is solely the responsibility of IGPC. 
NRG has no responsibility for IGPC's inability to obtain the financing 
required to complete the project, or its refusal to pay amounts payable to 
NRG under the PCRA on a timely bas ~ s .  

(h) Final Accounting 

125. Final Accounting cannot be completed until such time as the custody transfer station has 

been completed and NRG has received copies o f  all invoices for services paid b y  IGPC on behalf 

of NRG.  It was only necessary for services to be paid for by IGPC on behalf of NRG because o f  

IGPC's inability or unwillingness to provide NRG with the required aid-to-construct funds. 

Otherwise, NRG would have paid for the services itself. 

(i) Delay / Moving; Forward 

126. IGPC was in breach of the PCRA frorn October 2007 to April 2008. Despite this 

continuing failure, NGR did everything possible to continue with the project, and ensured that 

the project could proceed. By letter dated February 22, 2008 (Appendix P), NRG described the 

continuing and deliberate breaches of the PCRA by IGPC: 



"IGPC has absolutely failed to comply with its obligations under Article 
7.1 and, as a result, IGPC is in breach of the PCRA. Moreover, IGPC's 
failure to comply with Article 7.1 has caused delays with construction, 
and may cause additional delays in the future. For example, despite 
repeated warnings, IGPC has not provided the letter of credit to NRG, so 
that NRG can order components and materials from Lakeside Process 
Controls Ltd. ("Lakeside") for the stations, and has failed to pay 
Lakeside directly the amounts recuired by Lakeside to deliver 
components and materials in time to allow construction to proceed in a 
timely manner. 

As you know, under Section 3.7 of the PCRA, given IGPC's failure to 
make payments required and failure to provide the letter of credit 
required under Section 7.1, NRG has the right to elect not to proceed 
further with any of its obligations under the PCRA. Moreover, if NRG 
elects to exercise this right, the PCFL4 expressly provides that NRG 
"shall not be liable for any liabilities, damages, losses, payments, costs or 
expense that may be incurred by [IGPC'] as a result". 

To date, NRG has been proceeding with its obligations under the PCRA 
and moving forward with construction, despite IGPC's failure to comply 
with its obligations under the PCRA.. NRG is doing so in order to 
cooperate with IGPC and move the project forward as fast as possible. 
I-Iowever, NRG has obligations to all of its stakeholders and ratepayers 
and cannot continue with this prccess indefinitely, given IGPC's 
continuing and deliberate failures to comply with its obligations under 
the PCRA." 

127. The Pipeline was completed by NRG as agreed by July 3,2008. 

(j) IGPC Fails to Complete Construction bv the Agreed Date 

128. Throughout the design and tendering stages, IGPC repeatedly alleged that NRG was 

incapable of completing the project on time. As a result, at the February 28, 2008 hearing, IGPC 

demanded that NRG commit to a fixed date for the completion of the Pipeline. NRG was willing 

to do so, provided that IGPC commit to a fixed c.ate to complete its ethanol facility, or agree to 

pay for the delivery of gas commencing on the fixed date. IGPC agreed. 

129. Accordingly, NRG and IGPC agreed at the February 28, 2008 hearing that the in-service 

date would be July 15, 2008. Based on that agreement, IGPC was required to commence making 

payments to NRG for gas on July 15, 2008 whether or not IGPC had completed its ethanol 

facility. 

130. NRG demanded a commitment to a fixed in-service date, because NRG was very 

coilcerned based on IGPC's past defaults, delays and failures that IGPC would not complete its 



ethanol facility by the agreed date. NRG woulc. then be in the position of having incurred 

unnecessary costs to ensure completion by a specific date, only to face a loss of revenue due to 

IGPC's failure to complete the ethanol facility by that same date. 

1 3 1. NRG completed and commissioned the Pipeline on July 3, 2008, well before the agreed 

in-service date of July 15, 2008. By contrast, IGPC failed to complete the construction and 

commissioning of its ethanol facility by July 15, 2008. 

132. Pursuant to the agreement, NRG delivered an invoice to IGPC for the minimum quantity 

of natural gas commencing on July 15,2008. 

133. IGPC's liability to pay for the minimum quantity of natural gas commencing on the in- 

service date was caused solely by IGPC's inability to complete the construction and 

commissioning of its own ethanol facility in a tiinely and competent manner, and by July 15, 

2008. 

134. IGPC seems to expect NRG and ultimately NRG's ratepayers to pay for its own lack of 

adequate financing, construction mismanagement, and commissioning failures. NRG was 

simply trying to ensure that the interests of all o f  its ratepayers are protected by insuring that 

NRG did not suffer a revenue shortfall due to IGPC's conduct. 

(k) Storage Charve for Excess Pipe 

135. Communications have been going back and forth for some time to arrange for delivery of 

the anodes and samples pipe to IGPC. It is NRG's understanding that this will occur on October 

21, 2008. IGPC does not have the capacity to S c k  up the pipe and is arranging for NRG to 

deliver the pipe. 
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CANWEST LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
(FORMERLY "CAN WEST MEDIAWORKS LIMITED PARTNERSHIP") 

INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED 

MAY 31,2008 AND MAY 31,2007 
(UNAUDITED) 



8. LONG TERM DEBT 

As at As at 
May 31,2008 August 31,2007 

Senior Secured Credit ~acilities ('I (=-9 841,170 
Senior Subordinated Unsecured notes 422,480 
Senior Subordinated Unsecured Credit Facility 74,132 75,000 

1,264,160 1,338,650 
Effect of foreign currency swap 
Long term debt 
Less portion due within one year 
Long term portion 

The terms and conditions of the long term debt are the same as disclosed in the August 31, 2007 
consolidated financial statements. 

As described in note 3, the Limited Partnership has included debt issuance costs in the initial fair value 
of the related long term debt. Accordingly, as at September 1, 2007, long term debt was decreased by 
$20.0 million. 

(1) As at May 31, 2008, the Limited Partnership had drawn $87.0 million (August 31, 2007 - $85.0 million) on its 
revolver and had available $161.4 million (August 31, 2007 - $164.4 million), net of letters of credit of $7.6 
million (August 31, 2007 - $0.6 million). This facility matures on July 13, 2012 and is subject to certain 
restrictions. 

Under its Senior Secured Credit Facilities, the Limited Partnership is required to maintain a fair value of 
interest rate swaps below a prescribed threshold of $250 million. 

As at May 31, 2008, unamortized debt issuance costs of $18.3 million (net of accumulated amortization 
of $2.0 million) are included in long-term debt. 

The Senior Secured Credit Facilities noted above are secured by substantially all of the Limited 
Partnership's directly held assets including the assets of the Limited Partnership, Canwest (Canada) Inc. 
and Canwest Publishing Inc. I 
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8 
NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

SECURITY DEPOSIT CALCULATION (NEW GAS APPLICATIONSI 

When a new customer walks through the door and applies for a new gas 
hookup, the customer's information is given t o  the Credit/Collections 
Department. Once approval from the customer to  pull a credit report is 
obtained via signature, a credit report is pulled and reviewed. 

If the customer's credit report shows that they have a Credit Beacon Score o f  
over 680 and a Credit Utilization Score under 5O0/0, then Natural Resource 
Gas Limited can waive the securlty deposit entirely. 

New customers coming in t o  hook up existing gas accounts for gas service - 

Calculate the security deposit based on 2.5 times the average of  the 3 
highest months o f  MCF consumption of the address that the customer is 
applying for gas. The receptionist will then inform the customer as t o  how 
much the security deposit will be based on the calculation above or i f  it is 
waived if the customer's meet the above criteria. 

SECURITY DEPOSIT REVIEWS ON ANNIVERSARY OF ACCOUNTS 

I n  reviewing security deposits, we require our customer's t o  meet the 
following requirements: 

l . ) I f  the customer's payment history has no late payments within 12 
months= 50% security deposit refund. 

2.) If the customer's payment history has no late payments within 24 
months= 100% security deposit refund. 

3.) If the customer has a disconnection notice within either timeframe, or 
a late payment, than OO/o o f  the security deposit will be returned. The 
customer must then have a full 12  months o f  clean payment history in 
order t o  qualify for the 50% refund. 

NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED ! P.0 Box 307, Aylrner, Ontario N5H 2S1 Tsl. 519-773-5321 Fax. 519-773-5335 



, / NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED FT 
RESIDENT= SECURIN DEPOSIT CONTRACT 

5 rk? W h  XI ? 
Thank you for choosing natural gas as your energy source! NRG takes great pride in being a financially 
responsible provider of natural gas In our community. Protection of rates and costs associated with 
servicing our community are our number one priority. As such, the introduction of security deposits is a 
necessary step to try to protect both NRG & our gas customers from increased rates resulting from non 
pavins customers. 

Security Deposlts are mt a o r e ~ a m e n t  o f  g ~ .  

When do Securitv Deposits qpplyZ 
Securlty deposits are requested for all new customers - both commercial & residential. The amount of the 
deposit is determlned based on usage history applicable to the specific address in whlch gas service is 
installed or will be installed. The security deposit can be held lndeflnitely with interest paid annually as a 
credlt right on your October statement! Accounts with poor payment history with NRG will likely require a 
security deposit prior to the continuation of service. 

How do  I a m  
Requests for a refund of security deposits can be made after 1 year of servlce for residential accounts and 
3 years for commercial accounts and must be made in wrltlng to our credit department. Your letter must 
iaclude your address, account number and stating you are applying to have your Securlty Deposit 
refl~nded. Please include a copy of your original receipt. Our Credit Department can be contacted: 

Fax 519-773-5335 
Email m i t d e ~ t @ n r a a s . o n , c a  
Mail 3 9  Beech Street, PO Box 307, Aylmer, ON N5H 251 

Once received, a thorough examination of the following criteria will be performed and a decision made. 

1.) I f  the customer's payment history has no late payments within 12 months= 50% security deposlt 
refund. 

2.) I f  the customer's payment history has no late payments within 24 months= 100% security 
deposit refund. 

3.) I f  the customer has a disconnection notice within either timefrarne, or a late payment, than 0% 
of the security deposit will be returned. The customer must then have a full 12 months of clean 
payment history in order to qualify for the 50% refund. 

Y3u will be notified in writing of our decision and at the discretion of NRG, a portion of your deposit, in 
whole or in part, will be returned to you. Interest accrued (1% per year) will be applied directly to your 
account every October. I f  pre-authorized chequing is setup on your account, you cannot cancel the pre- 
authorized chequing for 2 years. 

NRG believes that the security deposit program Is in the best interests of all our natural gas customer's. 
These deposits are not a ore-~avment of gas, and are intended as an industw accepted best practice to 
help manage natural gas rates for our customers. 

Please be advised that any future communications should be in writing. 

I f  you have any questions, please feel free to send via mail address below, or via email at 
creditdeotQnraas.cn.ca. 

Thank You, 

Natural Resource Gas Limited 
Credit Department 

Customer's Name (Printed): 

Customer's Signature: Date: 

NRG Representative: Date: 

NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED P.O. Box 307, Aylmer, Ontario N5H 2S1 Tel 519-773-5321 Fax. 519-773-5335 
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4. Your Account 

4.1 Establishing an Account 

Union Gas may, at its discretion, accept a request for delivery of gas to a premise. 

Once you request delivery of gas to your premise, you are in contract w ith us, and it will be 
continued in full force and effect until delivery is discontlnued. You agree to pay for servlces 
provided. You shall be Ilable for all gas supplied to the premises and safe custody of our 
property. 

There will be a charge for establishing your account and related activities. 

4.2 Security Deposits 

If you are a new customer or if future payment cannot be assured, you are required to 
provide a security deposit. 

Residential Customers - The deposit wll be at a mlnimum equal to an estimate of the 
two highest months' consumption to a maximum of three highest months' 
consumption. Deposits may be refunded, at the option of the Company, to 
customers who have exhibited financial stability by keeping their account paid i n  full 
and whose deposits have been held for the mlnlmum period of one year. Security 
deposits are not consl dered to be advance payments. 

Non-Residential Customers - A security deposit will be required unless you meet the 
waiver criteria. The deposit amount will be the minimum of the two highest 
consecutive months' consumption In the past 24 months to a maxlmum of tha three 
highest consecutlve months' consumption. It will he returned after five years of 
exhlbltlng financial stability. Security deposits are not considered to be advance 
payments. 

Acceptable types of security deposits are as follows: 

Cash (including money orders, certified cheques 

Letter of Guarantee (a guarantee of customer payment by a financial Institution). 

If you do not provide a requested securlty deposit, delivery of gas to you will be 
discontinued. Re-establishing gas delivery to you will require payment of a tum-on charge. 
Ihe security deposit and all arrears. 

All cash deposits earn simple Interest based on the current bank savings rate. The interest 
is calculated monthly. 

If you discontinue delivery of gas and all your accounts have been paid in full, any 
remaining deposit will be returned to you. 

Gas Service R u k  and Re(julrUons 
pogo 18 



Security Deposits 

1-0 ~Protcc: against losscs, Enb;id;lc rcscrves the right to request a security deposit from: 

0 New residential cust3mc:s 
Existing customers with a poor record of paylng gas bills. 
For moving customers with acco~rnts in goad standings there is no security deposit required. 

tJo;c All :har(jes, monrr.:). or one. timc, arc subject to G57 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 
Supporting Your Natural GasJifestvle- v r ~ v & G ~  ded 

CODE INFRACTIONS wT mw@ m m  
1) Administration Building 

SLAP .ye&/& 
JIM smrd )Nrz6 

4.2.1 - Shut-Off valves not approved for gas service J ~ I L  H W - ~  h/& 
4.5.3 - Furnace converted to Natural Gas using approved conversion kit 

6.1 7.1 - Pipe identification 

4.7.1 - OnIOff switch to be installed in Mechanical Room for furnace 
- Furnace to be vented as per Manufacturer's instructions 
- Regulator vents require 90 degree elbows to turn down 

2) Energy Centre 

6.1 7.2 - Piping identity for pressures over 14" W.C. 

4.2.1 - Driers and Thermal Oxidizer not approved for use in Canada 

3) Process Building 

- Carrier furnaces require %"/Ft slope back to furnace as per 
Manufacturer's instructions 

- Water Heater Power Ventor not interlocked with Draft Damper and Water 
Heater 

4.2.1 - Shut-Off valves not approved 

- Regulator Vents require 90 degree elbows and screens to turn down 

4) Flare Stack 

4.2.1 - Unit not approved 

- Vent on Regulator requires 90 degree elbow to turn down vent screens 

- T-Stats for Unit Heaters is 24 Volts or 11 0 Volts 
Control wiring in same conduit as power wires 

Signature: 
I' 

August 26, 2008 

NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 1 P.O. Box 307, Aylrner, Ontario N5H 2S1 1 Tel. 519-773-5321 1 Fax. 519-773-5335 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LJMITED 

THE APPLIANCE AND/OR PIPING IS UNSAWE - 

L A  the appliance has be+n disconnected or the meter lockad off for the ~CJISOIU listed below 
- 

THE APPLIANCE AND/OR PIPING IS SAFE AT THIS TIME - 
- B however corrections are required for your protection and to comply with Clovemat Regulations. The correctione 

listed below must be completed within days, or the Oas Supply will be discomected. 

Owner Repritcd By Certifimte No. 

Tern 

NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

THE APPLIANCE AND/OR PIPING IS UNSAFE - 

- A the appliance has been disconnected or the meter locked off for the reasons listed below 

I THE APPLIANCE AND/OR PIPING IS SAFE AT TftIS TIME - 
d B  - however comctions are required for your protection and to comply with Clovemmmt Regulations. The corrections 

listed below must be completed within 30 days, or the C3as Supply will be disconnected: 

'3 4 

i 
-<,;, : t ,  ..*,.,. . , , . . . .  1 . -  

...... Owner Roprimd By Certificate No. 
.. ,. 

Telvat d 
I -, , 

'0 ? 



--*?.-,--+. *.: ..., - ... - %- " .r.r,ny -<"-- ?... ..-,.- . -,.- - ..?. - .--,.T,...-- an. '. ' ...,, ....,. :,- - -  ..:.:.,- . r  .. +.-... . ,>,, ;,. ... ~ "*, >-,.-.. ~ ,,:**, ,,,,,.,+ . ,, , , , , 

Cj 
NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Phone# Apt.lSuito 
Floor 

' Addre81 - J-- 9 - 088  k ; e f i v  Meter No. 

f.fl06AF55 '2 - - Off 
Conlnctor'8 Name PhoocX Pittor Name Csaificrk No. 

I 

11 Company Rep. Ti 

/ 

THE APKIANCE AND/OR PIPING IS UNSAFE - 
A the appliqce bas hem di~conncc&d n the meter locked off for the reasons listed blow - 

THE APPLIANCE ANDlOR PIPING IS SAFE AT THIS TIME - 
- B however comctiona are required for your protection and to comply with Oovemmtnt Regulations. The corrections 

listed below must be complebd within days, or the Gas Supply will be disconnected. 
/ ,  p7 4' DEFICIENCIES: lm5g 3/,;7, / L ~ W C  ~c3.4 

,- 
& ~ r  di f i  555 (A-,&. 

/ ' 

l A - the appliance has been ~isumnccted or the meter locked off for the mamas listed below 

THE APPLIANCE ANDlOR PIPING IS SAFE AT THIS TIME - 
- B however corrections are required for your protection and to comply with Oovemmeut Regulations. m e  corrections 

listed below must be completed within days, or the Oaa Supply will be disumnected. 

Cetti601te No. Owner 

Tervllr 

I i .d 

Rcprired By 
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This PIPELINE COST RECOVERY AGREEMENT ("Agreement"), made as of the 3 1st day 
of January, 2007. 238 
BETWEEN: 

NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMTED, A(? 
a corporation formed under the laws of Ontario. 

(the Wtilitf') - and - 
JNTEGRATED GRAIN PROCESSORS CO-OPERATIVE INC., 

a w-operative corporation formed under the laws of Ontario. 
(the "&toma") 

(wlIectiveIy the c'Far&ies'') 

WHEREAS the Customer is developing an ethanol facility (the "Cnsbmer Facility") in the 
Town of Aylmer, Ontario; 

AND WHEREAS the Utility must expand its current natural gas distribution iniktmcture to 
deliver natural gas to the Customer Facility to meet the volume, pressure and delivery 
requirements of the Customer; 

AM3 WHEREAS the Utility has a franchise agreement to distribute natural gas in the Town of 
Ayher; 

AND WHEREAS the Utility has entered or will enter into an agreement with Union Gas 
Limited to install new Eacilities or modify existing facilities to supply the Utility with natural g&, 
such that Union Gas Limited will be capable of meeting the total supply reqnirementa of the 
Utiii ty, including the supply needs of the Customer; 

AND WHEREAS the Utility aTid Union Gas Limited have reached an understanding iegarding 
the Utility Connection Facilities crossing the Union Gas Limited k c h i s e  area; 

AND WHEREAS the Customer has paid to the Utility a deposit of $130,000.00 against any 
Aid-to-Construct that may be owed to the Utility; 

AND WHEREAS the Utility and the Customer have entered into an apcmcnt dated January 
31, 2007, as the same may be amended, modified, supplementd or restated (the "Gas Delivery 
Contractv') providing for the Utility to deliver natural gas to the Customer Facility, among other 
things; 

AND WHEREAS the Customer, or its representative, will be purchasing the Customer's gas 
directly and arranging for transportation,-and the Utility and the Customer will enter into a - 
Bundled T-Service Receipt Contract; 
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AND WHEREAS the UtiIity has determined that approximately 28.53km of NPS 6 steel 
pipeline and related facilities are required to be installed to deliver natural gas to the Customer 
Faciliv, 

A.ND WHEREAS the Customer has requested and the Utility has agreed to construct 
approximately 28.53km of NPS 6 steel pipeline and related facifities (the 'Wtility Co~ection 
Facilities") and to arrange with Union Gas Limited for tbe constn~don by Union for facilities . 
required to complete the comedion betwemi the Utility Connection Facilities and tbe Union Gas 
Limited system (tbe "Union Gas Connection Facilities"), to deliver natural gas from the Union 
Gas Limited system to the Customer Facility, on the tcnns and conditions set forth in this 
Agreemeat; and 

IN CONSIDEMTION of the mutuaI covenants contained herein, the receipt and sufficiency of 
which is hereby acknowledged and accepted, the Partla to this Agreement agree as follows: 

- - 

ARTICLE I - ATlrACFfMENTS AMD INTERPRETATION 

1.1 The Following are hereby incorporated into and form part of this Agreement 

(a) Schedule A - Pipeline Work 

(b) Schedule B - Project Map 

12 For the purpose of this Agreement: 

(a) " A c W  Aid-To-Construct" meas the Aid-To-Construct calnrlatcd by the Utility 
using the Actual Capital Cost, as provided for in Article IQ 

(b) "Actual Capital Cost" means the reasonable actnal Capiial Cost, as provided for 
in ~rt ic l t  rn; 

(c) "Aecon" means Aecon Utilities - A Division of Aecon Constrnction he., or any 
successor thereto; 

(d) "Aid-to-Constructn rntans the amount by wbich the Capital Cost exceeds the 
revenue recovered by the Utility through rates, as calculated in accordance with 
EBO 188; 

(e) "Applicable Law" means dl federal, provincial, county, municipal or local laws, 
by-laws, statutes, rules, regulations ordinances, djrectives, or ,any decisions of a 
Governmentd Authority. 

(f) "Business Day" means a day, other than a Saturday or Sunday or statutory holiday 
in the Province of Ontario or any other day on which banking institutions in - 
Ontario are not open for the transaction of business; 
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(g) "Capital Cost" means the total capital cost of &he Utility Connedtion Facilities and 
the Union Gas Aid-to-Constnrct; 

) "Construction" means construction and installation of the Utility Connection 
Facilities; 

( i )  "Construction Agreement" means the agreement between the Utility and a 
contractor for the completion of the Constructian; 

(j) "Cubic rnetmn or "mh' means the volume of gas which st a temperature of I5 
degrees Celsius and at an absolute pressure of 101.325 kiIopaslcals ("Wa") 
occapics one cubic metre; 

Q "Customer Facility" m e m  the ethanol facility proposed to be built and operated 
by the Customer in the Town of Aylmer with .au output capacity of appmximately 
150 million litres of ethanol annually; 

@ "Customer Meter Fadlit>" means the Utility's equipment to measure the gas 
consumed by the Customer, located at the Customer Facility, and includes but is 
not limited to aLl meters, pressure regdatoxx, valves, fittings and communications 
equipment, md fonns part of fhe Utility Connection Facilities; 

(m) "EBO 188" means the Final Report of the Board, dated. January 30, 1998 
regarding the economic evaluation of the expansion of n a m d  gas systems; 

(n) "Event of ~efaalt"'means either a Customer Event of Default or a Utility  vat of 
Default; 

(o) "Governmental Authority" means any federal, provincial, municipal or local 
government, parliament or legislature, or my regulatory authority, agency or 
t r iba l ,  commission, board or department of any such government, parliament or 
legislature or any court'or other law, regulation or rule-making entity having 
jurisdiction in the reIevant circumsmces; 

@) "GST' means the goods and service tPlli exigible pursuant to the Excise Tax Act 
(Canada) as mended b m  time to time; 

(q) "Jnitial Estimated Aid-To-Comtruct" m&s the Aid-To-Construct caIcuIated in 
accordance with EBO 188 using the Jnitial Estimated Capital Cost; 

' (r) "Initial Estimated Capital Cost" means the estimated Capital Cost provided by 
Aecon,~incIuding the Union Gas Aid-to-Construe 

(s) 'In-Service date. means the later of November 1,2007 and the date on which thc 
pipeline is able to deliver the full amount of the gas contemplated by the Gas 
Delivery Contrw 

(t) "Insolvency Legislation" means the B c z n h p i ~ y  md Imohrency Act (Canada), the , 
Winding Up and Re~truchving A d  (Canada) and the Companies' Creditors 
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@) it has all the necessary corporate power, authority and capacity to enter into this 
Agreement and tb perform its obligations under it; 

(c) the execution, delivery and performance of the Agreement by it has been duly 
authorized by all necessary corporate action and does not result'in a violation, a 
breach or a default under. (i) its charter or by-laws; (ii) any contracts or 
instruments to which it is bound; or (iiiJ any Applicable Law, 

(d) any individual executing this Agreement, and any document in crnlncction 
herewith, on its behalf has been duly authorized by it to execute this Agreement 
and hasthe full power and authority to bind it; 

(e) this Agreement constitutes a legal and binding obligation on it, enforceable 
against it in accordance with its terms; and, 

(I) no proceedings have been instituted by or &st it with y p &  to bankruptcy, 
insolvency, liquidation or dissolution. 

The Utility represents and w m t s  to the Customer that: 

(a) it is duly ihcarporated, fumed or registered (as applicable) under the laws of its 
jurisdiction of incorporation, fomtim or registration (as applicable); 

@) it bas d the necessary corporate power, authority and capacity to enter .into this 
Agreement and to perf- its obligations under it; 

(c) the execution, del ivv and performance of this Agreement by it has been duly 
authorized by all necessary coqxmte action and' does not m I t  in a violkion, a 
breach or a dehlt qnder: (0 its charter or by-laws; (ii) any contracts. or 
instnunents to which it is bound; or (iii) any Applicable Law; 

(6) any individual executing this Agreement, and any document in connection 
herewith, on its .behalf has been duly authorized by it to execute this Agreement 
and has the full power and authority to bind it; 

(c) this Agreement constitutes a legal and binding obligation on it, enforceable 
against it in accordance with its terms; .. 

(0 no pmceedin~ have been instituted by or against it with respect to b a h p t c y ,  
insolvency, liquidation or dissolution; and, 

(g) the calculation of the Initial Estimated Aid-To-Construct has been completed in 
accordsnce with EBO 188. 
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ARTICLE III - CAPITAL COST AND AID-TO-CONSTRUCT 

3.1 The Initial Estimated Capital Cost is estimated at $9,100,000.00, comprised of 
approximately $8,920,000.00 for the Utility Connection Facilities and $180,000.00 for 
the Union Gas Aid-To-Construct, The Initial Rstimated Capital Cost is included in the 
Leave-to-Construct application fded by the Utility with the OEB. 

3 2  Based upon the Initial Estimated Capital Cost and applying the Utility's c m t  OEB- 
approved Rate 3 to a minimum annual volume of 33,416,618 m3 and a firm ~ntract 
demand of 108,188 m3/day over a seven year period, the Initial Estimated Aid-to- 
Construct is $3,790,000.00, to be paid by the Customer. 

3.3 l$e Customer shall make payments toward the Initial Estimated Aid-to-Construct, as 
follows: 

(a) $130,000.00 on or before October 1 4  2006, payment of which has been received 
and acknowledg&, 

(b) Prior to the award of the Construction Agreement, the amount of the monthly 
invoices provided by the Utility for reasonable internal, oonsnlting and third party 
expenses incurred in the prior calendar month within fifteen (15) Business Days 
of receiving such invoice; and 

(c) Paymenf in advance as required by the Utility, of an amount equal to any 
required payment, to be .made by Utility for procuring tht station mama1 and 
pipe; 

the total of which payments shall not exceed the Initial Estimated Aid-to-Construct. 

3.4 Prior to the execution of the Constmdion Agreement, the Utility shall provide 'the 
Customer with a Revised Estimated Capital Cost and a Revised E-td Aid-to- 
Construct, based on the most 'current i n f o d o n  available at the time, including the 
successful bid for the Construction Ageernen: calculated in accordance with.EB0 188, 
and: 

(a) The Customer &a11 pay tht Utility an iimotmt equal to the amount, if m y ,  by 
which the Revised Aid-To-Construct exceeds the totaI of all payments made by 
the Customer to the Utility mder Section 3.3. In the event that the am& paid 
by the Customer pursuant to Section 3.3 exceeds the Revised Estimated Aid-To- 
Construct then the Utility shdl forthwith pay to Customer an amount equal to the 
payments made less the Revised Estimated ~ih-~o-~omtruct ;  and 

(b) The Utility shall provide the Customer with a detailed writ& breakdown of the 
Revised Estimated Capital Cost including, but not limited to Overhead, 
engineering, surveying, ccmsultanf legal, major materials (pipe, metas, major: 
equipment, heating equipment costs), easement, internal and e x t d  constmction 
and commissioning costs when it is available to the Utility and a copy of the cost 
breakdown for the Union Gas Connection Facilities as provided to the Utility by1 
Union Gas Limited. 



3.5 Tn the event that the Commacement Date undei the Gas Delivery Contract is later than 
the InSuvice Date, the Utility shall invoice and the Customer shall pay an amount equal 
to the Utility's reasonable debt financing costs incurred in each month between the In- 
Senice Date and the Commencement Date under the Gas Delivery Contract. 

3.6 ?he contingency amount to be included in the Revised Estimated Capital Cost shall be 
limited to a maximum of ten percent of the Construction Agreement cost. 

3.7 The Utility, in its sole discretion, may elect not to p r o d  any further with any of its 
obligations under this Agreement if the Customer fails to make any payment or provide 
any letter of credit required under this agreement until such payment or letter of credit is 
delivered by the Customer to the Utility and the Utility shall not be liable for any 
liabilities, damages, losses, payments, costs, or expense that may be incurred by tfie 
Customer as a result. 

3.8 From the date required for any payment required by this Agreement, all ua&d amounts 
will bear interest at the rate of the Prime Rate plus 1 .W?4 per annum payable quarterly on 
the last day of each calendar quarter. 

3.9 The Utility shall use bat efforts to minimhe the actual Capital Cost, and shall advise the 
Customer of actual costs as bcwed, in accordance with Article N. At a minimum, the 
Utility shall amre the award of the Construction Agrewzent is completed through a 
competitive tender process d e s s  otherwise agreed to in writing by the Customer. 'The 
Utility shaIl ensure that the procurement of pipe, major equipment and appliance's is done 
us& a competitive quotation prows  wherever possible. The Utiity shall inform the 
Customer where a competitive prw;ess is not utilizcd and provide an explanation as to 
why a competitive process is not rcQuired Prim to committing to any expenditure in 
excess of S100,000.00, the Utility shall obtain the written consent of the Customer, such 
consent not to be unreasonably withheld 

3.10 Ihe Utility shall request Union Gas Limited to provide it with the aCtual capital wst, of 
the Unidn Gas Connection Facilities and the actual Union Gas Aid-to-Construct within 
30 Business Days or other mutually agreeable t i m e b e  of the pipeline being put into 
s d c e .  

3.1 1 The Customer and the Utility acknowledge that the W a l  Estimated Capital Cost and the 
Revised Estimated Capita1 Cost may be different fiom the Actual Capital Cost incurred 
md the parties agree that the Actual Aid-to-Construct and Delivery Letter of Credit '(as 
defined m Article VTI) shall be adjusted based on an economic evaluation canied out m 

. accordance with EBO 188. 

3.12 The Customdr reserves its rights to dispute the reasonableness of costs incurred in 
cornpIeting the Pipeline Work, provided that the Customer does so within 5 Business 
Days when such costs are provided by the Utility to the Customer. 

3.13 Within forty-five (45) Business Days or some other mutually agreeable timeframe of the 
pipeline being put into senice, the Utility shall provide the Customer with the Actual 
Capital Cast y ~ d  Actual ~id-~o!~onstruct, along with a sununary of the information' 
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provided p u r m t  to Section 4.3 and copies of any invoices and supporting 
documentation not previously provided to Customer. If the Customer agrees with the 
Actual Capital Cost and Actual Aid-To-Construct, and 

(a) if the Actual Aid-To-Construct is greater than the Revised Estimated Aid-To- . 
Construct, then the Customer shall pay to the Utility the difference between the 
Actual Aid-TdJonstruct and the Revised Aid-To-Construct within five (5) 
Business Days; and 

(b) if the Revised Estimated Aid-To-Construct exceeds the Actual Aid-To-Construct 
then the Utility shall pay to the Customer the difference between fhe Actual Aid- 
To-Combvct and the Revised Aid-To-Construct within five (5) Business Days. 

3.14 If the Customer does not agree with the Actual Capital Cost and Actual Aid-To- 
. Construct, the P d e s  shall negotiate in good l5th.f~ a pdod  of 20 Bushes6 days to 

establish ao Actual Capital Cost. If the Parties are unable to agree.after such negotiations 
then either party may refer the mattta to the OEB for res01ution. In detamhii  
reasonable costs attributable to the Capital Cost, the following considerations will be 
taken into account: 

(a) Legal costs will include the reasonable legal costs of the Utifity to establish gas 
diskbution service for the Customer, including the riasonable legal cost to 
prepare and obtain the Leave to Construct from the OEB; quire  any temporary 
or permanent land rights required to complete the Pipeline Work; review any 
procurement or tendere  documentation, and draA and negotiate this Agreement 
and any other agreement required to pmvidc gas distribution service to the 
Customer, 

(b) Consultant costs will include the reasonable cost of consuitants incnmd by the 
Uhyity to provide gas distriiution service to the Customer, including the 
reasonable cost to coplplete the economic analysis to &mine the Initial 
Estimated Aid-to-Camtmct, the Revised Estimated Aid-to-Construct and the 
Actual Aid-tw.Construct; to wrry out title wakhes to identify adjacent 
landowners and others with interests in adjacent lands that may be impacted by . 
the Utility C~nnection Facilities; and the estimated cost of a Sweyor  in the 
amount of $52,400, 

(c) The Capital Cost will hclude the cost of services provided to the Utility by A&n 
J and any subcontractors to Aecon, to complett the design -of the Utility 

Connection FaciIities, obtain all permits and approvals, ,prepare and complete the 
request for quotation documents for the Constroction Agreement and all ather 

ry1 mmp&tive processes for services and materials, and the cok estimated by Aecon 
to be h the'range of $30,000 to $50,000 for the third party borehole drilling sub- 
contractor for the completion of boreholes used in the preparation of the Tender 
Package; d 

(6) Utility costs shall include the reasonable cost of interest during construction, 
calculated in accordance with the OEB approved methodology and Ovwbead 
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related to the Pipeline Work. Internal utility costs will include reasonable 
administriiljve and supervisory costs; and technician and field personnel required 
for the testing and conunissioning of the Utility Connection Facilities. 

(e) The reasonable costs of non-destructive testing of the welds and third party 
inspection of the Construction. 

(f) The reasonable cost of the completion of as-built drawings for the Utility 
Connection Facilities. 

(g) All consulting and third party costs include reasonable disbursements made by the 
third party or consultant unless such disbursements ara included in a fixed fee 
quotation. 

3.15 The Utilii  shall calcalafe and provide a partial refund of the Amal Aid-To-Construct, 
using the same methodology used to calculate the Actual Aid-To-Construct, if available 
capacity is assigned to another customer within seven years of the date on which the 
Utility Connection Facilities come into service, provided that the Utility is permitted by 
the Board to obtain any financial contni ion that might be required fiom the subsequent 
customer to cover the amount of tbe refimd. The calculation will be canied out once a 
year, based on the aggregate customer additiom.for the year. 'Zhe calculation for the 
refund will be based on the same inputs used for the original calculation of the Actual 
Aid-To-Construct, except for the Capital Cost of the facilities whlch shall be prorated on 
the basis of the total capacity of the Utility Connection FatiIities minus the capacity 
assigned to any subsequent customers. 

ARTICLE N - CONSTRUCTION 

4.1 Prior to awarding of the Construction Contract, the Customer shall enter into a seven year 
gas delivery agreement as mutually agreed to by the Parties with a minimum anriual 
volume of 33,416,618 .m3 and a h n  contract demand of 108.1 88 m3/day (G? Delivery 
Agreement). 

4.2 The timely campletion of the Utility Connection Facilities is in the interest of the Parties. 
As part of the Construction Agreement, the Utility shall require the wntractor to post a 
performance bond, including a liquidated damages provisian, or otber performance 
assurance measures acceptable to the Customer acting in a reasonable manner. 

4.3 ' Prior to the termination of this Agreemenf the utility shall provide the Customer with 
weekly updates in writing as to costs incurred, costs committed to. but not yet incurred 
and projected costs associated with the Pipeline Work. The Utifity shall pmvide all 
supporting documentation (quotations, estimates, invoices, bills of lading, receipts, 
timesheets, etc.) for all costs incured As part of the updates, the Utility &all provide the 
Customer with a description of upcoming work, the anticipated procurement method and 
a recommended course of action. T6e Customer and the Utility shall discuss significant 
upcoming expenditures prior to 'committing to such expenditures and shall work cd 
operatively to meet all timelines and to minimize the costs in the circumstances. The 



Customer shall consent to such significant expenditures prior to fhe Utility committing to 
such expenditures, such consent to be given in a timely manner and not to be 
unreasonably withheld 

4.4 The Parties acknowledge that any change in the scope of the Pipdine Work may d t  in 
a change to the Capital Cost, the Aid-to-Construct, the Customer ktter of Credit and the 
Construction schedule. A change in scope of the Pipeline Work may come about as a 
result of any of the following: 

(a) a Customer-initiated scope change; 

(b) a requirement or condition imposed by a Govunmental Authority, including 
without limitation, the OEB; 

- (c) unplanned delays on the part of the Customq or Subcontractor, or 

(d) an &vent of Force Majeure (as determined in accordance with Article VI). 

4.5 In the event of a change in the scope of the Pipeline Wo* as contemplated in Section 
4.4, in excess of $25,000, fhe Utility shall inform the Customer immediately of the nahrc 
of the change and the corresponding impact on the cost of the Pipeline Wo&. In the 
event such change will cause an increase in the A W  Capital Cost, the Utility shall 
obtain the Customer's consent to such increase prior to incurring such wsf such consent 
not to be unreasonably withheld and to be provided within 3 Business Days of receiving 
the information. In the event the Customer's consent has not been givea. within 3 
Business Days, the Customer shall be deemed to have given consent ta complete such 
wok 

4.6 The Utility shall use all reasonable efforts to have the Pipeline Work (as described in 
Schedule A) completed by November 1,2007 provided that 

(a) the Customer executes' and returns this Agreement to the Utility by no later than 
February I, 2007 (the "Execution Date"); 

(b) the Pipeline Work is cumpleted ih accordance with Schedule A of this 
Agreement; 

(c) the Customer is in compliance with its obligations under this Agreement; 

(d) there are no delays associated with third parties, including but not limited to 
Union Gas Limited, the Utility's lender and'any companies selected to carry out 
Construction; 

. . 
(e) the utility $ granted Leave-to-Construct by March, I ,  2007: Ad, 

(f) the Utility does not have-to use its employees, agents and contractors performidg 
the Pipeline Work elsewhere on its system due to an emergency, or an event of 
Force Majeure. For the purposes of this paragraph, an emergency means a l ine 
break, leak, fxe or similar event requiring an immediate response fiom tho UtiIiw 
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4.7 As soon as the Utility becomes aware of any delay that may prevent the Utility from 
achieving the November 1, 2007 deadhe, the Utility shall provide the Customer with 
notice in writing of such potential delay, the length of the anticipated delay and the 
reasons for such potential delay. 

. 

ARTICLE V - DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 

5.1 Each of the following will constitute an Event of Default by the Customer ("Customer 
Event of DefauIf'): 

(a) The Customer M s  to make any payment when due, if such f&m is not 
remedied within ten (10) h i n e s s  Days after written notice of such failure b m  
the Utility. 

(b) Tbe Customer fails to deliver or maintain-the Customer Letter of Credit or the 
Delivery Letter of Credit when due. 

(c) The Customer fails to pedom any material covenant or obligation set forth m thii 
Agreement if such failure is not remedied within fifteen (1 5) Business Days after 
written notice of such failure from the Utility. 

(d) Any represeatation made by the Customer in this Agreement is not true or correct 
in any material respect when made and is not made true or comct in all material 
respects within thirty (30) Business Days after receipt by the Customer.of written 
notice of such fact from the Utility. 

(e) An effective resolutibn is passed or documents are filed in an office of public 
record m respect of, or a judgment or order is issued .by a court of competent 
jurisdiction ordering,. the dissolution, tenhation of existence, liquidation or 
winding up of the Customer, unless such tiled documents are immediately 
revoked or otherwise rendered inapplicable, or unless there has been a permitted 
and valid assignment of this Agreement by the Customer under this Agreemexit to 
a person which is not dissolving, terminating its existence,.Iiquidating or winding 
up and such ban has assumed all of the Customer's obligations' under this 
Agreement. 

(f) The Customer maked an assignment for the benefit of its creditors generally under 
any Insolvency Legislation, or consents to the appointment of a receiver, 
manager, receiver-manager, monitor, trustee in banimrptcy, or liquidam for all or 
part of its property or files a petition or pposal to declare bankmptcy or to 
reorganize pursuant to the provision of my Insolvency Legislation, or otherwise 
seek3 the protection of Insolvency Legislation regardless of Whether a proposal or 
plan is proposed. . .. 

Cg) A receiver, manager, -receiver-manager, liquidator, monitor or trustee in 
bankruptcy of the Customer or of any of the Customer's property is appointed by 
a Governmental Authority or pursuant to the tams of a debeaturn or a similar 
instrument, .and such mdivcr, manager, receiver-manager, liquidator, monitor ok 
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trustee in badmptcy is not discharged or such appointment is not revoked or 
withdrawn within thirty (30) days of the appointment, 

(h) By decree, judgment or order of a Governmental Authority, the Customer is 
adjudicated b h p t  or insolvent or any substantial part of thc Customer's 
pruperty is sequestered, and such decree continues undischarged and unstayed f& 
a period of thirty (30) &ys after the entry thereof. 

(i) A petition, proceeding or filing is made against the Customer setking to have the 
Customer declared bahupt or insolvent, or seeking adjustment or cornposition of 
any of their respective debts pursuant to the provisions of any Insolvency 
Legislation, and such petition, proceeding or filing is not dismissed or withdrawn 
within thirty (30) days. 

52 Eacb of the folIowing wiU constitute an Event of Default by the Utility ("Utility bent of 
Default"); 

(a) The Utility fails to perfom any material c o v d  or obligation set forth in this 
Agreement if such failure is not remedied within fifteen (1 5) Bnshess Days after 
written notice of such faihne b m  the Customer. 

(b) Any representation made by the Utility in this Agreement is not true or correct in 
any material respect when made and is not made tme or correct in all material 
respects within Yhirty (30) Business Days after receipt by the Utility'of writttri 
notice of such fact fironithe Customer. 

(c) An effective resolution is passed or documents are filed in an oflice of public 
record in respect oE, or a jndgmmt or order is issued by a court of competent 
jurisdiction orderha the dissolution, termination of existence, liquidation or 
winding up of the Utility, unless such filed documents are immediately revoked or 
otherwise rendered inapplicable, or unless there has been a permitted and valid 
assignment of this ~keernent  by the Utility under this Agreement to a p k o n  
which is not @ssolving, ternhating its existence, liquidating or winding up and 
such person has assumed all of the Utility's obligations under this Agreement 

(ti) ?he Utility makes an assignment for the benefit of its mditors genwalIy under 
any Insolvency Legislation, or consents to the appointment of a receiver, 
manager, receiver-mahager, monitor, trustee m bankruptcy, or Uqddator for rill or 
part of & p~perty or files a petition or proposal to declare baukruptcy or to 
reorganize pursuant to the provision of any. Insolvency Legislation, or otherwise 
seeks the protection of Insolvency Legislation regadess of whether a proposal or 
plan % proposed. 

. , 
(e) A receiver, manager, receiver-manager, liquidator, modtor or trustee in 

bankruptcy of the Utility or of any of the Utiiity's property is appointed by- a 
Governmental Authority or pursuant to the tenus of a debenture or a similar 
instrument, and such receiver, manager, receiver-manager, liquidator, monitor or 

I 
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trustee in bankruptcy is not discharged or such appointment is not revoked or 
withdrawn within thirty (30) days of the appoinbnent. 

(f) By decree, judgment or order of a Governmwtal Authority, the Utility is 
adjudicated bankrupt or insolvent or any substantial part of the Utility's property 
is sequestered, and such decree continues undischarged and unstayed for a period 
of thirty (30) days after the entry thereof. 

(g) A petition, proceeding or frling is made against the Utility seeking to have the 
Utility declared bankrupt or insolvent, or seeking adjustment or composition of 
any of theii respective debts pursuant to the provisions of any insolvency 
Legislation, or rmch petition, proceeding or filing is not dismissed or witfidrawn 
within thirty (30) days. 

(h) A. failure to maintain in good standing my b c h i s e  agreement or any other 
approvaI, permit or license h m  any Governmental Authority required for the 
qmstruction and operation of the Pipeline Works and She supply of natural gas to 
the Customer Facility. 

ARTICLE VI - FORCE MAJEURE 

6.1 In the event that either the Customer or the Utility is rendered unable, in whole or in part, 
by Force Majeure, to perform or comply with any obligation or condition of this 
Agreement, then the obligations (other than the obligations to make payment of money 
then due and to proyide or mdntain any letter of mdit) of both parties so fhr as they art 
directly related to and affected by such Force Majeure, shall be suspended during the 
continuance of the Force Majeure. 

62 The party claiming Force Majeure shall give notice in writing, with full particulars, to 
the other party as soon as possible after the ocahmce of.Force Majeure. 

6.3 The party claiming Force Majeure shall also give notice to the other party as sodn as 
possible after the Force Majeure is remedied in whole or part. 

6.4 Force Majeure means: 

(a) Acts of God, Iandslides, lightning, earthquakes, fm, storms, floods, washouts, 
cxpIosions, breakage or accident to its machinery or equipment or lines of pipe; 

@) fieezing or hilure of wells or lines of pipe; curtailment of firm transportation or 
firm storage by other natural gas service prdvidm; 

I 

(c) stdies, lockouts or other industrial disturbances, riots, sabotage, insurrections, 
civil disturbance, acts of terrorism, wars, arrests or restraint of governments and 
people; 

(d) any laws, orders, rules, regulations, acts of any government body or authority, 
civil or military; I i 
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(e) any act or omission by parties not amtrolled by the party claiming Force Majeure; 
and 

(f) any other similar causes not within the conpl of the party claiming Force 
Majwe 

which by the exercise of due diligence such party is unable to prevent or overcome, The party 
claiming Force Majeure shall make reasonable efforts to avoid, or correct the Force Majeure and 
to remedy the Force Majeure once it has o m e d  in order to resume performance. 

6.5 Neither party shall be &led to claim Force Majeure if my of the following 
circumstances previil: 

(a) the failure resulting in Force Majeure was caused by the negligence of the party 
claiming suspension; 

(b) thk failure was caused by the party claiming suspension where such party failed to 
remedy the condition by making all reasonable efforts (short of litigation, if such 
remedy would require litigation); 

(c) the party claiming suspension failed to resume the performance of  such conditions 
or obligations witb reasonable dispatch, 

(d) the failure was caused by lack of funds; and 

(e) the party claiming suspension did not give to the other party the requkd notice as 
soon as possible after determining or withi a period within which it sbould have 
demined, acting reasonably, that the o c m c e  was m the nature of Force 
Majeure and would affect its ability to obserrre or perform any of its conditions or 
obligations under the Agreement. 

ARTICLE vri SECURTTY AMD PERFOR~ANCE ASS-& 

7.1 Prior to the Utility ordering the pipe and the stations, the Customer shall provide to the 
Utility an imvocablc letter or letters of credit.r("Cnstomer Letter of Credit'" in in mount 
equal to the quoted cost of the pipe and the stations minus any payments made by the 
Customer to the Utijity in respect of the pipe. and the stations. The Customer shall be 
entitled to reduce the Customer Lem of Credit by the amount of any subsequent 
payments by the Customer to the Utility in respkct of the pipa and the stations, upon 
making sue payments. The Utility shall be entitled to draw upon $e Customer Letter of 
Credit in the following circumstances: . .. 

(a) Subject to (b), if the Gqitorner fails to make a payment of the Aid-to-consbud in 
accordance with Article m, such draw not to exceed the amount owed by the 
Customer to the Utility. 

I I 
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(b) Notwithstanding (a) the Utility shall not be entitled to draw upon the Customer 
Letter of Credit within any cure periods established in Article V, in which the 
Customcr may make payment to the Utility. 

7.2 The Utility shall return the Customer Letter of Credit upon receipt of any payment 
required from the Customer in accordance with section 3.4 and delivery of the Delivery 
Letter of Credit required under section 7.3. 

7.3 Prior to the award of the Construction Agreement by the Utility, the Customer shall 
provide to the Utility an irrevocable letter of credit ("Delivery Letter of Credit?) in an 
amount equal to the difference between thc M s c d  Estimated Capital Cost and the 
Revised EMnated Aid-to-Constiuct. 

7.4 The Utility shall be entitled to draw upon the Delivery Letter of Credit if: 

(a) 'fhe Customer terminates this Agreement &or m the In-Service Date and fails to 
pey any amount owing to the Utility within 30 Business Days of rectiving the 
invoice for monies owed for adual reasonable costs incurred prior to 
Tambation; or 

(b) ' I lc  Customer terminates this Agreement and the Gas Delivery Conhct after the 
In-Service Date but prior to the seventh anniv- of the Commencement Date 
under the Gas Delivery Contract; 

(c) For any year, the Customer fails to take receipt of the M i n i m  Annual V o h e  
under the Gas DeIivery Cantract and the Custamer fails to pay the invoice for 
such failure to take the M ~ u m  Annual Volume within 15 days of receiving 
such invoice; 

(d) For reasons other &an Form hhjeure, the Customer ccasos taking semi& for o 
period of 30 days dnring the tenn of the Gas Delivery' Contract or at any time 
after that where service has continued past the end of the term of the Gas Delivery 
Contract; . . 

(e) the Delivery Letter of Credit will not be maintained and the Customer fails to 
provide a substitute acceptable to the Utility and its lender, or . 

( f )  The Cuptoma commits s Customer Gent of Dcfwlt listed in 5.1 (e), (f). (g), @y 
and 0). . 

' (g) The Customer fails to restore the balanck of the Delivery Letter of Credit as 
reqired by 7.5. , 

7.5 The Customer ihdl maintain the Dtliyery Iktter of Credit for as l o n g k  the Customer 
continues to receive service from the Utility. In the event that the Utility draws on !be 
Delivery Letter of Credit pursuant to 7.4(c), the Customer shall restore the Delivery 
Letter of Credit to the balance that existed immediately prior to the draw, within 10 
Business Days fiom the date of the draw. I 
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7.6 Subject to section 7.7, the Customer shall be entitled to reduce the amount of the 
Delivery Letter of Credit on each anniversary of the commencement of deliveries under 
the Gas Delivery Agreement to an amount equal to the net book value of the Utility 
Connection Facilities allocated to the Customer at the time, as determined by the Utility 
in accordance. with OEB-approved methodology. 

7.7 Any letter of credit shall be in a form acceptable to the Utility and its lender. Thc Utility 
shall have its lendn provide a draft fom of letter of credit for review and comment by 
the Customer's lender. 

7.8 The costs and expenses of establishing, renewing, substituting, cancelling, increasing and 
nxiucing the amount of (as the case may be) any letler of credit requirtd under this 
Agreement shall be borne by the Customer. 

7.9 The Utility shall return any letter of credit held-by the Utility to the Customer, if the 
Customer is substitating a letter of credit with another 1etter.of credit or such other 
financial assurance, where that substitute is acceptable to the Utility and its lender. 

ARTICLE YIII - TERMINATION 

8.1 This Agreement terminates upon the placing into senrice of the Utility Connection 
Facilities and the Union Gas Connection Facilities and the commencement of the delivery 
of natural gas to the Customer Facility. All payment obligations xnd all obligations in 
relation to the Customer Lttter of Credit and Delivery Letter of Credit shall w i v e  
termination of this Agreement until they are fulfilled 

8.2 In the event that the Utility .is unable to seme all necessary permits, approvals, licenses 
certificates necessary to complete the Pipeline Work and supply natural gas to the 
Customer Facility, or obtains such permits, approvals, licenses or certificates on terms 
and conditions that are miacceptable to the Customer, acting in a commer6ially 
reasonable manner, then the Customer bas the option to terminate this Agreement The 
Customer shall, however, be responsible for all actual or committed to co& i n m d  by 
the Utility and Union Gas Limited up to and inchding the date of termination. 

8.3 The Utility may terminate this Agreement i fa  Customer Event df Default has occurred 
and the utility has given notice to the Customer of such Custamer Event of Default and 
such default is not remedied witbin the applicable cure period upon receiving such notice 
of default, Termination pursuant to this section sh,all not be permitted where such d e M t  
has been submitted to a dispute resolution process under Article TX. 
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8.4 Subject to Section 8.5, in the event the Revised Estimated Aid-To-Construct has been 
paid, in full or in part, by the Customer to the Utility and the Agreement is terminated 
prior to completion of tbe Pipeline Work, then the UtiIity shall return to the Cnstomer any 
amount of the Revised Estimated Aid-To-Construct paid by the Customer that is in 
excess of the actual reasonable cost incurred by the Utility up to and including the date of 
termination. In the event the actual reasonable cost incurred by the Utility exceed the 
amount of the Revised Estimated Aid-To-Construct, the Customer shall pay that amount, 
upon receipt of which the Utility shall forthwith return the Deliveq Letter of Credit. 

8.5 In the event Utility invokes Force Majeure and the eveat of Force Majeure or the 
aggregate duration of all such Utility events of Force M a j m  exceeds 60 days in any 12 
consecutive month period, then the Customer shall have the right to terminate this 
Agreement upon fifteen (15) Business Days written notice. Upon termination of this 
Agreement pursuant to this section, the Utility shall return all security and financial 

- assurance provided by Customer, and an amount; if any, equal to any Aid-To-Construct 
paid by the Customer to the Utility less the Utility's reasonable costs incurred prior to the 
event of Force Majeure. 

ARTICLE IX - DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

9.1 In the event of any dispute arising betweea the Parties regarding the subject matter of this 
Agreement, then the Parties shaIl negotiate in g o d  faith to resolve such matteis. 

9 2  . In the event the Parties are unable to resolve a dispute, then either Party may refer the 
matter to the OEB fbr resoIution. 

ARTICLE X - INDEMNIFICATION . . 
10.1 'Ihe Utility agrees to, indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the Customer in.respect of dl 

actions, causes of action, suits, proceedings, claims, demands, Iossts, damages, penalties, 
fines, costs, obligations and liabilities ('9amagesn) arising out of the construction, 
installation, testing, commissioning and operation of the Utility Connection Facilities, 
other than any Damages caused by the negligence or wiIM misconduct of the Customer. 

102 W; Customer agrees b indemnity, defend and hold harmless me Utility in respect of dl 
Damages arising out of the consmction, installation, testing, commissioning and 
operation of the Utility Connection Facilities 'caused. by the negligence or wilfal 
misconduct of the Customer. 

. .. 

11. I Any written notice required by this Agreement shall be deemed properly given only, if 
either mailed or delivered to: 



(a) To the Utility 

Natural Resource Gas Limited 
P.O. Box 307 
39 Beech Street East 
Aylmer, Ontario N5H 2S 1 

Tel: (51 9) 773-5321 
Fax: (5 19) 773-5335 

Attention: Steve Milk ,  General Manager 
c.c. Mark Bristoll, President 

To the Customer 

Integrated Grain Processors Co-opemthe Inc. 
70 1 Powerline Road 
Bmtford, Ontario N3T .5L8 

Tel: (5 19) 752-0447 
Fax: (51 9) 752-1 887 

Attention: Chair . 

A faxed notice will be deemed to be received on the datt of the fax if received before 4 
p.m. or on the next. Busmess Day if received after 4 p a .  Notices sent by courier or 
registered mail shall be deemed to have been received on the date indicated on the 
delivery receipt, The designation of the person to be so notified or tbe address of such 
person may be changed at any time by either party by written notice. 

1 1 3 This Agreement: 

(a) constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject 
maker of this A&rment and sprsedes aIl prior oral or!.writ&n representations 
q d  agreements concerning the subject matter of thii Agreement; 

(b) shaIl be construed and-enforced m accordance with, and the rights of the parties 
shaIl be governed by, the laws of the Province of Ontario and the laws of Canada 
applicable therein, and the courts of Ontario shall hwe exclusive jurisdictionl to 
determine all disputes arising out of this Agreement; 
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(c) may be executed in counterparts, including facsimile counterparts, each of which 
shall be deemed an original, but all of which shall together constitute one and the 
same agreement; and 

(d) shaIl not be assigned without the prior written consent of the other party, such 
consent not to be unreasonably withheld. For greater certainty an assignment by 
way of security to the Custumeis lmdm shall be considered reasonabIe. 

No modification of or amendment to this Agreement will be valid or binding unless set 
forth in writing arid duly executed by botb of the parties hereto and no waiver of any 
breach of any term or provision of this Agreement will be effective or binding unless 
made in writing and signed by the party purporting to give the same and, unless otherwise 
provided, will be Iimited to the specific breach waived. 

If any provision of this Agreement is determined to be invalid or unmforceable or in 
breach af any Applicable Law in whole or in part, such invalidity or unenforceability will 
attach only to such provision or part thereof which pmvision or part shall be s~vered fim 
the Agreement and the remaining part of sncb provision and all other provisions hereof 
will continue in full force and effect 

Notwithstanding the termination or expiration of this Agmement: 

(a) Section 3.15 shall survive for the period of tine provided in which a refimd is to 
be calculated ' 

(b) The obligation to make any payment shall survive until all such payments are 
determined and paid. 

(c) Article 7 shall survive until the Utility no longer requires financial assurance h m  
the Customer. 

(d) Article IX shall survive ktil the fmal resolution, incliding all appeals, of any 
dispute arising out of this Agreeme* 

Each Party shall ficm time to time execuye and deliver all such further document. and 
instruments and do all acts and things as the other party may reasonably require to 
effectively cany out or better evidence or .perfect the fill intent aad meaning of this 
Agreement. 

This Agreement will enure to the benefit of and be binding upon tbe respective 
successors and permitted assigns of the Parties heketo. 

Time is ofthe essence in the performance of the Parties' respective obligations under this 
Agreement. 

Any reference to funds is a reference to Canadian cumncy. 



11.10 This Agreement is subject to the consent of the Customer's Lenders. The Customer 
agrees to use reasonable effor@ to secure such consent in a timeIy manner. This 
paragraph is entirely for the benefit of the Customer. The Customer shall waive this 
condition in writing. 

1 1.1 1 This Agreement is subject to the consent of the Utility's Lenders. The Utiljty agrees to 
use reasonabIe efforts to secure such consent m a timely manner. This peragraph is 
entirely for the benefit of the Utility. The Utility shall waive this condition in writing. 

11.12 In the event of a change of law affecting my of the rights or obligations of one Party to 
the other Party, the Utility shall continue to deliver gas and the Customer shall continue 
to pay for the delivery of gas as if the change had not ocnnred unless prohibited by Iaw. 
In such evemt the Parties shall negotiate in good faith to p e r v e  the original intent of this 
Agreement. 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed by 
the signatures of their proper officers, as of the day and year first written above. 

NATURAL rUESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Per: Mark Bristoll 
Title: President 

I have authority to bind the corporation 

INTEGRATED GRAIN PROCESSORS CO-OPERATIVE INC. 

Per. Tom Cox 
Title : 

I have authority to bind the corporation. 

I have authority to bind the corporation. 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed by 
the signatures of their proper officers, as of the day and year 6rst written above. 

NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Per. Mark Bristoll 
oxk%i%a. 

Title: President 

I have authority to bhd the corporation. 

- 

INTEGRATED GRAIN PROCESSORS CO-OPERATTVE INC 

Per. Tom Cox 
Title: 

I have authority to bind the corporation. 

Per: Brent McBlain 
Title; 

I have authority to bind the corporatian. 



Schedule A - Pipeline Work 

In cevrying out the Pipdine Work (as depicted in the figure attached as Schedule B to this 
Agreement), the Utility or a subcontractor to the Utility will need to complete the f q l l o w ~ :  

Pipeline Work Planning 

Utility Connection Facilities 

1. The Utility shall design, construct, instalI, commission and ope- the Utility 
Connection Faciiities in accordance with all Applicable Laws and good utility practice. 

2. The Utility shall be responsible for making applications to all Governmental Authorities 
for all permits, approvals, Iicenses and certificates necessary to undertake and complete . 
the Utility Connection Facilities, including without Iimitbg the foregoing, the Leave-to- 
Construct from the OEB. The Utility shall be responsible for maintaining all such 
permits, approvals, licenses in good standing. 

3. The Udlity shall only contract with suppliers and contractors competent to perform their 
tasks and &a11 undertake to seme competitive bids from competent suppliers and 
contractors for the Utiiity Conntcdon Facilidcs. 

4. The Utility and the 'Customer shall agree to a snitable location at the ~ustbmer Facility 
for the Customer Mcter Facility. 

5. The Utility shall coordinate the design, construction, testing and operation of the UtiIity 
Co~ection Facilities with Union Oas Limited such that Union Oas Limited will be able 
to supply the Utility with sufficient quantities of natural gas to meet the Customer's 
requirements by the In-Service Date. 

6. The Utility shall furnish' tbe Customer with a somplete set of mginared s L P d  
drawings of the Utility Connection Facilities before tendering for the Construction 
Agreement. The engineer shall be qualified to pradice engineering in Ontario. 

7. The Utility shall provide a flanged connection at the outlet of the Custumcr Meter 
Facility to which the Customer may connect the house-piping for the Customer Facility. 
In the event the Customu instaIls the house-piping with flanged connection prior to the 
Utility, the Utility shall be responsible for completing the cannedons. The flanged 
connection shall be- adequately protected to prevent the entry of dirt, water or other 
exlraaequs materials h m  entering the Customer Meter Facility,or the house-piping. 

8. 'Ihe Utility shdl ensure thc Customer Meta Facility is properly i a s u l d  from the 
Customer Facility, 

9. The Utility shall furnish the Customer the required communications specifications for 
the Customer Meter Facility with the stamped drawings. 

I 
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L Access To Customer Facility 

& 1, 10. The Customer shaIl provide the Utility a d  h contractor with reasonable access to the 
h Customer Facility to construct, install, test, commission and operate the Customer Meter 

Facility. 

11.  The Utility shall ensure that all employees of the Utility or its contractor obey all safety 
requirements of the Customer while on the Customer Facility, 

Pipeline Work Testing and Commissioning 

12. The Utility shalI coordinate hydrotesting or any other t h g ,  including nondestructive 
testing of welds, of the Utility Connection Facilities with the Customer and the Utility 
shall not interfere with the construction, installation, testing or commissioning of the 
Customer Facility. 

C 
- 

l i t  13. The Utility shall cmstm that the Utility Connection Facility is completely dewatered. 
Dewatering shall not occur on the Customer Facility. 

Union Gas Connection Facilities 

14. The Utility shall coordinate the constraction of the Utility Connection Facilities with 
Union Gas Ud. to facilitate the completion of the Union Gas Comection Facilities by or 
before November I 2007. 



, . 
SCHEDULE B - PROJECI' MAP 

[To be inserted] 
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LENCZNER SLAGI~T ROYCE 
SMITH GRIFFIN LLP 

BARlllSTERS 

Direct Line: (4 16) 865-3097 
Email: lthacker'@litigate.com 

February 15,2008 

VIA EMAIL 

George R. Allcalay 
Nol-thiield Ventures Ltd. 
95 King View Crescent 
King City, ON L7B 1IC5 

Dear MI'. Alkalay: 

Re: Natural Resources Gas Limited ("NRG") and 
Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
("IGPC") 

As you know, at your request, we met wit11 you and IGPC's solicitors at the offices of 
Aird & Berlis on January 25, 2008.. During that meeting, you aslted us to provide you with the 
proposed ternls and conditioils of the letter of credit that IGPC is required to provide to NRG. 

In response to your request, by letter dated January 31, 2008, I provided you with the 
proposed terms. I understood that they would form the basis for good faith ilegotiations towards 
muti~ally acceptable terms aiid conditions for a letter of credit. Instead, you refused to respond to 
me and instead wrote to the Ontario Energy Board directly. 

It is NRG's position that IGPC's failure to respond in any way to a proposal that you 
asked NRG to make to you is a breach of IGPC7s obligatiolls to perfolm in good faith its 
obli.gations under the Pipeline Cost Recovery Agreement. 

Yours truly, 

SUITE 2600, 130 ADELAIDE ST'REET WEST, TORONTO, ONTAItIO, CANADA M5k13P5 
TELEPI.IONE (4 16) 865-9500 FACSIMILE (416) 865-9010 
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LENCZNER SLAG~IT ROYCE 
SMITH GR~FFIN LLP 

BAKKISTEKS 

Direct Line: (4 16) 865-3097 
Email: Ithacker@litigate.com 

August 15,2008 

VIA EMAIL 

Scott Stoll 
Aird & Berlis LLP 
BCE Place, 18 1 Bay Street 
Suite 1800, Box 754 
'l'oronto, Ontario 
M5J 2T9 

[)ear Mr. Stoll: 

Re: Natural Resources Gas Limited ("NRG") and 
Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
(bLIGPC") 

Introduction 

We have now rcviewcd your two August 14 letters from you. NRG wishes to ensure that 
the Ontario Energy Board ("OER") has the full factual background to thc issucs raised therein. 

IGPC has repeatedly failed to meet the deadlines agreed to between IGPC and NRC; and 
to fuliil its contractual obligations owed to NRG. It would appear that IGPC, due to either to its 
own construction dclays, administrative problems or lack of adequate financial resources, has 
been unable to complete its ethanol manufacturing facility by the agreed in-service date of July 
15. 

NRG has met all of the deadlines agreed to between the parties, including completing 
construction of the pipeline by the beginning of July, and being fully prepared to commence 
delivery of gas on July 15. 

NRG has granted a number of indulgences to IGPC to assist IGPC in dealing with its own 
internal delays, but NRG is not prcpared to allow IGI'C's delays or lack of adequate linancing to 
place NRG's stakeholders a1 risk. 

SUl'l'E 2600, 130 A[)EL.AII)E STREET WEST, TOKON'I'O, ONTAKIO, CANADA M5)I 3P5 
Tlll.Ifl'f !ONE (4 16) 865-9500 FACSIMILE (4 16) 865-90 10 

945930 1 



Gas Suspension 

By letters dated July 10 and July 17, 2008 (copies attached), NRG advised IGPC that it 
was required to commence receiving natural gas on the agreed in-service date of July 15. IGPC 
rcsponded by advising that it was not able to accept delivery of gas. NRG reminded lGPC of the 
30-day period contemplated by Section 7.14(d) of the Pipeline Cost Recovery Agreement made 
as of January 3 1, 2007 (the "PCRA), and confirmed that the 30-day period commenced on July 
15. 

By email dated July 24 (copy attached) to Union Gas, IGPC (through its agent 
Blackstone Energy Services Inc.) requested a suspension of the delivery of gas commencing 
August 1 and ending September 1 .  

The suspension remained in place until August 13, when IGPC sent an email (copy 
attached) to Union Gas requesting the delivery of a small daily quantity of natural gas. IGPC 
stated that the remaining 869gilday would continue to be suspended. Later on August 13, IGPC 
sent a furthcr email (copy attached) to Union Gas advising that the previous suspension of 
3,169gjlday was cancelled and requesting that the amount of 869gjlday be delivered from August 
14 to August 3 1. 

On August 14, IGPC sent an email (copy attached) to Union Gas reinstating the previous 
full suspension so that no natural gas would be delivcrcd. 

Accordingly, it would appear that IGPC never intended to have gas delivered and that the 
August 13 lifting of the August 1 suspension was an artifice. The very next day the suspcnsion 
was reinstated with no natural gas having being delivered. 

Accordingly, it appears that IGPC does not require any natural gas at the present time. 

Security Deposit 

Your August 14 letter does not accurately reflect the security deposit issue. 

By letter dated July 8 (copy attached), NKG issued an invoice to IGPC for the security 
deposit required pursuant to the Gas Delivery Agreement dated January 30, 2007 ("GLIA"). 

By letters datcd July 10 and 17, NRG advised IGPC that the security deposit was required 
to secure amounts payable by IGPC to NRG. The pipeline was completed and fully 
commissioned by July 10 and NRG had performed all of its obligations relating to the 
construction of the pipcline. 

To accommodate IGPC, NRG had previously agreed with IGPC that the in-service date 
would be July 15. As a result, IGPC was required to pay NRG all dclivery charges commencing 
July 15. For that reason, IGPC was required to pay the security deposit to NRG by July 15 
regardless of whether IGPC was ready to receive gas on that day. 



NRG again requested that IGPC pay the security deposit. IGPC again refused to pay the 
security deposit. 

On July 17, NRG again repeated its request that IGPC pay the security deposit required 
under the GDA. NRG and IGPC had several discussions subsequently about the form and timing 
of the delivery of the security deposit. IGPC advised NRG that it was financially unable to pay 
the security deposit due to limitations on its ability to draw down cash due to the terms and 
conditions of its credit facility. 

On July 28, IGPC told NRG that it would provide a letter of credit that could be cashed 
immediately so that NRG would be in the same position as if IGPC had paid a cash deposit. 

Subsequently, IGPC demanded that any security paid by IGPC be segregated in a special 
account and not be accessed by NRG for any purpose until IGPC defaults. On August 13, before 
NRG could respond to IGPC, IGPC delivered a letter of credit in the amount of $232,666.84. 

At no time between July 8 and August 13 did IGPC ever provide NRG with a copy of the 
proposed letter of credit so that NRG could review its terms and conditions. To the contrary, 
1Gl'C had advised that it was prepared to pay a cash deposit, but simply could not do so until the 
next regularly scheduled draw down against its credit facility at the end of July. 

IS NRG had known IGPC was rehsing to pay the security deposit in cash, it would have 
demanded an opportunity to review the proposed letter of credit, IGPC never providcd a draft 
letter of credit for review. 

The letter of credit delivered by IGPC on August 13 contains numerous deficiencies. For 
example, the letter of credit expires in December 2008. Clearly, the amounts required to be 
secured will be owing for many years beyond 2008. Accordingly, the current form of letter of 
credit is not acceptable to NRG. 

Safety Testing and Certification 

Since July 2, NRG's engineering firm, MIG Engineering Ltd., has been requesting 
confirmation that IGPC's facility has been installed, tested and approved according to applicable 
safety standards. There is nothing new in NRG's position. NRG is required to ensure that all 
applicable safety standards have been complied with. 

Due to its own construction delays, IGPC was apparently unable to provide the required 
safety confirmation at any time prior to August 13. 



NRG has complied with all of its obligations under the PCRA and the GDA. NRG 
remains ready, willing and able to deliver natural gas to IGPC when IGPC complies with its 
obligations owed to NRG. 

Yours truly, 

.awrencc I:. Thacker 

LETIrl 
Encls. 
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Direct Line: (4 16) 8 6 5- 3 0 9 7  
Email: Ithacker@litigate.com 

July 8,2008 

VIA EMAIL 

George R. Alkalay 
Northiield Ventures Ltd. 
95 King View Crcscent 
King City, ON L7B lK5 

Dear Mr. Alkalay: 

Re: Natural Resources Gas Limited ("NRG") and 
Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
("IGPC") 

Attached is a calculation of the security deposit that IGPC is required to pay pursuant to 
the Gas Delivery Contract dated January 30,2007 between NRG and IGPC. 

NRG requires payment of the security deposit in the amount of $232,666.84 immediately, 
so that NRG will be in a position to deliver gas on July 15,2008. 

Yours truly, 

LE'l'/j b 
Encl . 

SUITE 2600, 130 ADELAIDE STREET WES'I., I'OKON'rO, ONTARIO, CANADA M5II 3P5 
TELEPHONE (4 16) 865-9500 FACSIMI1.E (4 16) 8 6 5 - 9 0  1 0 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 
IGPC Inc. Gas Delivery Contract Security Deposlt 

GST Rate 5.00% 

Rate Volumes m3 
Maxlmurn Daily Volume (1.e. Firm Contract Demand) 108,188 
Maximum Hourly Volume 4,508 
Minimum Annual Volume 33,416,618 

Days in Month 4 8 

M9 - Large Wholesale - Bundled-T ($) 
Monthly Customer Charge 
Mont'hly Demand Charge 
Firm Delivery Rate 

Tota l 
GST 
Security Deposit 

M9 - Large Wholesale - Bundled-T (m*3) 
Monthly Demand Charge 
Flrm Dellvery Rate 

Security 
Deposlt 

150.00 
27,685.74 

M9 - Large Wholesale - Bundled-T ($/m*3) 
Monthly Demand Charge $ 0,2559040 
Firm Delivery Rate 3 0.0373100 
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Direct Line: (4 16) 865-3097 
Ernail: ItI~acker(~~li~iyate.com 

July 10, 2008 

VIA EMAIL 

Jim Grcy, CEO 
IGPC lithanol Inc. 
PO Box 205 
Aylmcr, ON h'51 I 2R9 

Dear Mr. Grey: 

Re: Natural Resource Gas Limitcd ("NHG") and 
Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. ("1C;PC") 

Thank you for your cmail of ycstcrday. 

'l'hc security deposit is rcquirod lo secure m o u n t s  payablc by IGPC lo NKO. l'hc 
pipcline is now completed and fully cornmissioncd. NRG has performed all of its obligations 
relating to thc construction of'the pipeline. 

We understand that there have been some construction delays on IGPC's end and, as a 
result, IGPC is not rcady to accept the delivery of gas on the agreed date of July 15. However. 
the in scrvice date is July 15. regardless of whether or not IGPC is able to utilize r~atural gas on 
that date 

As a result, IGPC is required to pay NRG all delivery chargcs commencing July 15. 
Accordingly, IGPC is required ro pay the sccurity deposit to NRG by July 15 rcgardlcss of 
\vhcthcr IGPC is ready to rcccive gas on that datc. If IGPC does nor pay the sccurity dcposit by 
July 15. i t  will be in breach of thc Pipeline Cosl Rccovery Agreerncnt and related agrccmcnts 
between NRG and IGPC. 



While I am happy lo discuss this with you, 1 want to he sure that NRCi's position is clear 

Lawrence E. Thacker 

cc Adrian Pye 
13rian 1 lewson 



LENCZNER SLAGHT ROYCE 
SMITH GRIFFIN LLP 

BARRISTERS 

Direct Line: (4 16) 865 -3097 
Email: I thacker@litipate.com 

July 17, 2008 

VIA EMhIL 

Jim Grey, CEO 
IGPC Ethanol Inc. 
PO Box 205 
Aylrner, ON N5H 2R9 

Dear Mr. Grey: 

Re: Natural Resource Gas Limited ("NRG") and 
Integrated Grain Processors Co-opcrativc Inc. ("IGPC") 

We have your letter of July 11 

Our position remains as set out in our letter of' July 10. Specilically, the seciirity deposit 
required to bc paid under Part 10 of the Gas Delivery Agreement dated January 30, 2007 
("GDA") is intended to secure payment of invoices rendered pursuant to the GDA. 

A11 panics have agreed that the In-Service Date will be Ji~ly 15. The Comrnencerncnl 
Date is July 15. IGPC is required to pay all invoices in accordance with the General Terms and 
Conditions, which provide that the invoices are duc when rendered. 

The fact that IGPC, due to its own construction delays, is unable to actually accept the 
delivery of gas. does not allow IGPC to avoid paying the security dcposit prior to the 
Commencement Date axld In-Service Date of July 15. Accordingly, IGPC is now in default of its 
obligation to provide NRG with thc security deposit required under the GDA. 

, Scparatc and apart from IGPC's obligalions to provide NRG with the required security 
dcposit, IGPC was required to take service on July 15. IGPC is not able to accept the delivery of 
gas, notwithstanding NRG's ability to dclivcr the full amount of the gas contemplated by the 
GDA. Accordingly, thc 30-day period contemplated by Scction 7.4(d) of' the Pipclinc Cost 
Recovcry Agreemenr made as of Ja~iuary 3 1, 2007 (the "PCRA"), commcnccd on July 15. If 
IGPC does not commence taking service prior to August 14, NRG will be entitled to draw upon 
the Ilelivcry Letter of  Credit in accordance with Section 7.4(d) oi"he PCRA. 

!iL:lTC 3600, 130 A[>Fl.A lilE TI'KI'KI' WES'I, 'I'ORONTO, ON'I'AKIO, CAN,\D,\ M 5 H 3Pj 
.n:l.~l~l loh'li (4 16) 865-9500 F.4CSIMII.I: (4 16) 865-9010 



NRG has incurred all of the construction costs, including thosc additional costs 
associated with completing the pipeline by thc specific date requested by IGPC. NRG is entitlcd 
to be paid the agreed charges, and to be provided with the agreed security deposit. NRG requires 
IGPC to pay thosc amounts to protect the interests of NRG's stakeholders, including all of thc 
ratepayers who rely on NRG for natural gas delivery services. 

If NRG does not receive the full amount of the security deposit by 4 pm on Monday, J u l y  
21, 2008, NRG will proceed to enforcc its remedies. Moreover, NRG will not deliver any gas to 
lGPC until thc full amount o f  the security deposit is paid. NRG must protcct the inrerests of its 
stakeholders, including the interest of all ratepayers. 

NRG tiopes that IGPC will pay h e  security deposit to NRG and that no enSorccmcn~ 
proceedings will be necessary. 

Yours truly, 

Lawrence E. Thacker 

LETIrl 

bcc Mark Bristoll 
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Barristers and Solicitors 

August 14,2008 

VIA EMAIL 

Mr. Lawrence E. Thacker 
Lenczner Slaght Royce Smith Griffin LLP 
Barristers 
2600 - 130 Adelaide Street West 
Toronto, Ontario 
M5H 3P5 

Dear Mr. Thacker: 

Re: IGPC Ethanol Inc. ("IGPC") and Natural Resources Gas Ltd. ("NRG") 
Letter of Credit and Commissioning Issues 

We received your latest correspondence of 7:17 pm of August 13, 2008. 

The Gas Delivery Contract is very clear that IGPC may provide security by Letter of 
Credit. IGPC has provided a Letter of Credit for the amount specified by NRG and has 
therefore satisfied all of its contractual obligations for the supply of natural gas to the 
ethanol facility. Your position that cash is required is untenable. Further, an expiry date is 
not a defect as the Letter of Credit will be replaced prior to its expiry as is the normal 
practice in these matters. Given our clients many attempts to discuss the form of the 
Letter of Credit and other issues with NRG and the complete lack of response from NRG, 
we are appalled that your client would refuse to accept the Letter of Credit at this late 
hour. 

We have told your client on numerous occasions that natural gas would be required in 
August only to be met with silence. IGPC is ready to have natural gas introduced into its 
ficility. Despite IGPC's numerous attempts to make arrangements for commissioning 
over the last several weeks; yesterday, for the first time, NRG's consultant demanded 
information prior to permitting gas to flow. This information was provided this morning. 
Even with the information, NRG is refusing to commission the facility. This behaviour is 
completely unacceptable, contrary to NRG's contractual obligations and its responsibilities 
as a public utility. 

IGPC is putting NRG on notice that it will be held accountable for all delays and damages 
resulting from its action or rather inaction. NRG is leaving IGPC no alternative but to 
request the Ontario Energy Board to order NRG to comply with its obligations. 

Brookfield Place, 181 Bay Street, Suite 1800, Box 754 .Toronto. ON . M51 ZT9 . Canada 
T 416.863.1500 F 416.863.151 5 

www.aird berIis.com 



Ailgust 14, 2008 
Pege 2 

Yours very t ~ l y  , 

Scott Stoll 

cc:. Kimten Walli, OEB - Board Secretary 
Brian Hewson, OEB, Chief Complianw OMcer 
Jim Grey, IGPC 
Martin Kovnats, Aird & Berlis 
George Alkalay 

AIRD & BERLIS U P  
Barristers and Solicitors 
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Direct Line: (41 6) 865-3097 
Email: lthacker@litigate.com 

September 17,2008 

VIA EMAIL 

Martin Kovnats 
Aird .k Berlis LLP 
BCE Place, 1 8 1 Bay Street 
Suite 1800, Box 754 
Toronto, ON M5J 2T9 

Dear Mr. Kovnats: 

Re: Natural Resources Gas Limited ("NRG") and 
Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
("IGPC") 

Sct out below is the draft letter of credit that NRG would be prepared to consider: 

"Date of issuc: 

Irrevocable Standby Letter of Credit No.: CT08SOL0048-B 

Amount: CAD 232,666.84 

Date of Expiry: 1 December 2008 

Beneficiary: 
Natural Resource Gas Limited 
PO Box 307 
Aylmer 
Ontario N5H 2 s  1 

Applicant: 
IGPC Ethanol lnc. 
PO Box 205 
89 Progress Drive 
Aylmer 
Ontario N5H 2R9 

Dear Sirs 

At thc request of the Applicant, we, Societe GBnerale (Canada Branch), Suite 
1002, 100 Yonge Street, Toronto, Ontario M5C 2W1 (the "Bank") hereby issue 
our Irrevocable Standby Letter of Credit No. CT08SOL0048-B (this "Letter of 

SUITE 2600,130 ADELAIDE STREET WESI', TORONTO, ONTARIO, CANADA MjH 3P5 
TEI.EPHONE (4 16) 865-9500 FACSIMILE (4 16) 865-90 10 

955381.1 



Credit") in your favour for the maximum aggregate amount of CAD232,666.84 
(Canadian Dollars Two Hundred Thirty Two Thousand Six tlundrcd Sixty Six 
and Eighty Four Cents) available by your Drafi(s) drawn at sight on Socittt 
Genkrale (Canada Branch), Suite 1002, 100 Yongc Street, Toronto, Ontario 
M5C 2W1. 

This Letter of Credit will continue from and will expire at our counters on 
and the Beneficiary may call for paymenr of the full amount outstanding under 
this Letter of Credit at any timc up to the close of business on that date or any 
future cxpiry datc. This Letter of Credit shall be deemed to be automatically 
extended for one year from the present or any future expiration datc hereof, 
unless at least 30 days prior to any such date we shall notify the Beneficiary in 
writing by registered mail or by courier sent to: P.O. Box 307, Aylmer, Onrario, 
N5H 2S1 or such other address as the Beneficiary may designate in writing, that 
we elect not to consider this Letter of Credit renewed for any such additional 
period. Upon and at any time following the Beneficiary's receipt of such notice, 
but prior to the expiry of this Letter of Credit, the Beneficiary may draw 
hereunder. 

The Beneficiary may draw on this Letter of Credit at any time and from time to 
time prior to the cxpiry of this Letter of Credit upon written demand purportedly 
signed by an authorized officer of the Beneficiary accompanied by the original 
of lhis Letter of Credit and all amendments hereto (if any). We shall pay to the 
Beneficiary in accordance with the demand the full amount requested in the 
demand. 

We shall honour your Draft(s) within 3 Business Days after receipt thereof 
without enquiring whether the Beneficiary has the right as betwccn the 
Beneficiary and the Applicant to make such demand, and without recognizing 
any claim of the Applicant. The Bank shall endorse the original of this Letter of 
Credit with the amount of the demand upon its payment and return the original 
of this Letter of Credit to the Beneficiary. 

Partial or multiple drawings are permitted. 

This Letter of Credit is not aansferable." 
Yours truly, 

474 
L wrence E. Thacker 
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Myers, Jonathan 

From: Lawrence Thacker [Ithacker@litigate.com] 

Sent: October 18, 2008 4:18 PM 

To: Myers, Jonathan 

Subject: FW: NRG and IGPC 

Attachments: Aird.PDF 

From: Jill Fraser [mailto:jfraser@airdberlis.com] 
Sent: Wednesday, September 24, 2008 3:58 PM 
To: Lawrence Thacker; Martin Kovnats 
Cc: Jim Grey; Scott Stoll 
Subject: RE: NRG and IGPC 

Please find attached our comments on the letter of credit. The comments are to align the language with the 
requirements of the Gas Delivery Contract, so that it is clear that NRG is entitled to draw on the security deposit 
under the GDC before making a draw on the letter of credit. 

We will forward the letter of credit to Societe Generale in the meantime in order to obtain their sign-off. 

Jill P. Fraser 1 Aird & Berlis LLP I Barristers and Solicitors 
1800 - 181 Bay Street I Toronto ON MgJ 2Tg I Tel: 416-865-7744 
Fax: 416-863-1515 1 Email: jfraser@airdberlis.com 

'I'his email may contain confidential and/or privileged information for the sole use of the intended recipient. Any rcview or distribution by others is 
strictly prohibited. If you have received this email in error, please contact the sender and delete all copies. Opinions, conclusions or other information 
expressed or contained in this email are not given or endorsed by the sender unless otherwise affirmecl independently by the sender. 

From: Rozana Latiff [mailto:rlatiff@litigate.com] On Behalf Of Lawrence Thacker 
Sent: September 17, 2008 12:35 PM 
To: Martin Kovnats 
Cc: Lawrence Thacker 
Subject: NRG and IGPC 

Please see attached. 

Rozana Latiff 
Assistant to Lawrence Thacker 
Lenczner Slaght Royce Smith Griffin LLP 
2600-1 30 Adelaide Street West 
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Toronto, Ontario M5H 3P5 
Tel: (41 6) 865-9500 ext. 259 Fax: (41 6) 865-901 0 
rlatiff@litigate.com www.litigate.com 

This e-mail may contain legally privileged or confidential information. This message is intended only for the 
recipient($ named in the message. If you are not an intended recipient and this e-mail was received in error, 
please notify us by reply e-mail and delete the original message immediately. Thank you. Lenczner Slaght 
Royce Smith Griffin LLP. 



Direct Line: (4 16) 865-3097 
Email: Ithacker@litigate.com 

September 17, 2008 

VIA EMAIL 

Martin Kovnats 
Aird .Pc Berlis LLP 
BCE Place, 181 Bay Street 
Suitc 1800, Box 754 
l'oronto, ON M5J 2T9 

Dear Mr. Kovnats: 

Re: Natural Resources Gas Llmited ("NRG") and 
Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
(bbIGPCn) 

Set out below is the draft letter of credit that NRG would be prepared to consider: 

"Datc of issue: 

Irrevocable Standby Letter of Credit No.: CT08SOL0048-B 

Amount: CAD 232,666.84 

Date of Expiry: 1 December ZOO8 

Beneficiary: 
Natural Resourcc Gas Limitcd 
PO Box 307 
Aylmer 
Ontario N5H 2S I 

Applicant: 
IGPC Ethanol Inc. 
PO Box 205 
89 Progress Drivc 
Aylmer 
Ontario N5H 2R9 

Dear Sirs 

At thc request of the Applicant, wc, Sociktk Gentrale (Canada Branch), Suite 
1002. 100 Yonge Street. Toronto, Ontario M5C 2W1 (the "Bank") hcreby issue 
our Irrevocable Standby Letter of Credit No. CT08SOL0048-B (this "Lctter of 

SUI'I'E 2600,130 ,\DELAlDE STREET WES'f, TORONTO, ON'TAKIO, CANADA MSH 3P5 
TEI.I<I'HONE (4 16) 865-9500 FACSlMlLE (4 16) 865-90 10 



Credit") in your favour for the maximum aggregate amount of CAD232,666.84 
(Canadian Dollars Two Hundred Thirty Two Thousand Six flundrcd Sixty Six 
and Eighty Four Cents) available by your DraR(s) drawn at sight on Societt 
Gknerale (Canada Branch), Suite 1002, 100 Yongc Stre I, Toronto, Ontario 
M s C 2 W I . X  O r n p ~ i e d a ' t h e . & l ~ Q @ 1 3  dowrn&: 
~;&y 

This Letter of rcdit will continue from a and will expire at our counters on 
and tho Beneficiary may call for payment of the full amount outstanding under 
this Letter of Credit at any timc up to the close of business on that date or any 
futurc expiry datc. This Letter of Credit shall be decmed to be automatically 
extended for one year from the prcsent or any future expiration datc hereof, 
unless at least 30 days prior to any such date we shall notify thc Beneficiary in 
writing by registered mail or by courier sent to: P.O. Box 307, Aylmer. Ontario, 
N5H 2SI or such other address as the Bcneficiary may designate in writing, that 
we elect not to consider this Letter of Credit rcnewed for any such additional 
period. Upon and at any time following the Beneficiary's receipt of such notice, 
but prior to the cxpiry of this Letter of  Credit, the Bencficiary may draw 
hereunder. 

We shall honour your Draft(s) within 3 Business Days aftcr receipt thereof 
without enquiring whether the Beneficiary has thc right as betwccn the 
Bcneficiary and the Applicant to make such dcrnand, and without recognizing 
any claim of the Applicant. The Bank shall endorse the original of this Letter of  
Credit with the amount of the dcrnand upon its payment and return the original 
of this Letter of Credit to the Beneficiary. 

Partial or multiple drawings are permitted. 

This Letter of Credit is not transferable." 
Yours truly, 

L 4'/& wrence E. Thacker 



Rider to Letter of Credit 

Rider 1 

Beneficiary's certificate purported.1~ signed by an authorized representative of Beneficiary 
certifying that: 

1. Applicant is not in compliance with the terms of the Gas Delivery Contract dated as of 
January 30, 2007 between Applicant (as assignee of Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative 
Inc.) and Beneficiary (the "Gas Delivery Contract"); and 

2. There is no dispute between Applicant and Beneficiary regarding the existence of such 
non-compliance or, to the extent such a dispute exists, such dispute has been finally resolved in 
accordance with the Gas Delivery Contract and Applicant has not made payment to Beneficiary 
with ten (10) Business Days (as defined in the Gas Delivery Contract) of the final resolution of 
such dispute. 

Rider 2 

This Letter of Credit is subject to the laws of the Province of Ontario and the laws of Canada 
applicable therein to the extent not covered by the Uniform Customs and Practice for 
Documentary Credits, 2007 revision, ICC Publication No. 600. 
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Direct Line: (4 16) 865-3097 
Email: Ithacker@litigate.com 

September 24,2008 

VIA EMAIL 

Jill Fraser 
Aird & Berlis LLP 
BCE Place, 18 1 Bay Street 
Suite 1800, Box 754 
Toronto, ON M5J 2T9 

Dear Ms. Fraser: 

Re: Natural Resources Gas Limited ("NRG") and 
Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
("IGPC") 

I have your letter of today's date. 

Attached arc our comments on your proposed changes to the draft Letter of Credit. 

We do not agree with rider 1. Paragraphs 1 and 2 of rider 1 refer to obligations already 
covered by Part X of the Gas Delivery Contract dated January 30, 2007. Specifically, the Gas 
Delivery Contract expressly sets out the terms and conditions on which NRG is permitted to 
draw upon the security deposit. IGPC is offering the Letter of Credit as the security deposit that 
IGPC is required to deliver to NRG pursuant to the Gas Delivery Contract. 

NRG does not wish to create any ambiguity or uncertainty by adding new conditions in 
respect of contractual rights and obligations already expressly agreed to in  the Gas Delivery 
Contract. 

Yours truly, 

SUITE 2600,130 AIIELAIDE STREET WEST, TORON'I'O, ONTARIO, CANADA M5H 3P5 
TELEPIIONE (4 16) 865-9500 FACSIMILE (416) 865-901 0 

964455.1 



LENCZNER SLAGHT ROYCE 
SMITH GRIFFIN LLP 

BARRISTERS 

Direct Line: (416) 865-3097 
Email: Ithacker@litigate.com 

September 24,2008 

VIA EMAIL 

Martin Kovnats 
Aird & Berlis LLP 
BCE Place, 181 Bay Street 
Suite 1800, Box 754 
Toronto, ON M5J 2T9 

Dear Mr. Kovnats: 

Re: Natural Resources Gas Limited ("NRG") and 
Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
("IGPC") 

Set out below is a revised draft letter of credit that NRG would be prepared to consider: 

"Date of issue: 

Irrevocable Standby Letter of Credit No.: CT08SOL0048-B 

Amount: CAD 232,666.84 

Datc of Expiry: 1 December 2008 

Beneficiary: 
Natural Resource Gas Limited 
PO Box 307 
Aylmer 
Ontario NSH 2s 1 

Applicant: 
lGPC Ethanol Inc. 
PO Box 205 
89 Progrcss Drive 
Ay lmer 
Ontario NSH 2R9 

Dear Sirs 

At the request of the Applicant, we, Sociit6 Gentrale (Canada Branch), Suite 
1002, 100 Yonge Street, Toronto, Ontario M5C 2W1 (the "Bank") hereby issue 
our Irrevocable Standby Letter of Credit No. CTOSSOL0048-B (this "Letter of 

SUI'I'E 2600,130 ADE1,AIDE STREET WEST, TORONTO, ONTARIO, CANADA M51-I 3P5 
't'ELEPI.IONE (4 16) 865-9500 FACSIMILE (4 16) 865-90 10 

964468.1 



Credit") in your favour for the maximum aggregate amount of CAD232,666.84 
(Canadian Dollars Two Hundred 'lhirty Two 'Thousand Six Hundred Sixty Six 
and Eighty Four Cents) available by your Draft(s) drawn at sight on Societe 
GenCrale (Canada Branch), Suite 1002, 100 Yonge Street, Toronto, Ontario 
M5C 2W1. 

This Letter of Credit will continue from and will expire at our counters on 
and the Beneficiary may call for payment of the full amount outstanding under 
this Letter of Credit at any time up to the close of business on that date or any 
future expiry date. This Letter of Credit shall be deemed to be automatically 
extended for one year from the present or any future expiration date hereof, 
unless at least 30 days prior to any such date we shall notify the Beneficiary in 
writing by registered mail or by courier sent to: P.O. Box 307, Aylmer, Ontario, 
N5H 2S1 or such other address as thc Beneficiary may designate in writing, that 
we elect not to consider this Letter of Credit renewed for any such additional 
period. Upon and at any time following the Beneficiary's receipt of such notice, 
but prior to the expiry of this Letter of Credit, the Beneficiary may draw 
hereunder. 

We shall honour your Drafi(s) within 3 Business Days after receipt hereof 
without enquiring whether the Beneficiary has the right as between the 
Beneficiary and the Applicant to make such demand, and without recognizing 
any claim of the Applicant. The Bank shall endorse the original of this Letter of 
Credit with the amount of the demand upon its payment and return the original 
of this Letter of Credit to the Beneficiary. 

Partial or multiple drawings are permitted. 

This Letter of Credit is not transferable." 

'Ibis Letter of Credit is subject to the laws of the Province of Ontario and the 
laws of Canada applicable therein to the extent not covered by the Uniform 
Customs and Practice for Documentary Credits, 2007 revision, ICC Publication 
No. 600. 

Yours truly, 



LENCZNER SLAGHT ROYCE 
SMITH GRIFFIN LLP 

BNCKISI'EHS 

Direct Line: (4 16) 865-3097 
Email: Ithacker@litigate.com 

September 17,2008 

VIA EMAIL 

Martin Kovnats 
Aird .?L Berlis LLP 
BCE Place. 18 1 Bay Street 
Suitc 1800. Box 754 
Toronto, ON M512T9 

Dear Mr. Kovnats: 

Re: Natural Resources Gas Limited ("NRG") and 
Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
((LIGPC*) 

Scr out bclow is the draR lettcr of credil that NRG would be prepared to consider: 

"Dale of issuc: 

Irrevocable Standby Lener of Credit No.: CT08SOL0048-B 

Amount: CAD 232,666.84 

Date of Expiry: 1 December 2008 

Beneficiary: 
Natural Rtsourcc Gas Limitcd 
PO Box 307 
Aylmer 
Ontario N5H 2s I 

Applicant: 
IGPC Ethanol Inc. 
PO Box 205 
89 Progess Drivc 
Aylmer 
Ontario N5H 2R9 

Dcar Sirs 

At thc rcquesr of rhe Applicant, we, SociCtC GdnCrale (Canada Branch), Suite 
1002. 100 Yonge Street, Toronto, Ontario MSC ZWI (the "Bank") hereby issuc 
our Irrevocable Standby Letter of Credit No. CTO8SOL0048-B (this "Lcncr of 

surrs 2600, 130 ADELAIDE STRIXT WES'I', TORONTO), ONTAKIO, CANADA M5H 3P5 
TEI.EI'HONE (4 16) 865-9500 FACSIMILE (4 16) 865-9010 

955381.1 



Credit") in your favour for the maximum aggregate amount of CAD232,666.84 
(Canadian Dollars 'Two Hundred Ihirry Two Thousand Six l?undrcd Sixry Six 
and Eighty Four Cents) available by your Draft(s) drawn at sight on Socitt t  

and thc Beneficiary may call for payment of  the full amount outstanding under 
t h ~ s  Lcner of Credit at any timc up to the close of business on that date or any 
futurc cxpiry datc. This Lcner of Credit shall be decmcd to be automatically 
extended for one ycar from the prcsent or any future expiration dalc hereof, 
unlcss at least 30 days prior to any such date we shall notify the Beneficiary in 
writing by registered mail or by courier sent to: P.O. Box 307, Aylmer, Ontario, 
NSH 2SI or such other addrcss as the Bcneficiary may designatc in writing, h a t  
we elect not to consider this Letter of Crcdit rcnewed for any such additional 
period. Upon and at any time following the Beneficiary's rcceipt of such notice, 
but prior to the expiry of this Lcncr of Credit, thc Beneficiary may draw 
hereunder. 

Wc shall honour your Draft(s) within 3 Business Days after receipt thereof 
without enquiring whether thc Beneficiary has Lhe right as betwccn the 
Bcneficiary and the Applicant to make such dcrnand, and without recognizing 
any claim of thc Applicant. The Bank shall endorse the original of this Letter of 
Credit with the amount of thc dcmand upon its payment and return the original 
of this Letter of Credit 10 the Beneficiary. 

Partial or multiple drawings are permitted. 

This Lctler of Credit is not transferable." 
Yours truly, 

L &74 wrence E. Thacker 



Rider to Letter of Credit 

Beneficiary's certificate purportedly signed by an authorized 
certifying that: 1 Contract dated as of 1. Applicant is not in compliance with the terms of the Gas 
January 30, 2007 between Applicant (as assignee of Int ed Grain Processors Co-operative 
Inc.) and Beneficiary (the "Gas Delivery Contra 

2. There is no neficiary regarding the existence of such 
, such dispute has been finally resolved in 
ant has not made payment to Beneficiary 

elivery Contract) of the final resolution of 

Rider 2 

This Letter of Credit is subject to the laws of the Province of Ontario and the laws of Canada 
applicable therein to the extent not covered by the Uniform Customs and Practice for 
Documentary Credits, 2007 revision, ICC Publication No. 600. 
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Natural Resource Gas Limited 

Wednesday, January 02, 2008 

Registered Mail 

Integrated Grain Processors Co-Operative Inc 
701 Powerline Road 
London, Ontario N3T 5L8 

Attention: Mr. Tom Cox, Chair 

Re: Pipeline Cost Recovery - Ethanol Plant 

Dear Sirs: 

Attached you will find unbilled 3rd party invoices related to  the Pipeline Cost Recovery Agreement and Natural 
Resource Gas Limited's bill for services rendered by staff to date, as follows: 

OEB Administrative Penalty (June 30, 2007 - July 6, 2007) $140,000.00 
Lenczner Slaght Royce Smith Griffin LLP 75,182.63 
Ogilvy Renault LLP 61,975.86 
Natural Resource Gas Limited ($130,006.50 + GST) 136,506,Q 

Total Due and Owing Upon Receipt $417 665.32 

Sincerely, 
Natural Resource Gas Limited 

Per: Mark Bristoll 
President 

Attachments 

P.O. BOX 307, 39 BEECH ST. EAST, AYLMER, ONTARIO N5H 2S1 (519) 773-5321 



Mark J. Bristoll 13 July 2007 

Our file #: 37489 
INVOICE NO. 69539 

TO PROFESSIONAL SERVICES RENDERED with respect to the above matter during the 
period from June 1,2007 to July 12,2007: 

Jun 26/07 To reviewing Energy Board statute and jurisdiction; to 3.2 
researching casc law re scope of authority in response 
to emergency motion; 

Jun 28/07 Prepare for motion; emails (many); telephone 4.1 
conversation with P. Moran, R. King and M. Bristoll; 
rcview documents; review Ontario Energy Act; 

Jun 29/07 Prepare for and attend at Ontario Energy Board 11.0 
hearing; telephone call to P. Moran and R. King; 
tele?honc rdls to M. Bristoll (many); email to M. 
Bristoll; 

Conference call with clients; telephone conversation 1.3 
with M. Bristoll; 

Jul2/07 Telephone call to M. Bristoll; 

JuI 3/07 Email to and from M. Bristoll (many); telephone call 5.0 
to M. Bristol (many); email to and From R. King; 
telephone call to R. King; telephone call to P. Aiken; 
revicw of scenarios; draft Notice of Appeal; 
conference wither N. Loewith; 

Jul4/07 Telephone call to M. Bristoll (many); email to and 5.0 
SUITE 2600, 130 ADElAlDE STREET WEST, TORONTO, ONTARIO, CANADA M 5 H  3P5 

TELEPHONE (416) 865- 9500  FACSIMILE (4 16) 865-90 10 
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from M. Bristoll; draft Notice of Appeal; review of 
Franchise Agreements; ernail to and fiom R. King; 

Jul 5/07 Telephone call to M. Bristoll (many); draft and revise 6.0 
Notice of Appeal; telephone call to R. King (many); 
telephone call to P. Moran; email to and from M. 
Bristoll; letter to D. O'Leary; email to and from R. 
King; 

Jul6107 Telephone call to R. King; telephone call to M. 5.0 
Bristoll; email to and from M. Bristoll; drafl 
settlement proposal; letter to D. O'Leary; email to and 
from M. Bristoll (many) letter from D. O'Leary; letter 
to K. Walli; email to and from P. Morin; 

Lawrence E. Thacker 37.7 @ 575.00 - - 21,677.50 
N. Loewith 3.2 @ 275.00 - 880.00 - 

TOTAL FEES 22,557.50 

TO OUR FEE $23,000.00 

DISBURSEMENTS 

Copies 3.25 T 

TOTAL DISBURSEMENTS $3.25 

TOTAL FEES AND DISBURSEMENTS $23,003.25 

TOTAL TAXES 

G.S.T. on fees 
G.S.T. on disbursements 
G.S.T. (Registration #: R133780817) 

TOTAL BILL 
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TRUST STATEMENT 

Jul 10107 Trust Receipt Natural Resources Gas 

Less amount received from Trust 

TOTAL DUE AND OWING UPON RECEIPT 

Lawrence E. Thacker 
E.& O.E. 

ACCOUNTS DUE WHEN RENDERED. In accordance with Section 33 of the Solicitors Act, interest will be charged 

at thc rate of 4.5% per annurn on unpaid fees, charges and disbursements, calculated from a date that is one month after 

this statement is delivered. 



Mark 1 .  Bristoll 

Our file #: 37489 
INVOICE NO. 69539 

Rc: Integrated Grain I'roccssors 

-10 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES RENLIERED with respect to the above matter during the 
period fiom June I .  2007 to .July 12, 2007: 

.lun 26/07 To reviewing Energy Board statute and jurisdiction; to 
researching case law re scope of'authority in response to 
elnergency motion; 

.Jun 28/07 Prepare for motion; elnails (~nwy) ;  telephoile conversatio~l with 
P. Moran, R. Icing and M. Bristoll; revjew docun~ents; revjew 
Ontario Encrgy Act; 

.Jun 29/07 Prcpnre for and attend at Ontario Energy Board hearing; 
telephone call to P. Moran and R. King; telephone calls to M.  
Rristoll (many); email to M Bristoll; 

Conference call with cl ie~~ts;  [elephone conversation wit11 M 
Bristoll; 

.Jul2/07 Telephone call to M. Brisloll; 

Jul3107 Elnail to and from M. Bristoll (many); telephone call to M. 
RristoI (many); ernail lo and from R. King; telephone call to R. 
King; telephone call to P. Aiken; review of scenarios; drnFt 
Notice of Appeal; conference wither N. Loewith; 

.Jul4/07 Telephone call to M. Bristnll (many); elnail to and from M. 
Bristoll; draft Notice of Appeal; review of'Franchise 
Agreenlents; email to and from R.  King; 
Sl l l lE 2600. 130 ADELAIDE S T R E E T  WEST, lORONI'0, ONTAICIU. CANADA M5H 3P5 

TELEPI.IONE (4 16) 865-9500 FACSIMIL C (4 16) 865-90 )O 
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Jul 5/07 Telephone call to M Brisloll (many); draft and revise Notice of 
Appeal; telephone c;ill to R. King (many); telephone call to f. 
Moran; email to and fi-om M Bristoll; letter to OIL.eaiy: email 
to and from R. King; 

Jlil 6/07 Telephone ci~ll to R. King; telephone call to M. Bristoll; email to 
and from M Bristoll; draft settlement proposal; letter to D. 
O'Lcary; email to and from M Blistoll (rnany) letter from D. 
O'Leary; letter to K. WaJli; ernail to and from P, Morin; 

TO OUR FEE $23.000.00 

Copies 3.25 T 

'TOTAL DISBURSEMENTS $3.25 

TOTAL FEES AND DISBURSEMENTS $23.003.25 

TOTAL TAXES 

G.S.1'. on fees 1,380.00 
G.S.T. on disbursements 20 
G.S.T. (Registration #: R133780817) 1,380.20 

TOTAL BILL $24,383 45 

TRUST STATEMENT 

,Ji l l  10/07 Trust Receipt Natural Resources Gas (1 5,000.00) 

Less amount received from Trust 15,000.00 

TOTAL DUE AND OWING UPON RECEIPT 



Lawrence E. Thacker 
E.& 0 E. 

ACCOUNTS DlJE WHEN RENDERED In accordance with Section 3 3  of the Solicitw:~ rlcr, interest will be charged 

at the rate o f  4.5% per annum on unpaid fees, charges nnd disbursemcnls, calculated from a date that is one nmntl~ oRer 

this statement is delivered 



Mark J. Bristoll 
(Sent Via Email) 

29 November 2007 

Our file #: 37489 
INVOICE NO. 71966 

--. - - .. Re: Integrated Grain Processors - - -  
TO PROFESSIONAL SERVICES RENDERED with respect to the above matter during the 
period from July 1,2007 lo October 3 1,2007: 

Jul 3/07 To receiving instructions from L. Thacker; 

Jul 4/07 To drafting notice of appeal of Board's decision; 

J u l  5/07 To determining filing requirements and certificate of evidence; 

Ju l  9/07 Telephone call to L). O'Leary; letter to D. O'Lcary; letter to M. 
Bristoll; telephone call to M. Dristoll; email to and from M. 
Bristol; 

J 1 1 1  10107 Tslenhclnc call tn M. Rrictnll. email tn and frorn M. Bristnll; 
letter to I). O'Leary; 

Jul 11/07 Email to and from M. Bristoll; memo to file; review Pipeline 
Agreement; telephone call to R. King; telephone call to D. 
O'Leary; telephone call to I). O'Leary; email to and from L). 
O'Leary; telephone call to M. Brisloll; telephone call to R. King; 
letter to D. O'Leary; 

.Jul 12/07 Letters (2) from S. Stall re: transcripts; letter to D. O'Leary; 
prepare appeal materials; 

Jul 13/07 Telephone call to M. Bristoll; letter to D. O'Leary; letter from D. 
0 ' 1   mar\^. t-19 hnn- pP1l to M. prictnI1. . .  r 

SUITE 2600, 130 ADELAIDE STREET WEST, TORONTO, ONTARIO, CANADA MSH 3P5 
TELEPHONE (416) 865-9500 FACSIMILE (4 16) 865-9010 



Jul 18/07 

Jul27107 

Jul29107 

Jul 30107 

Jul 3 1 I07 

Telephone call to P. Moran (2); tclephone call to M. Bristoll(2); 
telephone call to R. King; email to and from P. Moran; draA 
letter to D. OtLcmy; email to M. Bristoll; 

Email to P. Moran and R. King; telephone call to M. Bristoll; 
letter to M. Bristoll; drafi letter to D. OtLeary; review 
agreements; email to and from P. Moran (2); review response of 
P. Moran; 

E ~ . a i l  to and from P. Moran; telephone call to M. Bristoll; letter 
from D. OtLeary; 

Telephone call to P. Moran; cmail to and from P. Moran; 
telephone call to M. Bristoll; telephone call to D. O'Leary; letter 
to D. O'Leary; 

Letter from D. O'Leary (2); telephone call to M. Bristoll; email 
to and from P. Moran; telephonc call to P. Moran (3); 

Letter to D. OfLeary; telephonc call to M. Bristoll; 

To reviewing transcript from OER hearing; to reviewing key 
documents in case to prepare for appeal; 

Telephone call to M. Bristoll; conference with N. 1,oewith re: 
Appeal Rccord; draft Factum; review transcripts; 

Research for N. Loewith for OEB materials; 

To researching law re interference with private contracts; to 
requesting research assistance from librarian; to analysis of 
relevant case law; 

To researching jurisdiction of OEB and similar Boards; 

To researching law re penalty in administrative proceedings; 

To drafting factum re appeal; to revicwing energy decisions; 

Draft Appeal Factum; 

To editing and revising factwn re appeal of OEB decision; 

T A 1 1, "-11 t~ P. " %  rin; t-'-;$t-+~e ::I1 t -  P !. Yst-11; 
telephone call to R. King; prepare Appeal materials; drafi 
r - - d  ,UIJ I. 

7 1966 
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Aug 2/07 

Aug 3/07 

Aug 7/07 

Aug 8/07 

Aug 9107 

Aug 15/07 

Aug 1 7/07 

Sep 10107 

Sep 11/07 

Sep 13/07 

Sep 14/07 

Sep 26/07 

Oct 24/07 

Oct 25/07 

Prepare Appeal Record; 

To preparing documents, including Appeal Book and 
Compendium and Brief of Authorities for appeal; 

'I'elephone call to D. O'Lruy; telephone call to K. SaLJj; i,,;;ao 
to file; 

To preparing documents for file; 

Draft and revise Facturn; prepare Appeal Record; telcphone call 
to K. Sabalj; telephone call to D. O'Leary; 

To final revisions for filing appeal; 

Telephone call to D. O'Leary; letter to I). OILeary; telephone call 
to P. Moran; email to P. Moran; draft and revise Factum; email 
to and from P. Moran; finalize Factum; letter to D. O'Leary and 
C LB; 

To revising Brief of Authorities for filing; 

Telephone call to M. Bristoll; 

Telephone call to M. Rristoll; 

Telephone call to M. Bristoll; email to and from M. Bristol; 

Telephone call to M. Bristoll; 

Receive instructions from I,. Thacker; review appeal 
c ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ I ~ ( ; ; ~ ~ I I  hid .;C(~,'JUI; legal I ~ S G Q L C ~ :  legal Lol~.itc/uer~~ta 0; 

failure to provide written reasons; rncmorandum regarding same; 

Telephone call to D. O'Leary and B. McGarva; 

Prepare for and attend mecting with M. Bristoll, T. Grat and W. 
Suchard in London; 

Telephone call to D. O'Leary; telephone call to M. Bristoll; 

Telephone call to M. Bristoll; 

'Telephone call to M. Bristoll; telephone call to D. OILeary; 

71966 
Page 3 



7 1966 
Page 4 

Oct 26/07 Telephone call to D. O'Leary; telephone call to M. Bristoll; 
email to and fiom D. O'Leary; 

Oct 29/07 Telephone call to M, Bristoll; draft letter to D. 04L,eary; email to 
md from M. Bristoll; letter from D. O'Leary; review proposed 
c'ledule; 

Oct 30/07 Letter to D. OfLcxy; telephone call to M. Bristoll; email to and 
from M. Bristoll; 

Oct 3 1/07 Letter from D. O'Leary; letter to M. Bristoll; tclcphone call to I). 
O'Leary; telephone call to M. Bristoll; 

TO OUR FEE 

DISBURSEMENTS 

Copies 
Fax 
Scanning 
Courier Service 
eCarswell On-line Research 
On-Line Searches 
Transaction Levy Surcharge 
Scanning, coding and printing 
Mileage 
Notice Of Appeal 
Perfecting Of Appeal 
Process Serving 
PrintingtBinding 

TOTAL DISBURSEMENTS 

TOTAL FEES AND IIISBlIKSEMENTS 



7 1 966 
Page 5 

TOTAL TAXES 

G.S.T. on fees 
G.S.T. on disbursements 
G.S.T. (Registration #: R1337808 17) 

TOTAL BILL 

TOTAL DUE AND OWING UPON RECEIPT 

I - - 
Lawrence k. rnac~er 
E.& O.E. 

ACCOUNTS DUE WHEN RENDERED. In accordance with Section 33 of the Solicitors Act, interest will be charged 

at the rate of4.5% per annum on unpaid fees, charges and disbursements, calculated from a date that is ode month after 

this statement is delivered. 



OGl LVY 
RENAULT 

LLP I S.E.N.C.R.L. s.r.1. 

Client: NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 
ItE: Ethanol Pltlnt 
Matter No.: 01012724-0003 

July 13, 2007 
INVOICE: 728429 

GST: 1111 131000C 

NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 
101 Spruce Street East  
P.0.  Box 307 
Aylnrer, Ontario N5H 2Sl 

Attention: Mark Bristoll 
Chairman .. .. . 

For professional services rendered and disbursements incurred 
for thc pcriod ending Julie 30, 2007 

FEES $44,370.00 

DTSRURSEMENTS (Taxable) 117.09 

111 S H I  JRSEMENTS (Non Taxable) 4.65 

TOTAL FOR THIS INVOICE $47,160.97 

Bank Transfer 
Pleare rerat by BdlakTnnrler to RBC F nancnal C - o ~ p ,  Pain Branch. Ruy.ll Bark PLJIJ. Turcvlu. C x a r ~ u  LJIUJ~ 

~ n k  IVJK)~. rraixll OC'OGZ.ACC. NO. IO~-CN-O 
ABA * U/1000021 
$w!fl C O ~ P  Y ROYCCAY? 
lnrludlng invoice number on transfer order 

-- -- --- - -- - 

Sulte 3800 Tclcphonr (41hJ /1b-4000 
Rcydl 6dnk P h d ,  South Tower Fax ( 4  16) 216-3930 
znn RAY S I ~ V P T  

P . 0  Box 84  og~ lvyrenab l t  cnm 
Toronrc, Ontarlo M51 274 
C,?nada 



- 
OGlLW 

RENAULT 
U P  I S  I N.C.R.L.. 5.r.L 

NATlr KAI, RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

RE: Ethanol P l a n t  - -. .. . . 

BILLING SUMMARY 

Hours 
1'. Mornn 33.00 

- Kate Amount 
475.00 $15.675.00 

11. Wclsh 
li. I<ir~g 
I<. Friedman 
M. Forte 
I . A .  Ness 
(:. Walker 

5.00 
17.50 

2.00 
2.50 

20.00 
1.50 

Total 81.50 

Ii'EE DETAIL 
Datc Tlmekceper 

1/6/07 Patrick Moran 

Description Hours Rate Amount 

476.00 $237.50 Telephone call with R, Aiken 
regarding bundled T agreement. 

6/6/07 Patrick Moran Review consent to assignment with 
M. Forte and A. Welsh. 

6/6/07 Mario Forte Review agreements and note 
comments and strategy. 

6/6/07 Ian A. Ncss 

7/6/07 Patrick Moran 

Review agreemenl. 

Email to M. Nelligan regarding 
NRG's need to have continuing 
rights notwithstanding ass~gnrnent 
of NRG agreements. 

Discussion with P. Mornn. Review 
issues. 

8/6/07 Richard J .  IGng 

8/6/07 Ian .9. Ness 

8/6/07 Patrick Moran 

Liaise and update with P. Moran. 

Discussion with P. Moran. 

Email to M. NeUignn regarding 
letter of credlt. 

9/6/07 Andrew Welsh Review and comment on SocGen 
Consent Agreement. 

Discu~sion with P. Mnran. l l/(i/07 Ian A. Ness 

12/6/07 Mario Forte Discuu sion regarding consent 
issues. 

INVOICE: 728429 



OG l LVY 
RENAULT 

LLP / 5.EN.C.R.L.. l1.l 

NR'I'URAL RESOI JRCE GAS LIMITED 

RE: E thano l  Plant 

Date Timekeeper 

13/6/07 Ian A. Ness 

Description Hours Rate Amuunt 
. - 

1.25 650.00 $812.50 Review agreement, comments from 
A. Welsh and other materials. 

13/6/07 Richard J .  Icing Discussion with P. Moran 
regarding matters prior to  financial 
close; discussion with G. Walker; 
further discussion with P. Moran. 

13/6/07 Patriclt Moran Telephone call with H .  &ken 
regarding Bundled 'I' agreement; 
telephone call with M. Nelligan 
regarding status of consent: email 
to L. Parsons. 

1316107 Mario Fortc Dealing with parameters for 
change to consent, etc. 

1416107 Ian A. Scss 

15/6/07 Patrick Moran 

Consolidate comments 

Finalize Bundled T agreement and 
forward same to M. Bristoll for 
cxccution. 

17/6/07 Ian A. Ness 

18/6/07 Ian -4. Ness 

1916107 Ian A. Ness 

Provide comments. 

Review agreement. 

Communications; mark-up of 
agreement. 

2016/07 la11 A. Ness Meeting with P. Moran and A. 
Welsh; revise ngreemcnt and 
provide mark-up. 

2016/07 Andrew Welsh Review 1. Ness mark-up of 
comment; meet I. Ness and 1'. 
Moran regarding same; review 
further I. Ness mark-up. 

211610'7 Ian A. Ness 

2216107 Itichard J. I h g  

Consult P. Moren. 

CalI with M. BristolI; get wire 
instructions; linise with P. Mornn. 

22/6/07 Andrew Welsh Office conference with P. Moran; 
emails regarding conscnt. 

INVOICE: 728429 



OG l LW 
RENAULT 

LWIS.I.NCR.I.,rr.l. 

NATUllAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

HE: , Ethano l  P l a n t  . -. - . 

Date Timekeeper fiescription 

Telephone call with M. Nelligan 
regarding payment of aid-to- 

Hours 
-- 

2.00 

Rate Amount 
- .- 

475.00 $950.00 22/6/07 I-'a trick Moran 

construct and signature pages for 
(:onsent and hundled T agreement; 
t e l e~hone  call and email to M. 
Bristoll rcgarding same; email 
cxchange with L. Parsong; review 
revised consent from L. Parsons. 

22/6/07 Ian A. Ncss Reviewe and revisc new druft 
agreement. 

24/ti/07 Ian A. Ness 

31/6/07 'Indrew Welsh 

Engaged regarding correspondencu. 

Prepare for slid participate in 
conference call with SocGen and 
M'l' regarding consent. 

24/6/07 Patrick Morun Conference cal,l with A. Welsh, G 
Baird and L. Parsuns regarding 
draft consent. 

25/6/07 Itichard J. IGng 

25/1-3107 Patrick Moran 

25/6/07 lan  A. Ncss 

26/6/07 Ilichard J. King 

26/6/07 Geul'hey Wnlker 

Liaiw witah P. Moran; liaise with 
client; get wire instructions. 

Kcvicw draft consent received from 
L. Parsons. 

Con~munication regarding 
agreement. 

Email exchariges with P. Moran 
regarding deadline. 

Telephone with P. Moran rc LC 
payn~aril tax issue. Update and 
finalize tax memo providing advice 
on Canadian tax treatmalt .  

Keview I. Ness mark-up of redraft; 
meeting with 1. Nesrt and P. Moran. 

2GlGI07 Andrew Welsh 

26/6/07 Ian A. Ness Reviewing ugrccmcnt; comments; 
conference call: providing furlhcr 
comments; office consultation; 
mecting to discuss. 



- 
OGILW 

RENAULT 
U P  I SLN.CRL rrl. 

NATI!KAL KESOIJItC15 GAS LIMITED 

RE: Ethanol Plant - 

Datc 'l'imckeeper Descriphon 
. .- . - 

26/6/07 Patrick Mvrun Email exchanges with M. Rristoll; 
review consent with I. Ness and A. 
Welsh and forward same to M. 
Bristoll; prepare and forward 
markups of consent to L. Parsons; 
conference call with L. Parsons, G .  
Raird and I. Neuu. 

?7/6/0'7 Andrew Welsh Rcdraft; office conference with I 
Ness. 

27/6/07 Richard ,T. King Liaise with P. Mol.an ilnd K. 
Fricdman. 

27/6/07 lan A. Ness Dealing with agreemerlt issues and 
comments; review; office 
consultution; conference with 
McCarthye. 

27/6/07 Kelly Friedlnan Telephone calls with Pat  Moran re: 
litigation exposure; telephi~ne call 
with Pat  Moran and client. 

27lfil07 Patrick Moran Email exchange with B. Israel 
regarding legal opinion for consent: 
email exchanges with I. Ness, M. 
Nelligan, M. Bristoll, R. King and 
L. Parsons; telephone calls with M. 
Bristoll regarding consent; 
telephone call with D. O'Leary 
(IGPC) regarding dclay in signing 
consent; conference with I<. 
Friedman and subsequent 
conference calls with M. Bristoll 
regarding consequences of not  
executing consent. 

Hours Rate Amount 

4.00 475.00 $1.900.00 



- 
OGlLW 

RENAULT 
UP I S.E.N.CPC, rrl. 

N.L\'I'I!RI\L HESOUKCIS GAS LIMITED 

HE: Ethrtnol P l a n t  -. -. . .- - . . 

Ilate Timekeeper Description Hours Rate Amount - - -- 

28/6/07 Patrick Moran Numerous conference calls with M. 6.00 475.00 $2,850.00 
Bristnll and R. Kirig; review 
application materials served by 
IGPC; telephone calls with I,. 
Thacker regarding emergency 
application by IGPC to assist him 
in preparing to appear on behalf of 
NRG; emails to M. Bristoll 
regarding need to sign consent 
regarding same; telephone calls 
from D. O'Leary (ICPC) and 
telephone call from D. Woodward 
(Aylmcr) to express concern ahout 
failure to execute consent; review 
letter from U. Woodward and 
forward same to M. Bristoll; 
telephone call from Board counsel 
rcgarding scheduling of emergency 
application by ICPC; review 
emergency procedural ordcr and 
forward same lo M. Bristoll. 

28/6/07 k c h a r d  J. King Liaise with M. Rristnll, I<. 6.75 500.00 53,375.00 
Friedman and P. Moral1 rcgarding 
 risk^ of failing to exccute consent 
and other documentution; 
cur~siderntion of litigation needs of 
client; liaise with I,. Thacker; 
review motion mtiterials from Aird 
& Bcrlis; numeroua conversations 
with client, P. Moran and olhers 
regarding motion. 

28/6/07 I<elly Priedmun Discussione with Richard King. 1 .OO 510.00 $510.00 

28/6/07 1 an A. N e ~ s  Communication with P. Moran, R.  0.50 G50.00 $:325.00 
King. 

INVOICE: 728129 



OG ILW 
RENAULT 

LLP I %L.N.C.R.L n . L  

NA'I'URL\L RESOTIRCE GAS 1,IMITET) 

RE: Ethanol P l a n t  

Uatc Timekeeper Dcscription Hours Rate Arnouril 
-- -- 

29/6/07 Richard J. King Listen to Ontario Energy Board 6.50 500.00 $3,260.00 
motion; numerous conference calls 
with L. Thacker, M. Bristoll and P. 
Moran regarding progress of 
motion, compliance hearing, offers 
to setitle, options for Board, 
conscquences of non-cnmpliancc 
and other matters; obtain Nolicc of 
Appeal and Stcly Motion 
precedents. 

29/6/07 Patrick Moral1 Numerous conference calls 10.00 475.00 $4,750.00 
regarding execution of consent and 
monitoring emergency application 
brought by IGPC; draft non- 
disclosure agreement for L. 
Thacker; commence draft notice of 
appeal; advice to M. Bristoll and L. 
Thacker regarding settlement 
option. 

30/6/07 Patrick Moral1 Conference call with M. Bristoll 1.75 475.00 $831.25 
and L. Thacker; conference call 
with It. King and R. Aiken 
regarding settlement option; 
telephone call with M. Bristoll 
regarding same. 

50/6107 Kichnrd J. King Continuing email exchanges with 0.26 50U.00 $ 1  25.00 
P.  Moran, M. Brist.011 and L. 
Thacker. 

TOTAL FEES $44,370.00 

DISBUIISEMENTS - TAXABLE - -- - 
I'hotocopies 17.00 
Long distance calls 42.34 
Conference call 57.65 

$1 l r .n9 



OGlLW 
RENAULT 

LLP 1I.E.N C R.L. 5.r.L 

NATUI1A1, RESOURCE GAS T,IhlITED 

HE: Ethanol P l a n t  - .- 

DISBURSEMENTS - NUN TAXABLE -- -- 
Provincial Sales 'I'ax 4.65 

$4.65 

DJSRIIHSC:MER"I' DETAIL - TAXABLE 

lla t.c! Timckccper Description 
5/5/07 Patrick hloran Conference call - ENUhTCIATE 

CONFERENCING 
11/5/07 Patriclc Moran Conference call - ENUNCIATE: 

CONFERENCING 
82/9/07 Patrlck Moran Conference call - ENUNCIA'I'E 

CONFERENCING 
25i5/0'7 Patrick Moran Conference call - ENUNCIATE 

CONFERENCING 
1/6/07 Patrlck Moran Long distance calls 15193518624 
(;/C/O7 Sandra Vandcrbrug Photocopies 
6/6/07 Sandra Vanderbrug 13hotocopies 
13/G107 Patrick Moran Long distance calls 15 1935 18624 

-- Amount 
19.60 

28.91 
TOTAL $117.09 

I)ISBLIRSEMEN'I' IIE'TAII. - NON 'TAXABLE 
l ln tc . Tlrnc?keeper Description Amount 
5/5/07 Patrick Moran Provincial Sales  ax-1 ENUNCIATE 1.60 

CONFERENClNG 
11/5/1)7 Patrick Moran Provincial Sales Tax - ENUNCIATE 0.02 

CONFERENClNG 
22/5/07 Patrick Moran Provincial Sales Tax - ENUNCIATE 1.19 

CONFERENCING 
25/5/07 Patrick Moran Provincial Salcs Tax - ENUNCIATE 1.84 

CONFERENCINC 
TOTAL $4.65 



RENAULT 

Client: NATURAL RESOIJRCE GAS JdMITED 
RE: Ethanol Plant 
M a l k r  No.: 01012721-0003 

August 21, 2007 
INVOICE: 737740 

GST: K 1 I 1 :i4000Ci 

NATURAL HESOURCE GAS LIMITED 
101 Sprucc Street East 
l'.O. BOX 307 
~\ylmcr,  Ontario N5H 2S1 

,lttentio~i: Murk Hri~toll 
Chairman ----- >. . .-- 

For professional services rerldered and disbursements incurred 
for the pertod ending July 31, 2007 

FEES $13.850.00 

1) 1SRLJRSF:MENTS (Taxable) 117.44 

DISBURSEMENTS (Non Taxable) 9.40 

GST 

TOTAL FOR THIS INVOICE $14,814.89 

- - . - - . . - - - .- - . . . - . . .. - - . . . . . - -. - . . .. . 

Bank Transfer 

-I,..?\' ~o,i:!r+, ,I m p b  WII,  ~>,;yrr V I I I  IU W V  :d<Irw k10.v P C~ ,C  !CI~III by Sank lrarrler to R3C l~nanctal Croup, hlnn BrJnrh. Roysl Bank Plaza Toronlo. Urld. fu Cyararld 
O d r t  003. Trans11 NCOZ.Arr Nn 1W-330 0 
~ B A  D r12ioam?i 
Swilt Cude a I U V L C A T /  

, ... - . . 
~ncllldlng lnvnlrp number on transfer order. -- 
S l . ~ l r  lHW lelephonc (416) C l  h~4(XX) 
Scyal U a r ~ k  Plafd. >buLh lower i d x  (416) Zl6-jYJC 
200 Bay Street 
P.O. Bux 84 o g ~ l v y r c ~ r r ~ i ~ i l  ,ii>111 

,..!,,,. .,, .,, + I , . ,  ;ororl(u, (.)!itar80 MSJ 224 
Canada 



OGILVY 
RENAU LT 

LLY I S.E.N.C RL, rr .1  

NATIIWL RESOURCE GAS 1,LMITED 

RE: E t h a n o l  P l n n t  

BILLING SUMMARY 

.- . . .. . 
11. King 

-- -. Hours Rate Amount 
17.25 600.00 $8,625.00 

FEE DETAIL 
Date Timekeeper 

. 
2/7/07 Patrick Moran 

3/7/07 Patrick Moran 

3/7/07 Richard J. IGng 

4/7/07 Richard J. King 

11 -00 475.00 $5,225.00 
Total 28.25 $13,850.00 

Description Hours Rate Amount 
. . 

Review transcript from the Ontario 1.50 475.00 $71 2.50 
Energy Board regarding penalty; 
finalize draft notice of appeal for L. 
Thacker. 

Telephone call with L. Thacker rind 0.50 475.00 $237.50 
telephu~le call with M. Rristoll 
regarding status of consent issue. 

Legal research regarding ICPC 4.00 500.00 $2,000.00 
bypass; liaise with client and L. 
Thacker; get Union contact 
information; review letter; note to 
client on bypass and options for 
client. 

Conferences with R. King and L. 2.00 476.00 $960.00 
Thacker regarding options for 
NRG; review franchise agreement 
and npplicablc legislation, email to 
K.. k n g .  

Numerous emails with client on 3.75 500.00 $1.875.00 
rcgulatury isvuco - bypass, 
requirement for written order, rate 
implications of proposals; liaise 
with P. Moran and L. Thacker on 
numerous issues: get franchise 
agreements and forward same. 



OG l lVY 
RENAULT 

I LP I < E N.C R.L.. s.r.1 

NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

RE: Eti~anol Plant 

Date 'I'~rnckccpcr l)escription Hours Ratc Amount 

5/7/07 Richard J ,  lGng Conference calls with hl. Bristoll, 3.00 500 00 $1,500.00 
P. Moran and L. 'l'hacker regarding 
~ett lernent,  Scenario 2, and letter 
from IGPC; review materiala from 
other side; revicw provisions of 
OEB Act regarding transfer of 
leave to construct; discussion with 
R. Aiken. 

5/7/07 Patrick Moron 

6/7/07 Patrick Moran 

6/7/07 Richard J. I n g  

11/7/07 Richard ,T. King 

Telephone call6 with L. Thacker; 
email exchanges wilh L. Thacker 
regarding settlement; conference 
call wilh L. Thacker and M. 
Bristoll regarding requirement for 
lender consent. 

Telephone calls with R. King and L. 
Thacker: review correlrporidence 
from D. O'Leary and providc advice 
on reply correspondence. 

Numerous calls with L. Thacker, 
M. Uristoll and P. hloran regarding 
settlement and Scenario 2 offer; 
review correspondence; voice~nails 
from client. 

Discussion with M. Bristoll. 

17/7/07 Richard J. King ltcvicw cmails; call from 34. 
Bristoll; review Aird letter. 

17/7/07 Pntrick Moran Telephone call wilh S. Stoll 
regarding next stcps; telephone call 
with L. Thacker regarding gas 
delivery contract; email to M. 
Bristoll regarding IGPC 
obligations. 

18/7/07 Richard J. King Call from M. Bristoll; ruvicw email 
regarding aid-to-construct; review 
Pipeline Cost and Recovery 
Agreement: liaise with P. Mornn; 
review draft lcttcr. 



UP1 5.LN.C.R.L.r.r.l. 

KA'l'lIHAI, HKSOI JRCE GAS LIMITED 

RE: Ethano l  Plant . -- -- -- .- 

Llntc Timekeeper Description -- 
18/7/07 Patrick Moran Emails to M. Bristoll regarding 

"take on pay" question; email to I,. 
Thacker regarding questions about 
NRG agreemcnt; email to L. 
Thacker regarding draft letter to 
IGPC rcgarding requ~remcnt hy 
IGFC to produce aid to construct 
and letter of credit. 

19/7/07 Patrick Moran Telephonc call with S. Stoll 
regarding IGPC letter regarding 
timing of pipeline and voicemail to 
L. Thacker. 

2017107 Patrick Moran Review draft lctter to TGPC from I>. 
Thncker and email to L. T h ~ c k e r  
rcgarding same. 

2017107 Richard J. I h n g  Review draft letter fiom L. Thacker 
with P. Moran. 

23/7/07 Patriclc Mornn Review letter from IGPC regarding 
letter of credit; tclephone call with 
t,. Thncker regarding same and 
follow-up emails. 

23/7/07 Richard J. King Telepho~ie call with P. Moran. 

TOTAL FEES 

Hours Rtlte Amount 
- 

1.00 475.00 $475.00 

T)ISBURSEMENTS - TAXABLE . . ... . .. 

ConLerence call 117.44 -- 
$117.44 



- 
OG I LVY 

RENAULT 
U P  IS t N C R.L, s.r.1 

NATUHAI, LCESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

1ZE: Ethanol Plant - . . . - 

DISBURSEMENTS - NON TAXABLE -- 
Provinc~al Sales Tax 9.40 

$9.40 

Date - 
13/6/07 

29/6/07 

29/6/07 

29/6/0'? 

29/6/07 

:I 0/(5/07 

3016107 

Timekeeper --- Description 
Richard J. King Conference call - ENUNCIATE 

CONFERENCING 
Patriclc hlorun Conference all - ENUNCIATE 

CONFERENCING 
Patrick Moran Conference call - ENUNCIA'I'E 

CONFERENCING 
Patriclc Moran Conference call - ENUNCIATE 

CONFERENCING 
Patrick Morun Conference call - ENUNCIATE 

CONFERENCING 
Patrick Moran Conference caIl - ENUNCIATE 

CONFERENCING 
Patrick Mornn Conference ctill - ENUNClA'l'E 

CONFERENCING 

Amount 
38.49 

I)ISHURSEMENT DE'I'AII, - NON TAXABLE 
Ilate -- Timekeeper Descriptjo_nn 
13/6/07 Richard J. King ProvinciaI Sales Tax - ENUNCIATE 

CONFERENCING 
29/6/07 Patrick Morsn Provincial Sales Tax - ENUNCIATE 

CONFERENCING 
29/6/07 Patrick Mornn Provincial Salea Tax - ENUNCIATE 

CONPEKENCING 
29/6/07 Patrick Moran Provillcid Sales Tax - ENUNCIATE 

CONFEICUNCING 
29/6/07 Patrick Moran Provincial Sales Tax - ENUNCIATE 

CONFERENCING 
30/G/07 Patrick Mornn Provincial Sales Tax - ENUNCIATE 

CONFERENCING 
:$016/07 Patrick Moran Provi~lciel Sales Tax - ENUNCIATE 

CONFERENCING 

INVOICE: 737740 

Amount 
3.08 

1.26 

0.01 

1.28 

0.84 

0.17 

- 
TOTAL $9.40 



t 
Natura l  Resource Gas L im i t ed  
I n teg ra ted  Gra in  Processors Co-Operative I nc .  
Bi l l ing Summary  441.10 $ 295.00 $ 130,006.50 

Date 
12-Jun-06 

Descr ip t ion 
Review email from R. King re: IGPC 
information request 
Meeting w R. Aiken & P. Moran regarding 
Ethanol facilities, meeting w Ethanol 
Plant representatives 

Hours  

0.50 

Rate  

$ 295.00 

Cost  

$ 147.50 

Review email & attachements from R. 
King wrt  precedent capital contribution 
agreements & other gas agreements 
Review email from R. King 
Review Aiken & Associated invoice # 618- 
2006 DATED June 30, 2006. 
Discussion w R. King re: items to do as a 
result o f  meeting w Ethanol 
Review of public meeting notice for 
proposed pipeline 
Telephone call with P. Moran & S. Stoll 
wrt Cost Recovery Agreement 

Telephone call w P. Moran regarding 
meeting scheduled for August 25 & wrt 
conversation w E. Laratta of Senes 
Review email from B Isreal wr t  letter of 
credit 
Meeting w P. Moran wrt  construction 
process, meeting with IGPC 
representatives regarding pipeline 
Discussion w P. Moran wrt  letter sent to 
OEB by IGPC 

Aid ModelingICost Allocation/Rate Design 
Review Ogilvy Renault invoice # 633876 
dated July 13, 2006 
Review Ogilvy Renault invoice # 633876 
dated August 16, 2006 

Aid ModelingICost AllocationIRate Design 

Aid ModelingICost Allocation/Rate Design 
Telephone call w P. Moran wrt letter from 
Town of Aylmer to OEB 



Natura l  Resource Gas L im i t ed  
I n teg ra ted  Grain Processors Co-Operative Inc .  
B i l l ing Summary  441.10 $ 295.00 $ 130,006.50 

Date 
8-Sep-06 

Descr lp t ion Hou rs  Ra te  Cost 

Aid Modeling/Cost Allocation/Rate Design 1 -00  $295 .00  $ 295.00 

discussions w R. King & P. Moran 
regarding OEB meeting & correspondence 
from S. Stoll & Town of  Aylmer Mayor 1 -00  $ 295.00 $ 295.00 

Meeting w P. Moran, E. Larratta of SENES 
to review draft environmental report for 
pipeline group, meeting w P. Moran and 
IPGC a t  OEB with Board Vice-Chair to  
discuss status and timing of Leave to  
Construct application 

Aid Modeling/Cost Allocation/Rate Design 
Meeting in Aylmer w P. Moran, Mayor of 
Town of  Aylmer &Town of Aylmer 
Administrator 
Telephone call w Pat Moran wrt  capital 
cost estimate 
Telephone call w P Moran regarding 
approach to Capital Cost 
Telephone call w title searcher re OEB 
requlrements 

Aid Modeling/Cost Allocation/Rate Design 
Telephone call w M. Moran 
Review of Pipeline Cost Recovery 
Agreement 

Aid Modeling/Cost Allocation/Rate Design 
Telephone w R. King 
Review SENES environmental report 

Review email correspondence from P. 
Moran & telephone call w P. Moran re 
captial cost estimate, draft agreements, 
draft Leave to  Construct application. 

Review revised Cost Recovery Agreement 
Project Meeting w A. Geden 



Natural Resource Gas Limited 
Integrated Grain Processors Co-Operative Inc. 
Billing Summary 441.10 $ 295.00 $ 130,006.50 

Date 
25-Sep-06 

Description 
Meeting w P. Moran & IGPC, 
teleconference w Town of Aylmer 
Review of capital cost estimate, draft 
agreements & draft Leave to Construct 
Application 
Meeting with A. Geden of AECON 

Aid Modeling/Cost Allocatton/Rate Design 
Teleconfernce w P. Moran & A. Geden of 
AECON to review RFQ process and time 
line. Conference call w P. Moran, IGPC, 
AECON & Town of Aylmer re: weekly 
update, f/u converation w A. Geden & P. 
Moran 
Telephone call w P. Moran regarding IGPC 
comments on distribution agreement, 
AECON letter regarding estimate & sole- 
sourcing question 
0&M, Bundled T Contract, Contract 
Review 
Review Ogilvy Renault invoice # 648627 
dated September 15, 2006 
Review Harrison Pensa LLP invoice # 
128596 dated September 27, 2006 
Review Aiken & Associated invoice # 632- 
2006 DATED June 30, 2006. 
0&M, Bundled T Contract, Contract 
Review 
Telephone call with P. Moran & A. Geden, 
conference call w Town of Aylmer, IGPC & 
NRG 
O&M, Bundled T Contract, Contract 
Review 
Title Search preparation 
Telephone call w P. Moran €4 H. Adams 
Review email from P. Moran regarding 
Cost Recovery Agreement & Draft Leave 
to Construct Application 
Review Route Map from SENES 
Telephone call w P. Moran & H. Adams 
regarding letter agreement 

Hours Rate Cost 

4.00 $ 295.00 $ 1,180.00 



Natura l  Resource Gas L im i t ed  
In tegya ted  Gra in  Processors Co-Operative I nc .  
Bi l l ing Summary  441.10 $295 .00  $ 130,006.50 

Date 
13-0ct-06 

Descr ip t ion Hours 
Conference call w P. Moran, IGPC & Town 
of Aylmer wrt status report, discuss next 
steps & finalize Leave to Construct 
application for filing 2.00 
Review AUE Utility Engineering invoice # 
262 dated 09/27/2006 0.20 
Review revisions to Cost Recovery 
Agreement w P. Moran 1.00 
O&M, Bundled T Contract, Contract 
Review 1.00 

Ra te  Cost 

Telephone call with P. Moran, A. Geden, 
S. Stoll, M. Adams regarding Pipe Order 
O&M, Bundled T Contract, Contract 
Review 1.00 
Review of revised Pipeline Cost Recovery 
Agreement 1.50 
Review Harrision Pensa LLP invoice # 
128871 dated October 17, 2007 0.10 
Conference call w P. Moran & IGPC, f/u 
call with P. Moran wr t  'rhames Centre 
transmission line concerns. 2.00 
Review of AECON proposal for sole source 
contract & teleconference w A. Geden & 
P. Moran 0.75 

Review email from P. Moran wrt  service 
requirements for notice of application 0.25 
Conference call 
Review SENES environmental report 1.00 
Review email from P. Moran re: SENES 
environmental report 0.30 
Telephone call w P. Moran wr t  Thames 
Centre transmission line concerns, 
conference call w P. Moran & H. Adams 
re: Thames Centre transmission line 
concerns 0.75 
Weekly Conference call w P. Moran, A. 
Geden, Town of Aylrner & IGPC 1.00 
Review AUE Utility Engineering invoice # 
383 dated 10/25/2006 0.20 



Natural Resource Gas Limited 
Integrated Grain Processors Co-Operative Inc. 
Billing Summary 441.10 $ 295.00 $ 130,006.50 

Date 
13-NOV-06 

Description Hours 
Review Ogilvy Renault invoice # 655974 
dated October 17, 2006 0.20 
Review email from P. Moran regarding 
Leave t o  Construct Application 
intervenors, & procedures 0.30 
Review Aiken & Associated invoice # 635- 
2006 dated October 31, 2006. 0.10 

Rate 

$ 295.00 

Cost 

$ 59.00 

Review Union Pipeline location agreement 1.00 
Review Leave t o  Construct Application 6.00 
Telephone call w S. Millar regarding 
Delivery of  Notice €2 Franchise 
Agreements, teleconference w P. Moran & 
A. Geden 1.00 

Weekly Conference call w P. Moran, A. 
Geden, Town o f  Aylmer & IGPC, 
Discussion w S. Millar regarding service 1.50 
Telephone call w 5.  Millar wrt  finalization 
of service arrangements 0.50 
Review emails wrt  Thames Centre 
proposed conference call w local 
municipalities 1.50 
Review of email from P. Moran wrt 
Municipalities conference call 0.30 
Telephone call w P. Moran wrt  conference 
call w local municipalities 0.25 

Conference call w P. Moran, S. Millar re 
publication of  notice in L'Observatuer, f l u  
conversation w S. Millar 1.00 
Review email from A. Geden wrt  SENES 
distribution list 0.10 
Review email & attachement from M. 
Kotriy 3.00 
Review Martin Malette invoice # 2378 
dated Nov 20, 2006 0.10 
Telephone call w P. Moran & S. Millar re 
affidavit of service, weekly conference 
call 2.00 
Affidavid of Service 2.00 



Natural Resource Gas Limited 
Integrated Grain Processors Co-Operative Inc. 
Billing Summary 441.10 $ 295.00 $ 130,006.50 

Date 
28-NOV-06 

Description 
Review email from P. Moran re letter to 
OEB from Middlesex County 
Review email from A. Geden wr t  County 
of Middlesex 
Telephone call w P. Moran & H. Adams 
Telephone call w P. Moran re preparation 
for Technical Conference & Middlesex 
County concerns 
Review interrogatories for IGPC & OEB 
Staff 
Affidavid of Service 
Leave to  Construct Apptication Hearing 
Preparation 
Weekly Conference Call w P. Moran 
Review ernail from A. Geden wrt Union 
Gas 
Review ernail from A. Geden wrt 
landowner correspondence 
Review ernail from A. Geden wrt  Union 
Gas 
Prepare email to  S. Stoll re Union Gas 
meeting 
Review email from A. Geden wrt  
landowner correspondence 

Hours Rate Cost 

Prepare for meeting o f  December 4, 2006 

Meeting w Union Gas wrt custody transfer 
Review email from A. Geden wr t  
Municipality o f  Thames Centre 

Conference Call w P. Moran, R.. Aiken re: 
Leave to Construct Application Hearing 
Meeting w P. Moran, A. Geden & SENES 
to  review interrogatories and prepare for 
technical conference 
Prepare ernail to  A. Geden wrt  
Environmental Permits 
Leave t o  Construct Application Hearing 
Preparation 
Review L'Observateur involce # 1780 
dated 11/28/2006 



Natura l  Resource Gas Limited 
I n t eg ra ted  Gra in  Processors Co-Operative I nc .  
Bi l l ing Summary  441.10 $ 295.00 $ 130,006.50 

Date 
6-Dec-06 

Descr ip t ion 
Telephone conversation w P. Moran re 
SENES retainer for technical conference & 
hearing 
Leave t o  Construct Application Hearing 
Preparation 
Attendance a t  Technical Conference 
Weekly Ethanol Conference Call 
Review TSSA invoice # P0610-18532 
dated Oct 31, 2006 
Attendance at  wltness preparation 
meeting 
Review of  Bid Package 
Review London Free Press invoice # 
013423061202 dated Dec 02, 2006 
Weekly Ethanol Conference Call & 
telephone call w P. Moran wrt hearing 
Leave to  Construct Application Hearing 
Preparation 
Hearing Hearing Attendance 
Attendance a t  OEB for Leave to Construct 
Hearing 
Review email from P. Moran wr t  Bid 
Package 
Draft Delivery Contract review 
Review FKS Land Surveyors invoice # 06- 
426 dated December 13, 2006 
Weekly Conference Call 
Review ernail from A. Geden wrt Weekly 
Conference Call 
Meeting w. P. Moran t o  review pipeline 
contract 
Meeting w. P. Moran t o  review plpeline 
agreements 
Revlew Ogilvy Renault invoice # 673462 
dated December 14, 2006 
Review Ogilvy Renault invoice # 665207 
dated November 17, 2006 
Review email from A. Geden wrt  
Construction Tender 
Weekly Ethanol Conference call, f l u  with 
P. Moran & A. Geden of  AECON 

Hours  Ra te  Cost 



Natura l  Resource Gas L im i t ed  
I n teg ra ted  Gra in  Processors Co-Operative Inc .  
Bi l l ing Summary  441.10 $ 295.00 $ 130,006.50 

Date 
6-Jan-07 

Descr ip t ion Hours  Ra te  Cost 
Review Gowlings invoice # 1613661 
dated December 20, 2006 0.10 $ 295.00 $ 29.50 
Review of Pipeline Depreciation 3.00 $ 295.00 $ 885.00 
Review email from A. Geden wrt 
Municipality of Thames Centre 0.10 $295 .00  $ 29.50 
Conference call with Pat Moran & Randy 
Aiken 1.00 $ 295.00 $ 295.00 
Telephone conference with P. Moran & R. 
Aiken wrt  pipeline depreciation 1.00 $ 295.00 $ 295.00 
Review email from A. Geden wrt 
Decommissioning 0.30 $ 295.00 $ 88.50 

Weekly Ethanol Conference call, f l u  with 
P. Moran & A .  Geden of AECON, review of 
procedural order by OEB with P. Moran 
Review Aiken & Associated invoice # 642- 
2006 dated December 29, 2006. 
Review AUE Utility Engineering invoice # 
315 dated 12/31/2006 
Conference call w P. Moran & R. Aiken 
wrt deprecation of pipeline 
Conference call w P. Moran & R. Aiken 
wrt deprecation of pipeline 
Weekly Ethanol Conference call, f l u  
phone call w P. Moran 
Review of draft Bundled T Service 
Agreement 

Review of draft Cost Recovery Agreement 
Telephone call w P. IYoran wrt  draft Cost 
Recovery Agreement & f l u  

Review of  Senes Consultants Limited 
invoice # 21965 dated January 18, 2007 
Review of Vlva Voce Reporting Ltd. 
invoice dated 12/31/26 
Telephone call w P. Moran & f/u 
Weekly Ethanol Conference Call & 
telephone calls with P. Moran wrt 
agreements & decommissioning issues & 
f/ u 
Review email from A. Geden 



Natural Resource Gas Limited 
Integrated Grain Processors Co-Operative Inc. 
Billing Summary 441.10 $ 295.00 $ 130,006.50 

Date 
29-Jan-07 

Description 
Telephone call w Randy Aiken re: 
decomissioning cost recovery 
Telephone call w P. Moran wr t  agreement 
revisions & f l u  
Review of  A.S.A.P. Reporting Services 
Inc. invoice # 181 dated 01/22/2007 
Review o f  Olgilvy Renault LLP invoice # 
680927 dated January 17, 2007 
Telephone call w P. Moran & 8. Isreal wr t  
agreements & f l u  

Telephone call w & email exchanges & 
review w P. Moran relating to finalization 
of  agreements for execution 

Review email from A. Geden wr t  Survey 

Review email f rom A. Geden wr t  Survey 
Review o f  Olgilvy Renault LLP invoice # 
687364 dated February 6, 2007 
Revlew email f rom A. Geden wrt 
Construction Tender 
Review ernail from A. Geden wr t  
Municipality of  Thames Centre 
Review email f rom A. Geden wr t  
Municipality of  Tharnes Centre 
Review o f  Aiken & Associates invoice # 
21965 dated January 18, 2007 

Review o f  Integrated Grain Processors Co- 
operative Inc. cost recovery summary & 
invoice dated February 16, 2007 

Review of  Integrated Grain Processors Co- 
operative Inc.  cost recovery summary & 
invoice dated February 19, 2007 
Review o f  A.S.A.P. Reporting Services 
Inc. invoice # 304 dated 02/20/2007 
Review of  AUE Util ity Engineering invoice 
347 dated 02/20/2007 
Review o f  Doyle Welding Consultants 
invoice # 1249 dated Dec 18, 2006 

Hours Rate Cost 

2.25 $ 295.00 $ 663.75 

1.00 $ 295.00 $ 295.00 

0.20 $ 295.00 $ 59.00 

0.30 $ 295.00 $ 88.50 

2.00 $ 295.00 $ 590.00 



Natural Resource Gas Limited 
Integrated Grain Processors Co-Operative Inc. 
Billing Summary 441.10 $ 295.00 $ 130,006.50 

Date 
8-Mar-07 

Description 
Review email from A. Geden wrt  Pipe 
Order 
Review email from A. Geden wrt  Pipe 
Order 
Review of  A.S.A.P. Reporting Services 
Inc. invoice # 366 dated 02/20/2007 
Review email from A. Geden wr t  Pipe 
Order 

Hours 

0.20 

0.10 

0.20 

0.10 

Rate 

$ 295.00 

$ 295.00 

$ 295.00 

$ 295.00 

Cost 

$ 59.00 

$ 29.50 

$ 59 -00 

Prepare email t o  A. Geden wrt Pipe Order 
Review of  Bundled T Contract 
Review email from A. Geden wrt  Pipe 
Order 
Review email from A. Geden wrt  Pipe 
Order 
Review email from A. Geden wr t  
Construction Tender 
Review email from A. Geden wrt 
Construction Tender 
Review email from A. Geden wrt 
Construction Tender 
Review email from A. Geden wrt  Stantec 
Consulting & Permits 
Review email from A. Geden wrt Stantec 
Consulting & Permits 

Prepare email t o  A. Geden wr t  Pipe Order 
Prepare email t o  B. Isreal wrt Letter of  
Credit 
Review email from A. Geden wrt 
Municipality of Thames Centre 
Review email from B Isreal wr t  letter of 
credit 
Telephone conversation w Bob Isreal 
Review email from A. Geden wrt  
Municipality of Thames Centre 
Review email from A. Geden wrt  
Municipality of  Thames Centre 
Review email from A. Geden wrt  Pipe 
Order 
Review email from A. Geden wrt Pipe 
Order 



Natural Resource Gas Limited 
Integrated Grain Processors Co-Operative Inc. 
Billing Summary 441.10 $ 295.00 $ 130,006.50 

Date 
19-Mar-07 

Description 
Review email from A. Geden wrt Pipe 
Order 
Review ernail from A. Geden wrt Pipe 
Order 

Hours Rate Cost 

Prepare email to A. Geden wrt Union Gas 

Prepare email to A. Geden wrt Pipe Order 
Meeting w Union Gas & A. Geden 
Review of Bundled T Contract 
Review of Bundled T Contract 
Review of Bundled T Contract 

Review of Integrated Grain Processors Co- 
operative Inc. cost recovery summary & 
invoice dated March 28, 2007 
Review of Bundled T Contract 
review of FKS Land Surveyor inovice 
dated 3/21/2007 
Review email from A. Geden 
Meeting w P. Moran, V. Helbronner, G. 
Walker regarding construction tender, 
letter of credit tax issue, bundled T 
contract and consent to assignment 
Review email from A. Geden wrt Pipe 
Order 
Review email & attachments from G. 
Walker 

Review email from V. Helbronner wrt 
Consent & Acknowledgement Agreement 
Review email from V. Helbronner to B. 
Isreal wrt  Consent & Acknowledgement 
Agreement 

Prepare informatln package for B. Isreal 
Review email from B Isreal to V. 
Helbronner 
Review email from V. Helbronner to 6.  
Isreal wrt Consent & Acknowledgement 
Agreement 



Natural Resource Gas Limited 
Integrated Grain Processors Co-Operative Inc. 
Billing Summary 441.10 $ 295.00 $ 130,006.50 

Date 
24-Apr-07 

Description 
Conference call wi th Pat Moran, B. Isreal 
& V. Helbronner regarding consent for 
assigment 
Review email f rom V. Helbronner to B. 
Isreal w r t  letter o f  credit 
Review email  f rom B Isreal to  V. 
Helbronner 
Review email  f rom V. Helbronner to 6. 
Isreal w r t  letter of credit 
Review email  f rom V. Helbronner t o  0.  
Isreal w r t  Consent & Acknowledgement 
Agreement 
Review email  from P. Moran 
Review email  f rom A. Geden wr t  Stantec 
Consulting & Permits 
Review email  f rom A. Geden 
Review email  f rom A. Geden 
Review emall  f rom A. Geden wr t  
timelines 
Telephone call w Pat Moran regarding 
pipeline construction t iming issues, 
bundled T agreement 
Review email  & attachments f rom G. 
Walker 
Review email  & attachments f rom G. 
Walker 
Review email  f rom A. Geden wrt  feeder 
line for Ethanol Plant 
Review email  f rom A. Geden wr t  feeder 
line for Ethanol Plant 
Review draft letter f rom G. Walker 
Review of email  f rom P. Moran wr t  
con tracts 
Review email  f rom 6 Isreal re  Aird Berlis 
email o f  June 26, 2007 
Review email  f rom 6 Isreal to P. Moran 
Review email from B Isreal to  P. Moran 
Review email  from L. Thacker 
discussions w R King, L. Thacker re: 
Emergency Hearing 

Hours Rate Cost 



Natura l  Resource Gas L im i t ed  
I n teg ra ted  Grain Processors Co-Operative Inc. 
Bi l l ing Summary  441.10 $ 295.00 $ 130,006.50 

Date 
28-Jun-07 

Descr ip t ion 
Receipt of  Affidavits of Gordon Baird, 
Martin Kovnats, Heather Adams and 
Notice of  Motion re; Emergency Notice of 
Hearing 
Review of  letter from Aird & Berlis to  OEB 
Chair Howard Wetston 
Review of  letter from Lerners LLP to P. 
Moran 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Review email f rom L. Thacker 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Review email from L. Thacker 
OEB Emergency Hearing 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Review email from L. Thacker 
OEB Emergency Hearing 

Hours  Ra te  Cost 

Review email f rom R. Kiqg wrt scenarios 
OEB Emergency Hearing 
OEB Emergency Hearing 
Review email from R. King 
Review email from R. Aiken wrt  rates 
Review email from R. Latiff on behalf of 
L. Thacker 
Review of  email from R. King 

Review email from R. King w~ scenarios 
Review email from R. Aiken wr t  rates 
Review email from R. Latiff on behalf of 
L. Thacker 



Natural Resource Gas Limited 
Integrated Grain Processors Co-Operative Inc. 
Billing Summary 441.10 $ 295.00 $ 130,006.50 

Date 
4-Jul-07 

Description 
Review email from R. Latiff on behalf of 
L. Thacker 
Review email from L. 'thacker 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Review email from L. 'Thacker 
Discussions w Randy Aiken 
Review email from R. Latiff on behalf of 
L. Thacker 
Review email from R. Latiff on behalf of 
L. 'Thacker 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Revlew email from L. Thacker 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Review email from R. Latiff on behalf of 
L. Thacker 
Review email from R. Latlff on behalf of 
L. Thacker 
Review email from R. Latiff on behalf of 
L. Thacker 
Review email from P. Moran 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Review ernail from L. Thacker 
Review ernail from L. Thacker 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Review email from R. Latiff on behalf of 
L. Thacker wrt  letter to  Mr. O'Leary of 
Aird & Berlis LLP 
Review email from R. Latiff on behalf of 
L. Thacker 
Review email from R. Latiff on behalf of 
L. 'thacker 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Review email from R. Latiff on behalf of 
L. Thacker 
Review email from R. Latiff on behalf of 
L. Thacker 
Review email from R. Latiff on behalf of 
L. Thacker 

Hours Rate Cost 



Natural Resource Gas Limited 
Integrated Grain Processors Co-Operative Inc. 
Billing Summary 441.10 $ 295.00 $ 130,006.50 

Date 
10-Jul-07 
11-Jul-07 
1 1-JuI-07 
11-Jul-07 

Description 
Review emall from L. Thacker 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Review email from R. Latiff on behalf of 
L. Thacker 

Review email from L. Thacker wrt letter 
of July 12, 2007 from Aird & Berlis LLP 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Review email from A. Geden wrt 
proposed pipeline alignment 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Review email from R. Latiff on behalf of 
L. Thacker 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Review email from R. Latiff on behalf of 
L. Thacker 
Review emall from R. Latiff on behalf of 
L. Thacker 
Review email from R. Latlff on behalf of 
L. Thacker 
Review email from R. Latiff on behalf of 
L. Thacker 
Review letter from L. Thacker to Aird & 
Berlis LLP 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Meeting w BNS wrt letter of credit & 
project financing 
Review of email from BNS 
Review email from R. Latiff on behalf of 
L. Thacker 
Review email from A. Geden wrt Pipeline 
Decommissioning 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Discussions w Bob Isreal re: L/C 
Review of Gas Delivery Contract & 
Pipeline Cost Recovery Agreement 
Prepare email to A. Geden wrt  pipe order 
quotation or sourcing 

Hours Rate Cost 
0.10 $295 .00  $ 29.50 
0.10 $ 295.00 $ 29.50 
0.10 $ 295.00 $ 29.50 



Natural Resource Gas Limited 
Integrated Grain Processors Co-Operative Inc. 
Billing Summary 441.10 $ 295,OO $ 130,006.50 

Date 
7-AUCJ-07 

Description 
Review email from A. Geden wr t  Pipe 
Order 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Attendance at  Public meeting for 
proposed Ethanol Pipeline 
Telephone call from L. Thacker 
Review email from 6 Isreal re Cost 
Recovery Agreement 
Telephone call from L. Thacker 
Review email from B Isreal wrt  letter of 
credit 

Hours Rate Cost 

Prepare email t o  A. Geden wrt pipe order 

Prepare email to A. Geden wrt  Pipe Order 

Prepare email to A. Geden wrt  Pipe Order 
Review letter from B. Isreal re: Pipeline 
Cost Recovery Agreement & Gas Delivery 
Contract 
Review ernail from L. Thacker 
Review ernail from L. Thacker 
Prepare for meeting with L. Thacker 
Prepare email t o  A. Geden wrt  pipe order 
technical specifications 
Review email from B Isreal wrt  letter of 
credit 
Prepare for and attend meeting with L. 
Thacker 
Prepare email t o  A. Geden wr t  pipe order 
technical specifications 
Review email from L. Thacker 

Prepare email t o  A. Geden wrt  pipe line 
Telephone call from L. Thacker 
Review email from A. Geden wr t  Pipe 
Order 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Review email from A. Geden wrt  Pipe 
Order 
Review email from A. Geden wrt Pipe 
Order 



Natural Resource Gas Limited 
Integrated Grain Processors Co-Operative Inc. 
Billing Summary 441.10 $ 295.00 $ 130,006.50 

Date 
27-Sep-07 

Description Hours 

Prepare email t o  A. Geden wr t  pipe order 0.10 
Review email from A. Geden wrt  High 
Pressure Main t o  Ethanol Plant 0.20 
Review email from A. Geden wrt  Pipe 
Order 0.10 

Prepare email t o  A. Geden wr t  Pipe Order 0.10 
Review email from A. Geden wrt Pipe 
Order 0.10 
Review email from A. Geden wrt  Pipe 
Order 0.10 
Review email from A. Armenti of Lakeside 
Steel Corporation wr t  pipe order 
CSA/Lakeside Certifications 0.10 

Review email from A. Armenti of Lakeside 
Steel Corporation wrt  pipe order 0.10 

Review email f rom A. Armenti of Lakeside 
Steel Corporation wrt pipe order terms & 
condltions, including warranty 0.10 
Review email f rom A. Geden wrt  Pipe 
Order 0.10 
Review email from A. Geden wrt  Pipe 
Order 0.50 
Review email from A. Geden wrt  Pipe 
Order 0.50 
Review email from A. Geden wr t  Pipe 
Order 0.50 
Review email from A. Geden wrt Pipe 
Order 0.10 
Review email from A. Geden wrt  Pipe 
Order 0.10 

Forward email t o  A. Geden wrt Pipe Order 0.10 
Review email f rom A. Geden wrt  Pipe 
Order 0.30 
Review email from A. Geden wrt  Pipe 
Order 0.10 
Review email f rom A. Geden wrt  Union 
Gas station design 0.10 

Rate 

$ 295.00 

$ 295.00 

$ 295.00 

$ 295.00 

$ 295.00 

$ 295.00 

Cost 

$ 

$ 

8 

8 

8 

8 



Natural Resource Gas Limited 
Integrated Grain Processors Co-Operative Inc. 
Billing Summary 441.10 $ 295.00 $ 130,006.50 

Date 
9-Oct-07 

Description Hours Rate 

$ 295.00 

$ 295.00 

$ 295.00 

Cost 

Prepare email to  A. Geden wrt  pipe order 0.10 

Prepare email to  A. Geden wrt  Union Gas 0.10 

Review email from F. Brlceno wrt pipeline 0.10 
Review email from A. Geden wr t  Union 
Gas meeting 0.10 
Review email from A. Geden wr t  Union 
Gas meeting 0.10 
Review email from A. Geden wr t  Pipe 
Order Specifications 0.10 
Review ernail from A. Geden wrt  Union 
GasOrder 0.10 
Review email from A. Geden 0.10 
Review email from A. Geden wrt  Union 
Gas 0.10 

Review revised Cost Recovery Agreement 1.50 
Meeting w A. Armenti of Lakeside Steel 
Corpora tion 3.00 
Review email from A. Armenti of Lakeside 
Steel Corporation wrt pipe order delivery 
dates 0.10 
Review email from A. Armenti of Lakeside 
Steel Corporation wrt  pipe order delivery 
dates 0.10 

Review email from A. Armenti of Lakeside 
Steel Corporation wrt pipe order 0.10 
Review email from F. Briceno wrt  Eigin 
County Approval 0.10 
Review email from A. Armenti of Lakeside 
Steel Corporation wrt  pipe order 
references 0.10 
Prepare email t o  L. Thacker 0.20 
Telephone call from L. Thacker 0.40 

Review email from A. Armenti of Lakeside 
Steel Corporation wrt  pipe order pricing 0.10 
Review email from A. Geden wrt meeting 
w Union Gas 0.20 



Natural Resource Gas Limited 
Integrated Grain Processors Co-Operative Inc. 
Billing Summary 441.10 $ 295.00 $ 130,006.50 

Date 
25-0ct-07 

Description 
Prepare email to A. Armenti of Lakeside 
Steel Corporation 
Review email from A. Geden wrt  Union 
GasOrder 
Review email from R. Latiff on behalf of 
L. Thacker 
Review email from F. Briceno wrt 
Middlesex County 

Hours Rate Cost 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Review email from F. Briceno wrt pipeline 
Review email from F. Briceno wrt 
Middlesex County Approval 

Prepare email t o  A. Armenti of  Lakeside 
Steel Corporation wrt  pipe order 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Prepare ernail to  L. Thacker 
Prepare ernail to  L. Thacker 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Review email from R. Latiff on behalf of 
L. Thacker 
Prepare email to  L. Thacker 
Prepare email t o  L. Thacker 
Prepare email t o  L. Thacker 
Review email from A. Armenti of Lakeside 
Steel Corporation wrt  pipe order 
quotation 
Review ernail from R. Latiff on behalf of 
L. Thacker 
Review email from L. Thacker 
Prepare email to  L. Thacker wrt pipe 
order chronology 
Prepare email to L. Thacker 
Review emall from L. Thacker 
Prepare email to  L. Thacker 
Prepare email to  L. Thacker 
Prepare email to  L. Thacker 
Prepare email t o  L. Thacker 
Review email from R. Latiff on behalf of 
L. Thacker 
Review email from L. Thacker 



Natural Resource Gas Limited 
Integrated Grain Processors Co-Operative Inc. 
Billing Summary 441.10 $ 295.00 $ 130,006.50 

Date 
2-NOV-07 

Description Hours 
Review ernail from R. Latiff on behalf of 
L. Thacker 0.10 
Review email from L. Thacker 0.10 
Review email from L. Thacker 0.10 
Prepare ernail t o  L. fhacker 0.10 
Review email from L. Thacker 0.10 
Review ernail from L. Thacker 0.10 
Review ernail f rom A. Arrnenti of Lakeside 
Steel Corporation wrt pipe order 
quotation extension 0.10 
Meeting with Bradley 2.00 
Review ernail f rom L. Thacker 0.10 
Prepare ernail to  L. Thacker 0.20 
Prepare email to  L. Thacker 0.20 
Review email from R. Latiff on behalf of 
L. Thacker 0.10 
Review email from R. Latiff on behalf of 
L. Thacker 0.10 
Review ernail from L. Thacker 0.10 
Prepare ernail t o  L. Thacker 0.20 
Prepare ernail to  L. Thacker 0.20 
Prepare email to  L. Thacker 0.20 
Prepare email t o  L. Thacker 0.20 
Prepare emall t o  L. Thacker 0.20 
Review email from L. Thacker 0.10 
Prepare email to  L. 'thacker 0.20 
Review email from A. Geden wr t  Pipe 
Order 0.10 
Review email from A. Geden wrt  Pipe 
Order 0.10 
Review email from A. Geden wr t  Pipe 
Order 0.10 
Review ernail from A. Geden wrt Pipe 
Order 0.10 
Review email f rom A. Geden wrt Pipe 
Order 0.10 

Rate Cost 

Review ernail from A. Arrnenti of Lakeside 
Steel Corporation wrt pipe order 0.10 

Review ernail f rom A. Arrnenti of Lakeside 
Steel Corporation wrt pipe order 0.10 



Natural Resource Gas Limited 
Integrated Grain Processors Co-Operative Inc. 
Billing Summary 441.10 $ 295.00 $ 130,006.50 

Date 
8-NOV-07 

Description Hours 
Review email from A. Armenti of Lakeside 
Steel Corporation wrt  pipe order GST & 
PST 0.10 

Rate Cost 

Prepare email to  A. Armenti of Lakeside 
Steel Corporation wrt  quotation extension 0.10 
Review email from A. Armenti of Lakeslde 
Steel Corporation wrt  pipe order rolling 
dates 0.10 
Prepare email to  L. Thacker 0.20 
Review email from L. Thacker 0.10 
Review email from L. Thacker 0.10 
Review email from R. Latiff on behalf of 
L. Thacker 0.10 

Review email from A. Armenti of Lakeside 
Steel Corporation wrt pipe order 0.10 

Prepare email to  A. Armenti of Lakeside 
Steel Corporation wrt  US dollar 0.10 
Review email from L. Thacker 0.10 
Prepare email to  L. Thacker 0.20 
Review emall from A. Armenti of Lakeside 
Steel Corporation wrt  pipe order purchase 
order 0 , lO 
Review email from L. Thacker 0.10 
Review email from A. Geden wr t  meeting 
w Town of  Aylmer re final alignment 
issues 0.10 

Review email from A. Armenti of Lakeside 
Steel Corporatlon wrt pipe order 0.10 

Review email from A. Armenti of Lakeside 
Steel Corporation wrt  pipe order 0.10 

Review email from F. Briceno wrt pipellne 0.10 
Review email from F. Briceno wrt rail 
crossings 0.10 
Review email from F. Briceno wrt  rail 
crossings 0.10 



Natural Resource Gas Limited 
Integrated Grain Processors Co-Operative Inc. 
Billing Summary 441.10 $ 295.00 $ 130,006.50 

Date Description Hours Rate Cost 
16-NOV-07 

Review email from A. Armenti of Lakeside 
Steel Corporation wrt credit application 0.10 $ 295.00 $ 29.50 

20-NOV-07 
Review ernail from F. Briceno wrt pipeline 0.10 $295 .00  $ 29.50 

23-Nov-07 Review ernail from L. Thacker 0.10 $ 295.00 $ 29.50 
27-Nov-07 Review ernail from L. Thacker 0.10 $ 295.00 $ 29.50 
29-Nov-07 Review email from F. Briceno wrt 

Township of Malahide 0.10 $ 295.00 $ 29.50 
29-Nov-07 Review ernail from A. Armenti of Lakeside 

Steel Corporation wrt pipe order 
quotation 0 , lO  $ 295.00 $ 29.50 



Appendix 0 



LENCZNER SLAGHT ROYCE 
SMITH GRIFF~N LLP 

BARRISTERS 

Direct Line: (4 16) 865-3097 
Ernail: Ithacker@litigate.com 

February 22,2008 

VIA EMAIL 

Dennis M. O'Leary 
Aird & Berlis LLP 
BCE Place, 181 Bay Street 
Suite 1800, Box 754 
Toronto, Ontario 
M5J 2T9 

Deslr Mr. O'Leary: 

Re: Natural Resources Gas Limited and Integrated Grain 
Processors Co-operative Inc. 

NRG has now had an opportunity to fully review your letter of January 9, 2008. I will 
respond to your comments in the order raised in your letter. 

1. You assert that the invoices of Lenczner Slaght LLP and Ogilvy Renault "are not 
executed". Attached are copies of the signed invoices from Lencmer Slaght LLP and 
signed cover letters from Ogilvy Renault. These invoices were rendered to NRG by 
its solicitors, for work done in connection with the IGPC pipeline project. Whether or 
not IGPC has paid the amounts invoiced, NRG is liable to pay those amounts. In any 
event, NRG has paid in full the invoices of Lencmer Slaght and Ogilvy Rcnault in 
full. 

2. You criticized the invoices because they "do not attempt to characterize the nature of 
the amounts" claimed. The legal work done is plainly stated in the detailed time 
dockets set out in each of the solicitors' invoices. All of the work done by the 
solicitors was done solely in connection with the IGPC pipeline project. This is clear 
on the face of the invoices. There is no need to further characterize anything. The 
work done was "work required to plan, design, construct, install, test and commission 
the Utility connection facilities." 

3.  Section 3.3(b) of the Pipeline Cost Recovery Agreement dated January 31,2007 
("PCRA") requires that IGPC will pay NRG "for reasonable internal, consulting 
and third party expenses incurred in the prior calendar month within fiftrcn (15) 
BuJncsb Uajs  oi'reeei\iny sud~ lri~rulcc". Ezmyraph 3.4(b) of the PClW conlinns 

SUITE 2600, 130 ADELAlDE STREET WEST, TORONTO, ONTARIO, CANADA M5H 3P5 
TELEPHONE (4 16) 865-9500 FACSIMILE (4 16) 865-90 10 



that those costs include, but are not limited to, "overhead, engineering, surveying, 
consultant, legal, major materials (pipe, metres, major equipment, heating equipment 
costs), easement, internal and external construction and commission and costs". 

IGPC is liable to pay the costs incurred by NRG pursuant to the PCRA. 

4. Previous invoices rendered by NRG have been paid. NRG followed exactly the same 
process as it has for previous invoices, by providing you with copies of the invoices 
for costs incurred by third party advisors or contractors. They are all reasonable costs 
payable under the PCRA. IGPC's failure to pay those costs is a breach of its 
obligations owed to NRG under the PCRA. 

5 .  NRG has not paid the administrative penalty set by the OEB. NRG has appealed the 
OEB Orders by Notice of Appeal dated July 5, 2007. NRG has perfected its appeal. 
Neither the OEB nor IGPC has responded to the appeal. However, NRG is prepared 
to agree that until it pays this amount to IGPC, IGPC is not required to pay it to NRG. 

6.  The fees and expenses incurred for work done by Lenczner Slaght LLP relate to legal 
work, legal services and other strategic and project management advice rendered to 
NRG solely in connection with the construction of the IGPC pipeline. All of the 
services provided by Lenczner Slaght LLP to NRG were related to "pipeline work". 
IGPC is required to pay NRG all of its costs associated with the IGPC pipeline 
construction project. 

If IGPC wishes to make submissions with respect to costs in the motion, it may do so 
in the appropriate form. IGPC's failure to even respond to the appeal casts doubt on 
its assertion that it has any entitlement to costs. However that is an issue to be 
determined in the appropriate judicial forum, and has nothing to do with IGPC's 
obligations to NRG under the PCRA. The costs of the NRG appeal and the 
underlinine motion are properly determined in those proceedings. m d  not in m y  OER 
dispute resolution process under the PCRA. 

' I .  The fees and expenses incurred for work done by Ogilvy Renault LLP for NRG are 
required to be paid in full by IGPC under the PCRA. Since the commencement of this 
project, NRG has billed IGPC for its reasonable costs incurred in connection with the 
construction of the IGPC Pipeline. Paragraph 3.3(b) of the PCRA specifically 
provides that IGPC is required to pay NRG "for reasonable internal, consulting and 
third party expenses". The amounts invoiced by NRG are reasonable, internal 
expenses which IGPC is required to pay. The hourly rate charged by NRG of $295 
per hour is less than the fees charged by most of the third party contractors to NRG 
for which NRG has paid and is required to be paid under the PCRA. 

8. NRG has required that communications go through counsel because the conduct of 
IGPC, including constant lobbying efforts and making false and defamatory 



statements to the public as part of its campaign to manipulate and influence the 
political process and public opinion, has caused NRG to seek legal advice. NRG has 
at all times complied with its obligations under the PCRA. There is nothing that 
requires NRG to expose itself to IGPC's conduct without the advice of counsel. In 
any event, there has been no delay in any work required under the PCRA as a result 
of NRG obtaining legal advice to protect the interests of all of its stakeholders, 
including its individual and commercial customers and the municipalities in which it 
operates. 

9. IGPC's assertion that NRG has made demands for payment or agreement on short 
notice is quite simply false. IGPC has at all times provided information to NRG on a 
timely basis. On many occasions, timelines are short. These are timelines imposed 
on NRG by its third party contractors. 

10. IGPC appears to be incapable of complying with its financial obligations. It has 
repeatedly demonstrated either a lack of financial capacity or a simple unwillingness 
to comply with its obligations to advance funds to NRG or to third party contractors 
to NRG for the purchase of raw materials and services required to ensure the pipeline 
project proceeds on a timely basis. 

These delays have been caused by its lenders, who apparently are unwilling to allow 
IGPC to pay amounts it is specifically obligated to pay under the PCRA, within the 
time required for payment. These are issues between IGPC and its lenders. They in 
no way mitigate or limit IGPC's obligation to NRG. In any event, the suggestion that 
the delays were caused by NRG's conduct is simply false. 

For example, IGPC has failed to pay amounts owing to Union Gas under the Aid-to- 
Construct provisions. In order to assist IGPC, NRG has obtained several extensions 
to the deadlines imposed by Union Gas. Yet IGPC refuses to pay the amounts owing 
and instead chooses to let deadline after deadline lapse. 

Similarly, NRG has obtained extensions for IGPC to pay amounts owing to Lakeside 
Controls. However, for no good reason, IGPC has again refused to pay the amounts 
owing to Lakeside Controls when required. By its refusal to pay, IGPC has caused a 
delay in the delivery by Lakeside Controls of components required to complete the 
pipeline. 

Whether this is caused by IGPC's management, or its lender's refusal to authorize the 
release of funds, it is in no way caused by any act or omission of NRG. NRG is not 
responsible for IGPC's financial inability or refusal to pay amounts that IGPC is 
required to pay under the PCRA. 

11. Your suggestion that NRG has refused to allow IGPC any opportunity to comment on 
t l ~ z  tender documents is false. Firsr, NKG has no obligation to allow ICiYC an 



opportunity to comment on the tender documents. However, despite having no 
obligation to do so, NRG has provided a copy of the tender package to IGPC. IGPC 
reviewed it with its solicitors and provided detailed comments. Those comments 
were incorporated into the tender documents. As a result, IGPC has fully reviewed 
and has specifically approved of every document contained in the tender package. 

IGPC demanded that NRG provide a copy of the tender package to the contractor 
who is building the ethanol plant. Although NRG was willing to do so, this is clearly 
an example of IGPC attempting to improperly influence the tender process. IGPC 
also attempted to persuade NRG to abandon the tender process and instead award the 
project to its preferred contractor with whom it has a prior relationship. IGPC only 
abandoned its efforts to persuade NRG to sole source the work when IGPC's 
preferred contractor advised that it was incapable of completing the work required to 
construct the pipeline in the time required. 

It is ironic that IGPC has suggested it has concerns about NRG's willingness to engage in 
a competitive quotation process, when it was IGPC that attempted not only to subvert the 
competitive quote process and award the project to a contractor without any competitive process 
at all, but also attempted to ensure that contractor was the contractor IGPC has already chosen to 
build the ethanol facility. 

IGPC's conduct suggests that it does not have the financial resources to complete the 
project. Certainly its recent conduct suggest that it is either unwilling or unable to pay amounts 
due and owing when required to ensure the construction projects proceeds along the timelines 
required. 

IGPC's inability to obtain the finance required to complete the pipeline construction 
project, or even to ensure that it proceeds along the timelines agreed to in the PCRA, is solely the 
responsibility of IGPC. NRG has no responsibility for IGPC's inability to obtain the financing 
required to complete the project, or its refusal to pay amounts payable to NRG under the PCRA 
on a timely basis. 

Yours truly, 

LET/kfEw/rl 

cc Naomi Loewith 



Mark J. Bristoll 
(Sent Via Email) 

29 November 2007 

Our file #: 37489 
INVOICE NO. 71%6 

Re: Integrated Grain Frocsaaors 

TO PROFESSIONAL SERVICES RENDERED with rtspect to the above matter during the 
period h m  July 1,2007 to October 3 1,2007: 

Jul3107 To receiving instructions fiom L. Thacker; 

Jul4107 To draAing notice of appeal of Board's decision; 

Jul5/07 To determining filing requirements and certificate of evidence; 

Jul9107 Telephone call to D. 0 2 ~ ;  letter to D. O'Leary; letter to M. 
Bristoll; telephone call to M. Bristoll; email to and fiom M. 
Bristol; 

Jul 10107 Telephone call to M. Bristoll; email to and from M. Bristoll; 
letter to D. O'Leary; 

Jul 11/07 Email to and h m  M. Bristoll; memo to file; review Pipeline 
Agreement; telephone call to R. King; telephone call to D. 
O'Leary; telephone call to D. O'Leary; email to and fiom D. 
O'Leary; telephone call to M. Bristoll; telephone call to R. King; 
letter to D. O'Leary; 

Jul 12/07 Letters (2) fiom S. Stall re: transcripts; letter to D. O'Leary; 
prepare appeal materials; 

Jul 13/07 Telephone call to M. Bristoll; letter to D. O'Leary; letter fiom D. 
O'Leary; telephone call to M. Bristoll; 

SUITE 2600,130 ADELAIDB !XREf3 W T ,  TORONTO, ONTARIO, CANADA M5H 3P5 
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Jul 17/07 Telephone call to P. Moran (2); telephone call to M. Bristoll(2); 
telephone call to R. King; email to and from P. Moran; draft 
letter to D. OtLeary; email to M. Bristoll; 

Ernail to P. Moran and R. King; telephone call to M. Bristoll; 
letter to M. Bristoll; draft letter to D. O'Leary; review 
agreements; email to and from P. Moran (2); review response of 
P. Moran; 

Email to and h m  P. Moran; telephone call to M. Bristoll; letter 
from D. OZeary; 

Telephone call to P. Moran; email to and from P. Moran; 
telephone call to M. Bristoll; telephone call to D. OtLeary; letter 
to D. 0baI-y; 

Letter h m  D. OZeary (2); telephone call to M. BristoU; email 
to and h m  P. Moran; telephone call to P. Moran (3); 

Letter to D. OtLcary; telephone call to M. Bristoll; 

To reviewing transcript from OEB hearing; to reviewing key 
documents in case to prepare for appeal; 

Telephone call to M. Bristoll; conference with N. Loewith re: 
Appeal Record; draft Factum; review transcripts; 

Research for N. Loewith for OEB materials; 

To researching law re interference with private contracts; to 
requesting research assistance from librarian; to analysis of 
relevant case law; 

To researching jurisdiction of OEB and similar Boards; 

To researching law re penalty in administrative proceedings; 

To drafting facturn re appeal; to reviewing energy decisions; 

Draft Appeal Factum; 

To editing and revising factum re appeal of OEB decision; 

Telephone call to P. Morin; telephone call to M. Bristoll; 
telephone call to R. King; prepare Appeal materials; draft 
Facturn; 

71966 
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Aug 2/07 

Aug 3/07 

Aug 7/07 

Aug 8/07 

Aug 9/07 

Aug 15/07 

Aug 17/07 

Sep 10107 

Sep 11/07 

Sep 13/07 

Sep 14/07 

Sep 26107 

Oct 24/07 

Oct 25/07 

Prepare Appeal Record, 

To preparing documents, including Appeal Book and 
Compendium and Brief of Authorities for appeal; 

Telephone call to D. O'Leary; telephone call to K. Sabalj; memo 
to file; 

To preparing documents for file; 

Draft and revise Factum; prepare Appeal Record, telephone call 
to K. Sabalj; telephone call to D. O'Leary; 

To i i d  revisions for filing appeal; 

Telephone call to D. O'Leary; letter to D. O'Leary; telephone call 
to P. Moran; email to P. Moran; draft and revise Factum; email 
to and fium P. Moran; finalize Factum; letter to D. OILeary and 
OEB; 

To revising Brief of Authorities for filing; 

Telephone call to M. Bristoll; 

Telephone call to M. Bristoll; 

Telephone call to M. Bristoll; email to and fiom M. Bristol; 

Telephone call to M. Bristoll; 

Receive instructions fiom L. Thacker; review appeal 
compendium and facturn; legal research: legal consequences of 
failure to provide written reasons; memorandum regarding same; 

Telephone call to D. OZeary and B. McGarva; 

Prepare for and attend meeting with M. Bristoll, T. Grat and W. 
Suchard in London; 

Telephone call to D. O'Leary; telephone call to M. Bristoll; 

Telephone call to M. Bristoll; 

Telephone call to M. Bristoll; telephone call to D. OILeary; 

71966 
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Oct 26/07 Telephone call to D. O'Leary; telephone call to M. Bristoll; 
email to and h m  D. OZeary; 

Oct 29/07 Telephone call to M. Bristoll; draft letter to D. O'Leary; email to 
and from M. Bristoll; letter from D. O'Leary, review proposed 
schedule; 

Oct 30107 Letter to D. O'Leary; telephone call to M. Bristoll; email to and 
from M. Bristoll; 

Oct 31/07 Letter from D. O'Leary; letter to M. Bristoll; telephone call to D. 
OZeary; telephone call to M. Bristoll; 

TO OUR FEE 

Copies 
Fax 
Scanning 
Courier Service 
eCarswell On-line Research 
On-Line Searches 
Transaction Levy Surcharge 
Scanning, coding and printing 
Mileage 
Notice Of Appeal 
Perfecting Of Appeal 
Process Serving 
PrintingIBinding 

TOTAL DISBURSEMENIY 

TOTAL FEES AND DISBURSEMENTS 



71966 
Page 5 

TOTAL TAXES 

G.S.T. on fees 
G.S.T. on disbursements 
G.S.T. (Registration #: R133780817) 

TOTAL BILL 

TOTAL DUE AND OWING UPON RECEIPT 

LENCZNER SLAGHT ROYCE 
S M I ~  GRIFFIN LLP 

E.& O.E. 

ACCOUNTS DUE WHEN RENDERED. In accordance whh Section 33 of the Solicitors Act, iutcrcst will ba charged 

at the mte of 4.5% per m u m  od unpaid fees, charges and disburstments, calculated h m  a date that is one month after 

this sEatement is delivered. 



Mark J. Bristoll 13 July 2007 

Our file #: 37489 
INVOICE NO. 69539 

Re: lategntted Grain Processom 

TO PROFESSIONAL SERVICES RENDERED with respect to the above matter during the 
period from June 1,2007 to July 12,2007: 

Jun 26/07 To reviewing Energy Board statute and jurisdiction; to 3.2 
researching case law re scope of authority in response 
to emergency motion; 

Jun 28/07 Prepare for motion; emails (many); telephone 4.1 
conversation with P. Moran, R King and M. Bristoll; 
review documents; review Ontario Energy Act; 

Jun 29/07 Prepare for and attend at Ontario Energy Board 11.0 
hearing; telephone call to P. Moran and R. King; 
telephone calls to M. Bristoll (many); email to M. 
Bristoll; 

Conference call with clients; telephone conversation 1.3 
with M. Bristoll; 

Jul2107 Telephone call to M. Bristoll; .3 

Jul3107 Email to and from M. Bristoll (many); telephone call 5.0 
to M. Bristol (many); email to and h m  R King; 
telephone call to R. King; telephone call to P. Aiken; 
review of scenarios; draft Notice of Appeal; 
conference wither N. Loewith, 

Jul4/07 Telephone call to M. Bristoll (many); email to and 5.0 
WrIE 22600,130 ADUAlUO STKEtl W a r ,  ' I ' O R O ,  OUTARIO, CANADA hfsfi 3p5 
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Page 2 

h m  M. Bristoll; draft Notice of Appeal; review of 
Franchise Agreements; email to and from R King; 

Jul5107 Telephone call to M. Bristoll (many); draft and revise 6.0 
Notice of Appeal; telephone call to R King (many); 
telephone call to P. Mom; ernail to and from M. 
Bristoll; letter to D. OZeary; email to and from R 
King; 

3d6107 Telephone call to R. King; telephone call to M. 5 .O 
Bristoll; email to and h m  M. Bristoll; draft 
settlement proposal; letter to D. OILeary; email to and 
fivm M. Bristoll (many) letter h m  D. O'Leary; letter 
to K. Walli; email to and h r n  P. Morin; 

Lawrence E. Thackcr 37.7 @ 575.00 - - 21,677.50 
N. Loewith 3.2 @ 275.00 - 880.00 - 

TOTAL FEES 22,557.50 

TO OUR FEE $23,000.00 

Copies 

TOTAL DISBURSEMENTS 

TOTAL FEES AND DISBURSEMENTS 

G.S.T. on fees 
G.S.T. on disbursements 
G.S.T. (Registration #: R1337808 17) 

TOTAL BILL 
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TRUST STATEMENT 

Jul 10107 Trust Receipt Natural Resources Gas 

Less amount received from Trust 

TOTAL DUE AND OWING UPON RECEIPT 

ACCOUNTS DUE WHEN RENDERED. In accordance with Ssction 33 of the Solicitw~ Act, interest will be charged 

at the rate of 4.5% per annum on unpnid fus, charges and disbursansnts, calculated 6rom a date that is one month a A a  

this statement i s  delivered. 



RENAULT 
U P I s m . c u l , ~ L  

Direct Dial: (416) 216-231 1 
Dim% Frx. (41 6) 21 63930 
rkin&@@hr)lmuult.Wrn 

SENT BY ORDINARY MAIL 

Toronto, December 6,2007 

Mr. Mark Bristoll 
Chairman 
Natural Resource Gas Limited 
101 spruce S m t  East 
P.O. Box 307 
Aylmex, ON, NSH 2s 1 

Dear Mr. Bristoll: 

RE: Natural Rerorrce Gas Lldted 
Ethanol Plant & Genual 
(01012724-0003 & 01012724-0004) 

Please find enclosed our statements of account for professional s e ~ c a s  r e n d d  in connection 
with the above noted mattare. Our invoices cover the period ending November 30,2007. 

Yours vay tnlly, 

" " " \  Enclosure 

Wl(wrI hlklms. Zrlbem *%8*rcca 
P H m b T n f t J D u k m  IPqsl BW Pkts. 'roi~ut 

rn srm 
P.O. ba 84 
Tonmtq On- MSJ 224 

D O C S ~ :  1391252\1 CUYb 
Tmnto . Hantdal . Ottra  . Qulbu London 

8 



OGlLW 
RENAULT 

Torordo, November 9,2007 

Mr. Mark Bristoll 
. Natural Rsrources Oas Limited 
39 Beech Strcat Bast 
P.O. Box 307 
Ayhncr, ON, NSH 2S1 

Dear Mr. Bristoll: 

RE: Natutcrl Resources Gu Limited 

PI- tird d o s e d  our it~tanomi of account for plofasionaI rclvku rendered in connection 
with the above-noted mattem. Our invoices cova the period ending October 31d, 2007. 



OGlLW 
RENAULT 

D M  DiJ: (416) 2IbUI I 
Direct Qoc (416) 216-3930 

SENT BY ORDINARY MAIL 

Mr. Mark Briatoll 
Chairman 
Natural Resource Gas Limited 
101 Spruce St. East 
P. 0. Box 307 
Aylrner, ON, NSH 2S1 

Dcar Mr. Briatoll: 

RE: Nntvrl Roroarca Gar Limited 
Ethanol P h i  (0101 2724-0003) 

Plcese find anclotted our statanant of account for profeeeianal services m n d d  in connection 
with the above noted matt Our invoice covm the period ending September 30,2007, 4 
Yours very truly, I 

Enclosure 

Toronto . Mentrdal . O t w a  . Wboc . Lardon 



OGlLW 
, RENAULT 

SENT BY ORDINARY M a  

Toronto, September 10,2007 

Mr. Mark Bristoll 
Chairman 
Natural Resource Gas Limited 

, 101 Spruce Strcct East 
P.O. Box 307 
Ayimer, ON, NSH 25 1 

Dear h4r. Bristoll: 

RE: Natural Rwource Gas Limited 
Ethrrrol Plant, General & 2008 Rntes Cue 
(01 oi272eooo3/0004tooos) 

Please find enclosed our staternc11ts of account for professional rrervicca m d d  in connection 
with the above noted matten. Ow invoices cover the period ending August 31", 2007. 

Richard J. King 
4 
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LENCZNER SLAGHT ROYCE 

SMITH GRIFFIN LLP 
BARRISTERS 

Direct Line: (4 16) 865-3097 
Email: Ithacker@Iitigate.com 

February 22,2008 

VIA EMAIL 

Dennis M. O'Leary 
Aird & Berlis LLP 
BCE Place, 181 Bay Street 
Suite 1800, Box 754 
Toranto, Ontario 
M53 2T9 

Dear Mr. O'Leary: 

Re: Natural Resources Gas Limited and Integrated Grain 
Processors Co-operative Inc. 

I have the five letters you sent to me last night at 7:20 pm. 

The obligations and rights of IGPC and NRG are set out in the Pipeline Cost Recovery 
Agreement dated as of January 3 1,2007 ("PCRA"). 

Article 7.1 of the PCR4 provides that IGPC will, prior to NRG ordering the pipe and 
stations, provide NRG with "an irrevocable letter or letters of credit ... in an amount equal to the 
quoted cost of the pipe and the stations.. ." 

IGPC has absolutely failed to comply with its obligations under Article 7.1 and, as a 
result, IGPC is in breach of the PCRA. Moreover, IGPC's failure to comply with Article 7.1 has 
caused delays with construction, and may cause additional delays in the future. For example, 
despite repeated warnings, IGPC has not provided the letter of credit to NRG, so that NRG can 
order components and materials from Lakeside Process Controls Ltd. ("Lakcside") for the 
stations, and has failed to pay Lakeside directly the amounts required by Lakeside to deliver 
components and materials in time to allow construction to proceed in a timely manner. 

As you know, under Section 3.7 of the PCR4, given IGPC's failure to make payments 
required and failure to provide the letter of credit required under Section 7.1, NRG has the right 
to elect not to proceed further with any of its obligations under the PCRA. Moreover, if NRG 
elects to exercise this right, the PCRA expressly provides that NRG "shall not be liable for any 
liabilities, damages, losses, payments, costs or expense that may be incurred by [IGPC] as a 
result". 
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To date, NRG has been proceeding with its obligations under the PCRA and moving 
fonvard with construction, despite IGPC's failure to comply with its obligations under the 
PCRA. NRG is doing so in order to cooperate with IGPC and move the project forward as fast 
as possible. However, NRG has obligations to all of its stakeholders and ratepayers and cannot 
continue with this process indefinitely, given IGPC's continuing and deliberate failures to 
comply with its obligations under the PCRA. 

It remains NRG's goal to complete construction in accordance with the terms of the 
PCRA and we remain willing to work with IGPC in a cooperative fashion to move forward and 
complete the construction of the pipeline. NRG remains willing to negotiate in good faith with 
IGPC, and would consider a meeting to try to resolve the current outstanding issues. 

Yours truly, 

LETIrl 

cc Naomi Loewith 



Appendix Q 



LENCZNER SL,AGH'T ROYCE 
SMITH GRIFFIN LLP 

BARKIS'I'ERS 

Direct Line: (4 16) 865-3097 
Ernnil: Ithacker@litigate.com 

June 13,2008 

VIA EMAIL AND FAX 

Mayor Bob I Iabkirk 
Town of Aylmer 
46 Talbot Street Wcst 
Aylrncr, Ontario 
NSI1 i17 

Dear Mayor Habkirk: 

Re: Natural Resource Gas Limited ("NRG") and 
Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. ("IGYC") 
Franchisc Renewal 

Wc act for NKG. 

As you know, NRG Js existing Franchisc Agreement with the Town of Aylmer expires in 
less than a year (February 27, 2009). The process for renewing a franchise is a multi-stagcd 
process that involves agreeing to the terms of a new Franchise Agreement, making an application 
to the Ontario Encrgy Board ("OEI3"), public notice of that application, a public hearing before 
the OEB, and ultimately (if the OER approves the Franchise Agreement that has been 
negotiated) passage of  a municipal by-law and signature of the final Franchise Agreement. 

Given the lengthy process involved, we are enclosing for your revicw a draft Franchise 
Agrccmcnt. ?'he drafi Franchise Agreement is based entirely upon the OER's Modcl Franchisc 
Agrccnlenr. which is viewed as the generally accepted teniplate for municipal franchises. 

In order to commence the Franchise Renewal Application NRG attempted to arrange a 
meetir~g with yourself by way of l-leather Adams, Chief Administrative Officer, of the Town of 
Aylmcr. Ms. Adams informed us on 'Sucsday, June 11, 2008 that she was unable to obtain a 
n~eeting date and time and that she would get back to us at an undetermincd future date. 
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NRG would like to meeting with yourself; to commence the Franchise Renewal process, 
by June 23, 2008 to ensure that the Franchise Renewal process can be completed in a timely and 
orderly fashion. Please let me know what dates would be convenient for you. 

Wc look forward to meeting with you. 

Yours truly, 

cc: 1 leather Adams 
bcc Mark Rristoll 



FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

'THIS AGREEMENT effective this day of o f -  

BETWEEN: 

CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF AYLMER 
hereinafter called the "Corporation" 

NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 
hereinafter called the "Gas Company" 

WHEREAS the Gas Company desires to distribute, store and transmit gas in the Municipality 
upon the terms and conditions of this Agreement; 

AND WHEREAS by by-law passed by the Council of the Corporation (the "By-law"), the duly 
authorized officers have been authorized and directed to execute this Agrecmcnt on behalf of the 
Corporation; 

TIfEREFOKE the Corporation and the Gas Company agree as follows: 

ARTICLE 1 - DEFINITIONS 

1.1 In this Agreement: 

(a) "decommissioned" and "decommissions" when used in connection with parts of 
the gas system, mean any parts of the gas system taken out of active use and 
purged in accordance with the applicable CSA standards and in no way affects the 
use of the term 'abandoned' pipeline for the purposes of the Asse.ssmen1 Act; 

(b) "EngineerIKoad Superintendent" means the most senior individual employed 
by the Corporation with rcsponsibilitics for highways within the Municipality or 
the person designated by such senior employee or such other person as may from 
time to time be designated by the Council of the Corporation; 

(c) ''gas" means natural gas, manufactured gas, synthetic natural gas, liquefied 
petroleum gas or propane-air gas, or a mixture of any of them, but does not 
include a liquefied petroleum gas that is distributed by means other than a 
pipcline; 



(d) "gas system" means such mains, plants, pipes, conduits, services, valves, 
regulators, curb boxes, stations, drips or such other equipment as the Gas 
Company may require or deem desirable for the distribution, storage and 
transmission of gas in or through the Municipality; 

(c) "highway" means all common and public highways and shall include any bridge, 
viaduct or structure forming part of a highway, and any public square, road 
allowance or walkway and shall include not only the travelled portion of such 
highway, but also ditches, driveways, sidewalks, and sodded areas forming part of 
the road allowance now or at any time during the term hereof under the 
jurisdiction of the Corporation; 

(f) "Model Franchise Agreement" means the form of agreement which the Ontario 
Energy Board uses as a standard when considering applications under the 
Municipal Frunchises Act. The Model Franchise Agreement may be changed 
from time to time by the Ontario Energy Board; 

(g) "Municipality" means thc territorial limits of the Corporation on thc date when 
this Agreement takes effect, and any temtory which may thereafter be brought 
within the jurisdiction of the Corporation; 

(h) "Plan" means the plan described in Paragraph 3.1 of this Agreement required to 
be filed by the Gas Company with the EngineedRoad Superintendent prior to 
commencement of work on the gas system; and 

(i) whenever the singular, masculine or feminine is used in this Agreement, it shall 
be considered as if the plural, feminine or masculine has been used where the 
context of the Agreement so requires. 

ARTICLE 2 - RIGHTS GRANTED 

2.1 To provide gas service: 

The consent of thc Corporation is hereby given and granted to the Gas Company to 
distribute, storc and transmit gas in and through the Municipality to the Corporation and 
to the inhabitants of the Municipality. 

2.2 To Use Highways. 

Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement the consent of the Corporation is 
hereby given and granted to the Gas Company to enter upon all highways now or at any 
time hereafter under the jurisdiction of the Corporation and to lay, construct, maintain, 
replace, remove, operate and repair a gas system for the distribution, storage and 
transmission of gas in and through the Municipality. 



2.3 Duration of Agreement and Renewal Procedures. 

(a) The rights hereby given and granted shall be for a term of 20 years from the date 
of final passing of the By-law providcd that, if during the 20-year term this 
Agreement, the Model Franchise Agreement is changed, then on the 7Ih 

anniversary and on the 14' anniversary of the date of the passing of the By-law, 
this Agreement shall be deemed to be amended to incorporate any changes in the 
Model Franchisc Agreement in effect on such anniversary dates. Such decmed 
amendments shall not apply to alter the 20-year t em~ .  

(b) At any time within two ycars prior to the expiration of this Agreement, either 
party may give notice to the other that i t  desires to entcr into negotiations for a 
renewed franchise upon such terms and conditions as may be agreed upon. Until 
such renewal has been settled, the terms and conditions of this Agrcernent shall 
continue, notwithstanding the expiration of this Agreement. This shall not 
preclude either party from applying to the Ontario Energy Board for a renewal of 
the Agrcernent pursuant to section 10 of the Munic@ul Franchises A d .  

ARTICLE 3 - CONDITIONS 

3.1 A~proval of Construction 

(a) The Gas Company shall not undertake any excavation, opening or work which 
will disturb or interfere with thc surface of the travelled portion of any highway 
unless a permit therefor has first been obtained from the EngineerIRoad 
Superintcndent and all work donc by the Gas Company shall be to his satisfaction. 

(b) Prior to the commencement of work on the gas system, or any extensions or 
changes to it (except service laterals which do not interfere with municipal works 
in the highway), the Gas Company shall file with the EngineerIRoad 
Supcrintcndent a Plan, satisfactory to the EngineerIRoad Superintendent, drawn to 
scale and of sufficient detail considering the complexity of the spccific locations 
involvcd, showing the highways in which it proposes to lay its gas system and the 
particular parts thereof it proposes to occupy. 

(c) The Plan filed by the Gas Company shall include geodetic infomlation for a 
particular location: 

(i) where circumstances are complex, in order to facilitate known projects, 
including projects which are reasonably anticipated by the Engincer/Road 
Superintcndent, or 

(ii) when rcquested, where the Corporation has geodetic information for its 
own services and all others at the same location. 

(d) The EngineerIRoad Superintendent may require sections of the gas system to be 
laid at greater depth than required by the latest CSA standard for gas pipeline 
systems to facilitate known projects or to correct known highway deficiencies. 



(e) Prior to the commencement of work on the gas system, the Engineer/Road 
Superintendent must approve the location of the work as shown on the Plan filed 
by the Gas Company, the timing of the work and any terms and conditions 
relating to the installation of the work. 

(f) In addition to the requirements of this Agreement, if the Gas Company proposes 
to affix any part of the gas system to a bridge, viaduct or other structure, if the 
Engineer/Road Superintendent approves this proposal, he may require the Gas 
Company to comply with special conditions or to enter into a separatc agreement 
ns a condition of the approval of this part of the construction of the gas system. 

(g) Where the gas system may affect a municipal drain, the Gas Company shall also 
file a copy of the Plan with the Corporation's Drainage Superintendent for 
purposes of the Drainage Act, or such other person designated by the Corporation 
as responsible for the drain. 

(h) The Gas Company shall not deviate from the approved Iocation for any part of the 
gas system unless the prior approvaI of the Engineerrnoad Superintendent to do 
so is received. 

(i) The Engineerrnoad Superintendent's approval, where required throughout this 
Paragraph, shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

(i) The approval of the Engineer/Road Superintendent is not a representation or 
warranty as to the state of repair of the highway or the suitability of the highway 
for the gas system. 

3.2 As Built Drawings. 

The Gas Company shall, within six months of completing the installation of any part of 
thc gas system, provide two copies of "as built" drawings to the Engineer/Road 
Superintcndent. These drawings must be sufficient to accurately cstabIish the Iocation, 
depth (measurement between the top of the gas system and the ground surface at the time 
of installation) and distance of the gas system. The "as built" drawings shall be of the 
same quality as the Plan and, if the approved pre-construction plan included elevations 
that were geodetically referenced, the "as built" drawings shall similarly include 
elevations that arc geodetically referenced. Upon the request of the Engineer/Road 
Superintcndent, the Gas Company shall provide one copy of the drawings in an electronic 
format and one copy as a hard copy drawing. 

3.3 Emergencies 

In the event of an emcrgency involving the gas system, the Gas Company shall proceed 
with the work required to deal with the emergency, and in any instance wherc prior 
approval of the Engineerrnoad Superintendent is normally required for the work, the Gas 
Company shall use its best efforts to immediately notify the Engineerrnoad 
Superintcndent of the location and nature of the emergency and the work being done and, 
if it deems appropriate, notify the police force, fire or other emergency services having 
jurisdiction. 'I'he Gas Company shall provide the Engineer/Road Superintcndent with at 



least onc 24 hour emergency contact for the Gas Company and shall ensure the contacts 
are current. 

3.4 Restoration 

The Gas Company shall well and sufficiently restore, to the reasonable satisfaction of the 
EngincerIRoad Superintendent, all highways, municipal works or improvements which it 
may excavate or interfere with in the course of laying, constructing, repairing or 
removing its gas system, and shall make good any settling or subsidence thereafter 
caused by such excavation or interference. If the Gas Company fails at any time to do any 
work required by this Paragraph within a reasonable period of time, the Corporation may 
do or cause such work to be done and the Gas Company shall, on demand, pay the 
Corporation's reasonably incurred costs, as certified by the EngineerRoad 
Superintendent. 

3.5 Indemnification 

The Gas Company shall, at all times, indemnify and save harmless the Corporation from 
and against all claims, including costs related thereto, for all damages or injuries 
including death to any person or persons and for darnage to any property, arising out of 
the Gas Company operating, constructing, and maintaining its gas system in the 
Municipality, or utilizing its gas system for the camagc of gas owned by others. Provided 
that the Gas Company shall not be required to indemnify or save harmless the 
Corporation from and against claims, including costs related thereto, which it may incur 
by rcason of damages or injuries including death to any person or persons and for damage 
to any property, resulting from the negligence or wrongful act of the Corporatir.n, its 
servants, agents or employees. 

3.6 Insurance 

(a) The Gas Company shall maintain Comprehensive General Liabi I ity Insurance in 
sufficient amount and description as shall protect the Gas Company and the 
Corporation from claims for which the Gas Company is obliged to indemnify the 
Corporation under Paragraph 3.5. The insurance policy shall identify the 
Corporation as an additional named insured, but only with respect to the operation 
of the named insured (the Gas Company). The insurance policy shall not lapse or 
be cancelled without sixty (60) days' prior written notice to the Corporation by 
the Gas Company. 

(b) The issuance of an insurance policy as provided in this Paragraph shall not be 
construed as relieving the Gas Company of liability not covered by such insurance 
or in excess of the policy limits of such insurance. 

(c) Upon request by the Corporation, the Gas Company shall confirm that premiums 
for such insurance have been paid and that such insurance is in full force and 
effect. 



3.7 Alternative Easement 

The Corporation agrees, in the event of the proposed saie or closing of any highway or 
any part of a highway where there is a gas line in existence, to give the Gas Company 
reasonable notice of such proposed sale or closing and, if is feasible, to provide the Gas 
Company with easements over that part of thc highway proposed to be sold or closed 
sufficient to allow the Gas Company to preserve any part of the gas system in its then 
existing location. In the event that such easements cannot be provided, the Corporation 
and the Gas Company shall share the cost of relocating or altering the gas system to 
facilitate continuity of gas service, as provided for in Paragraph 3.8 of this Agreement. 

3.8 Pipeline Relocation 

(a) If in the course of constructing, reconstructing, changing, altering or improving 
any highway or any municipal works, the Corporation deems that it is necessary 
to take up, remove or change the location of any part of the gas system, the Gas 
Company shall, upon notice to do so, remove and/or relocate within a reasonable 
period of time such part of the gas system to a location approved by the 
Engineer/Road Superintendent. 

(b) Where any part of the gas system relocated in accordance with this Paragraph is 
locatcd on a bridge, viaduct or structure, the Gas Company shall alter or relocate 
that part of the gas system at its sole expense. 

(c) Where any part of the gas system relocated in accordance with this Paragraph is 
located other than on a bridge, viaduct or structure, the costs of relocation shall bc 
shared between the Corporation and the Gas Company on the basis of the total 
relocation costs, excluding the value of any upgrading of the gas system, and 
deducting any contribution paid to the Gas Company by others in respect to such 
relocation; and for these purposes, the total relocation costs shall be thc aggregate 
of the following: 

(i) the amount paid to Gas Company en~ployees up to and including field 
supervisors for the hours worked on the project plus the current cost of 
fringe benefits for these employees, 

(ii) the amount paid for rental equipment while in use on the project and an 
amount, charged at the unit rate, for Gas Company equipment while in use 
on the project, 

(iii) the amount paid by the Gas Company to contractors for work related to 
thc project, 

(iv) the cost to the Gas Company for rnatcrials used in connection with the 
project, and 

(v) a reasonable amount for project engineering and project administrative 
costs which shall be 22.5% of the aggregate of the amounts determined in 
items (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv) above. 



(d) Thc total relocation costs as calculated above shall be paid 35% by the 
Corporation and 65% by the Gas Company, except where the part of the gas 
system required to be moved is located in an unassurned road or in an unopened 
road allowance and the Corporation has not approved its location, in which case 
the Gas Company shaIl pay 100% of the relocation costs. 

ARTICLE 4 - PROCEDURAL AND OTHER MATTERS 

4.1 Municipal Bv-laws of General Awwlication 

The Agreement is subject to the provisions of aI1 regulating statutes and all municipal 
bylaws of general application, except by-laws which have the effcct of amendinv, this 
Agreement. 

4.2 G iv in~  Notice 

Noticcs may be delivered to, sent by facsimile or mailed by prepaid registered post to the 
Gas Company at its head office or to the authorized officers of the Corporation at its 
municipal offices, as the case may be. 

4.3 Disposition of Gas System 

(a) If the Gas Company decommissions part of its gas system affixed to a bridgc, 
viaduct or structure, the Gas Company shall, at its sole expense, remove the part 
of its gas system affixed to the bridge, viaduct or struchue. 

(b) If the Gas Company decommissions any other part of its gas syslcm, it shall have 
the right, but is not required, to remove that part of its gas system. It may exercisc 
its right to remove the decommissioned parts of its gas system by giving notice of 
its intention to do so by filing a Plan as required by Paragraph 3.1 of this 
Agreement for approval by the Engineerrnoad Superintendcnt. If the Gas 
Company does not remove the part of the gas system it has decommissioned and 
the Corporation requires the removal of all or any part of the decommissioned gas 
system for the purpose of altering or improving a highway or in order to facilitate 
the construction of utility or other works in any highway, the Corporation may 
rcmove and dispose of so much of the decommissioned gas system as the 
Corporation may require for such purposes and neither party shall have recourse 
against the other for any loss, cost, expense or damage occasioned thereby. If the 
Gas Company has not removed the part of the gas system it has decommissioned 
and the Corporation requires the removal of all or any part of the decommissioned 
gas system for thc purpose of altering or improving a highway or in order to 
facilitate the construction of utility or other works in a highway, the Gas 
Company may elect to relocate the decommissioned gas system and in thal event 
Paragraph 3.8 applies to the cost of.relocation. 



4.4 Use of Dccommissioned Gas System 

(a) The Gas Company shall provide promptly to the Corporation, to thc extent such 
information is known: 

(i) the names and addresses of all third parties who use decommissioned parts 
of the gas system for purposes other than the transmission or distri'lution 
of gas; and 

(ii) the location of all proposed and existing decommissioned parts of the gas 
system used for purposes other than the transmission or distribution of gas. 

(b) The Gas Company may allow a third party to use a decommissioned part of the 
gas system for purposes other than the transmission or distribution of gas and may 
charge a fee for that third party use, provided 

(i)  the third party has entered into a municipal access agreement with the 
Corporation; and 

(ii) the Gas Company docs not charge a fee for the third party's right of access 
to the highways. 

(c) Decommissioned parts of the gas system used for purposes other than the 
transmission or distribution of gas are not subject to the provisions of this 
Agreement. For decommissioned parts of the gas system used for purposes other 
than the transmission and distribution of gas, issues such as relocation costs will 
be govcmed by the relevant municipal access agreement. 

4.5 Franchise Handbook 

The Parties acknowledge that opcrating decisions sometimes require a greater level of 
detail than that which is appropriately included in this Agreement. The Parties agrec to 
look for guidance on such matters to the Franchise Handbook prepared by the 
Association of Municipalities of Ontario and the gas utility companies, as may be 
amended from time to time. 

4.6 Agreement Binding Parties 

This Agreement shall extend to, benefit and bind the parties thereto, their successors and 
assigns, respectively. 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have executed this Agreement effective from the date 
written above. 

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF 
AYLMER 

By: 

By: 

NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

By: 

Mark Bristoll, Chairman 



I " I A a. 'I Ontario. Canada 

proud I1uinge. Bright P u m .  

----.- 

June 17,2008 

Mr. Mark Bristoll 
Natural Resources Gas Ltd. 
R y  Pax to 519 433-61 32 

The Corporation of the Town of Aylmer 
46 TBlbnt Sueet, West, Ayher, Ontario N5H 1J7 

Office: 519-773-3 164 Pax: 51 9-765-1446 
www. a ylmc r . a  

Dear Mark: 

Re: T o m  of Aylmer Franchise Aereement with NRG 

Thank you vcry much for your telephone call requesting that you and your solicitor, Mr. 
Lawrence l'hackcr would like to meet with Mayor Dob Habbk and myself to discuss the 
franchise agreement between NRG and the Town of Aylmer. This request wds 
subsequently reitmated in a letter to Mayor Habkirk fiom Mr. Thacker. That was 
followed by a phone caIl &om me to you confirming that I would provide a rsponse to 
the request once it hticl been considered by Council, Your solicitor also provided n draft 
Franchise Agreement. 

I would like to advise .that thc Mayor and I would be pleased to meet with you to discuss 
the fiancllise agreement on a mutually convenient date immediately after natural gas is 
being provided by NR.G to site of the Town's newest business, lGPC Ethanol Lnc. UTe 
expect that this will happen some time in July, 2008. Jn the interim, we will proceed to 
review the document you have submittd. 

I you have m y  questions, please feel free to contact me directly at 519 773-4901. 

/ M. Heather Adms 
Administrator 

cc: Mayor and Council 
M. Phillip Tunley, Stockwoods 



LENCZNER SLAGHT ROYCE 
SMITH GRIFFIN LLP 

BARRISTERS 

Direct Line: (4 16) 865-3097 
Email: lthacker@litigate.com 

June 20,2008 

VIA FACSIMILE 

Heather Adams 
Town of Aylmer 
46 Talbot Strcet West 
Aylmer, Ontario 
N5H 157 

Dcar Ms. Adams: 

Re: Natural Resource Gas Limited ("NRG") and 
Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. ("IGPC") 
Franchise Renewal 

As you know, I act for Natural Resource Gas Limited ("NRG"). 

We arc in receipt of your letter dated June 17. 

For the reasons explained in my letter of June 13, 2008, NRG wishes to move forward 
with the rcncwal process as soon as possible. There are a number of steps that will have to be 
takcn, and NRG wishes to ensurc the process can unfold in an orderly manner. For that reason, 
NRG would likc to meet with you and the Mayor as soon as possible. 

NRG does not understand whether and, if so, why the Town wishes to link franchise 
renewal to thc opcning of the IGPC facility. As I am sure you are aware, construction of the 
pipeline is well underway and is expected to be completed by July. 
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If the Town has any issues with the renewal of NRG's franchise agreement, NRG would 
likc to be made aware of these issues as soon as possible. 

Yours truly, 



11  STOCKWOODS 11 
Bams ters 

M. Philip Tunley 
Direct Line: 416-593-3495 
Dircct Fax: 416-593-9345 

phill(<~lockwoods.ca 

July 8, 2008 

1,awrellce Thacker 
Lencmer Slaght Royce Smith 
Griffin LLP 
Suite 2600 
130 Adelaide Street West 
Toronto, ON M5I-1 3P.5 

Dear Mr. Thacker: 

Re: Natural Resource Gas Limited ("NRG") and the Town of Aylrner 

As you know, 1 act for the Town of Aylnlcr. 

Your letter of Junc 13. 2008 addresscd to Mayor Bob Mabkirk enclosing a draft of a new 
Franchise Agreement betwecn our respective clients was refened to us for consideration on June 
17. By letter of that date from Heather Adams, Administrator of the Town of Aylrner, Mr. Mark 
Bristoll of NRG was advised that the Mayor and Ms. Adams would be pleased to meet with him 
to discuss the Franchise Agreement on a mutually convenient date immediately after Natural Gas 
is provided to the ethanol plant which is the subject o f  recent Ontario Energy Board proceedings 
involving our respective clients. We understand that is scheduled to occur as soon as the end of 
next week. In the meantime, your lollow-up lerters to Ms. Adans  dated June 20 and July 3, 
2008 have been referred to us fbr response. 

Givcn Ms. Adarns' letter of June 17, your presumptions about the position of the Town of 
Aylmer regarding renewal are prematurc. As indicated in that letter, the Town is willing to mcct 
with your client to discuss thc renewal issue sho~~ly .  If you will be present at that meeting, I 
expect the Town will wish me to be present as well. 111 tile meantime, lhe Town does not 
understand why NRG is so anxious to pre-empt dijcussion and begin irnplemenri~lg the renewal 
process. 

I would like to suggest that you provide the Town will] an outline of the steps that you believe 
will have to Ix taken to ensure rhar any renewal process can unfold in an orderly manner, as 1 mil 
sLue that you will. 



In addition, I would be grateful if you would address any further correspondence in this matter 
directly to me. 

Yours very truly, 
n 

M. Philip Tunley 
MPT/scb 

c. Heather Adams, Town o i  Aylmer 
Mark Bristnl I, Natural Gas Kcsources 1,td. 



Direcl Line: (4 16) 865.-3097 
oate.com Email: Ithacker@liti, 

August 1 1 ,2008 

VIA EMAIL 

Philip 'l'unley 
Stockwoods 1,1,11 
Barristers 
'Thc Sun 1,ife 'l'owcr 
150 King Street West 
Sui~c  2512 
'Toronto, ON M5I1 1 J9 

Dear Mr. 'Tunlcy: 

Rc: Natural Hesourcc Gas Limitcd ("NRG") and 
Integrated Grain Processors Co-opcrative Inc. ("ICPC") 

I have your letter of July 8. 

Wc are pleascd that thc Town of Aylmer is willing to meet with NRG LO discuss rencwal. 
NRG does not wish to pre-empt any discussion. NRG has repeatedly recluested an opportunity to 
meet with the 'I'own, and wc are pleased the Town is now willing to meet with NRG. We are 
available to meet at your earliest convenience. 

'Ihe construction of'thc pipeline by NRG is completc and the pipeline was comlnissioncd 
on July 3. It would appear that construction of the IGPC facility is significantly behind scl~edulc 
and IGPC is not yet able to receive natural gas. NIiG and IGPC have agreed that thc dccmed 
"In-Scnlice Datc" for the pipeline will be July 15,2008. NRG remains ready, willing and ablc to 
dclivcr gas when IGPC's construction is complete and IGI'C commences operations, and IGPC 
has fu!filled its iinancial obligations owcd to NRG. 

Thc skps that will have LO be takcn 10 rencw thc franchise depcnd entirely on the position 
to bc takcn by the 'I'own of Aylmer. That is why NRG has been requesting tl~at the 'l'own 
providc its position on whcthcr or not it will support the renewal of thc franchise. 



NRG is pleased that the Town is now ready to meet with NRG, and await your response 
as to a date to meet. 

Yours truly, 

AT& ron c ' l ~  hac s- 

LErT/rl/j b 

bcc Mark Bristoll 



ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD 

IN THE MATTER OF the Ontario Energy Board Act, 
1998, S.0.1998, c.15 (Sched. B); 

AND IN THE MATTER OF an Application by Union 
Gas Limited for an order granting it leave to 
discontinue gas transmission to Natural Resource Gas 
Limited. 

PRE-FILED EVIDENCE 

of 

DAVID PALLETT 

(Neal, Pallett & Townsend LLP) 

'>1 October 18,2008. 
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1. The purpose of this evidence is to address certain issues, as raised by Union Gas Limited 

("Union") in its Pre-filed Evidence dated October 10,2008. 

2. In particular, this evidence addresses the concerns of Union as outlined primarily in 

paragraphs 11 to 14 of Union's Pre-filed Evidence - namely, the qualification of NRG's 

2006 audited financial statements. 

3. As I read Union's Pre-filed Evidence, there appear to be two grounds upon which Union 

relies for its determination that NRG, as of 2006, is a less creditworthy company than 

before 2006: 

NRG's 2006 Financial Statements were accompanied by a qualified auditor's 

opinion that details the impact on the Balance Sheet of the reported classification 

of the Class C shares vs the handbook requirement of reporting the same shares as 

a liability; and, 

NRG has pledged all of its present and future assets, property and undertaking to 

the Bank of Nova Scotia ("BNS") pursuant to a demand loan in 2006. 

My evidence focuses primarily on the first of these two grounds, but I do have some 

comments on the second ground as well. 

NRG's Oualified Auditor's Report 

4. Union's 2007 credit review of NRG was based on NRG's 2006 audited financial 

statements, which were accompanied by a qualified auditor's opinion. Union states that 

this was "cause for concern" (Union Pre-filed Evidence, para. 12). Union notes that the 

reason.for the auditor's qualified opinion was that NRG had Class C retractable shares 

outstanding (with a redemption value of about $13.5 million) and that Canadian GAAP 

rules require the retractable shares to be presented on the balance sheet as a liability 

(Union Pre-filed Evidence, para. 13). According to Union, decreasing NRG's equity by 

$13.5 million and increasing NRG's liabilities by $1 3.5 million would mean a negative 
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shareholder's equity "which provides no protection for creditors" (Union Pre-filed 

Evidence, para. 14). 

5. Union's credit reviews of NRG prior to 2007 (which were based on NRG's audited 

financial statements from 2005 and earlier) did not cause Union concern, and Union 

assigned an unsecured credit limit of $3 million to NRG (Union Pre-filed Evidence, para. 

11). 

6. Union's concern appears to be based on a belief or understanding that, because of the 

qualification listed in the Auditors' report, NRG's 2006 audited financial statements 

reflect a material change in the financial circumstances of NRG, and that because of this 

change NRG is less creditworthy. 

7. In my view the reporting of this qualification in the Auditors' Report for NRG's 2006 

audited financial statements does not reflect a material change in the financial 

circumstances of NRG for 2006, but rather it highlights a departure from GAAP 

accounting practices. While the presentation of the Auditors' Report for NRG's audited 

financial statements changed in form in 2006, there was no change in substance to NRG's 

outstanding Class C share capital or the financial condition of NRG with respect to the 

Class C share capital. 

NRG's Class C Share Capital Has Remained Unchanged since 2003 

8. The share transactio~is that created NRG's Class C shares (redeemable and retractable) 

occurred in NRG's fiscal 2003, and was referred to in Note 7 of NRG's audited financial 

statements for 2003. Attached to this evidence as Appendix A are the audited financial 

statements of NRG for the fiscal year ending September 2003. 
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9. In NRG's 2004 audited financial statements (attached hereto as Appendix B), the 

existence of the Class C retractable shares and NRG's election to treat the Class C 

retractable shares as equity instead of a liability are referenced in the Auditors' Report to 

the Notes to the Financial Statements, where the reporting of the Class C shares as equity 

vs a liability are explicitly set out as follows: 

"Share Capital 

The company has elected to apply the differential reporting 
measurement option allowed for the accounting for retractable 
shares and, therefore has presented as equity instead of disclosing 
as a liability, the issued and outstanding Class A and Class C 
shares of the company. " 

(NRG 2004 Financial Statements, p. 7) 

10. In NRG's 2005 financial statements (attached to Union's October 16 supplemental 

evidence as Attachment 2), the exact same disclosure is set out in the Auditors' Report 

and referenced to the Notes to the Financial Statements (page 7). 

1 I .  Thus, the existence of the retractable nature of NRG's Class C shares has been disclosed 

in every financial statement of NRG commencing with NRG's 2003 financial statements. 

There has been no change in the nature of NRG's Class C shares since their creation in 

2003. 

12. Moreover, NRG's election to present them as equity instead of a liability in accordance 

with GAAP has been fully disclosed in every financial statement of NRG commencing 

with NRG's 2004 financial statements. 
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13. From paragraph 11 of Union's pre-filed evidence, it is clear that Union reviewed NRG's 

2004 and 2005 financial statements (which included the disclosure in the Auditor's 

Report and directly referenced the Notes to the Financial Statements regarding the 

retractable shares), and did not have any concern about NRG's creditworthiness despite 

the existence of these shares. 

14. According to Union, it was not until the the Auditors' Report listed a qualification of 

NRG's financial statements that Union had "cause for concern" about NRG's 

creditworthiness due to the existence of these Class C shares. 

15. GAAP disclosures have changed significantly over the last number of years which have 

included the disclosure of retractable shares as a liability on the face of the balance sheet 

for financial statement purposes and the use of differential reporting for qualifying 

companies allowing certain entities to continue to disclose these retractable shares as 

equity while clearly disclosing this choice in the notes to the financial statements and 

directly referenced from the Auditors' Report. Both disclosures were meant to clearly 

highlight the nature of the shares and the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants 

obviously clearly believed that such disclosure provided the user of the financial 

statements the same information for evaluating the financial statements of a company 

which had retractable shares included as part of the equity of the company. Our review of 

differential reporting in fiscal 2006 determined that a rate regulated entity did not qualify 

to use this approved option of disclosure. As such it was with the 2006 fiscal year 

financial statements that we applied the qualification to the Auditors' Report of the 

financial statements which in effect moved the note disclosure previously referenced in 

the Auditors' Report to be included directly in the Auditors' Report. This change in 

reporting in no way changed the fact that Class C shares were retractable which had been 
i.. 

and continued to be clisclosed in the Notes to the Financial Statements as such. 
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NRG's Class C Shares Have Been Postponed 

16. Although the Class C shares are retractable, NRG is presently prohibited fiom retracting 

them, pwsuant to an Assignment, Postponement and Subordination Agreement dated 

August 22, 2008 (the "Postponement Agreement"), which is attached as Appendix C 

hereto. The Postponement Agreement states: 

"From the date hereof and until such time as all indebtedness, 
obligations and liabilities of the Borrower to the Bank under the 
Credit Agreement or arising under any other credit agreement 
between the Bank and the Borrower are repaid in fill, the 
Subordinator agrees: 

(a) to postpone the payment and satisfaction by the Borrower of all 
shareholder loans, dividends and other rights to withdraw capital 
now or hereafter due and owing by the Borrower to the [Class C 
shareholder] and all interest accruing thereon (the "Subordinated 
Obligations'? in favour of the Bank, and to subordinate the 
Subordinated Obligations to all indebtedness, liabilities and 
obligations of the Borrower to the Bank. " 

(Postponement Agreement, page 1) 

17. Thus, the holder of NRG's Class C shares cannot currently retract them, and will not be 

able to retract them as long as the BNS loan remains in place. 

18. Attached as Appendix B to my evidence is the true excerpt fiom the GSA between NRG 

and BNS. 

Nature of Class C Shares 

19. NRG's Class C shares are both retractable and redeemable: 
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"Retractable" shares are shares that are able to be bought back at the option of the 

shareholder. 

"Redeemable" shares are shares that are able to be bought back at the option of the 

issuing company. 

20. The GAAP rules governing how retractable shares are reported do not change the fact 

that NRG's Class C shares are still shares and are part of the legal paid up capital of the 

corporation. They are equity contributed by shareholders to the business. 

Pledging Shares under General Securitv Agreement 

21. Union's second reason for considering NRG's creditworthiness to have become 

unsatisfactory is that NRG has pledged all of its assets to BNS in 2006 pursuant to the 

demand loan with BNS (Union Pre-filed Evidence, para.15). Because of this, Union 

asserts, there would not be sufficient current assets to repay the cost of the gas NRG 

borrows fiom Union by March 3 1 which is the end of the heating season (Union Pre-filed 

Evidence, para.16). Again, Union paints h s  as a material change in NRG's 

circumstances that occurred in 2006. 

22. In my opinion, it is very common on secured financings to have a GSA pledging all the 

borrower's assets to the lender. As evidence of that, NRG's previous loan had a GSA. 

23. It is not uncommon for financings (even of very large companies) to be secured by the 

lender. In some cases, borrower's opt for secured loans in order to get a better rate. 

24. Prior to the reifinancing and establishment of the BNS loan, NRG's main debt financing 

was through a Loan Agreement with the Imperial Life Assurance Company of Canada 

("Impaial Life") . %s NRG financing was in place for approximately 12 years - from 
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1994 to 2006, when it was replaced by the BNS loan. The Imperial Life loan had a GSA 

whereby NRG pledged all of its assets to Irnperial Life. Attached as Appendix D to my 

evidence is the GSA among Imperial Life and NRG dated June 24, 1994. Section 1 is the 

granting of the security interest over all NRG's assets, as is standard in GSAs. 

25. The fact that NRG has always had a GSA over its assets has been presented in every 

financial statement of NRG dated back to my firm's involvement with NRG. For 

example, in the Notes to the Financial Statements for the 2003 financial statements, Note 

6 dealing with long-term debt states: 

"The following has been pledged as security for the Imperial Life 
loan: 
a)jxed andfloating charge over all of the assets of the company; 
b) general security agreement; 
c) general assignment of accounts receivable; and, 
d) assignment of all risk insurance over the assets of the 
company. " 

(Page 13, NRG's 2003 Financial Statements) 

26. NRG's 2004 and 2005 financial statements contain virtually identical statements. 

27. NRG's 2006 and 2007 set out a very similar statement in respect of the GSA in relation 

to the BNS loan: 

"The company has pledged the following as security against the 
term note payable, the operating line of credit, and the revolving 
line of credit:: 
a) General assignment of book debts 
+b) General Security Agreement over all of the present and Jicture 
personal property and undertaking of the company 
c) ~e&rity under Section 427 of the Bank Act with appropriate 
insurance coverage assigned to the Bank; 
d) Demand Debenture for $15,000,000 secured by a first fixed and 
floating charge over all assets including, but not limited to, the 
Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity and all Municipal 
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Franchise Agreements, with replacement cost fire insurance 
coverage, loss if any, payable to the Bank as mortgagee. " 

(Page 14, NRG's 2007 Financial Statements) 

28. Thus, the security arrangements between NRG are not extraordinary, and have been 

transparently represented in the financial statements for a long time. 

29. That concludes my written direct evidence. My curriculum vitae indicating my 

educational and professional qualifications is attached as Appendix E hereto. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30,2003 



NP.. . .T . CiIARTEUU ACCOUNTANTS Trlepli~~nt.: (5 19) 432-5534 I'artncrr: 
633 C~~lhornc Street . Fax: (5 19) 432-6544 C l c ~ ~ n  J.  Madman C.A. 

. ... __. .., . . Suite 300 Wrhsite: www.nptca.com Barric J. Neal C.A. 
London, Onrariu David J. Pallerr C.A. 

N6B 2V3 John D.R Pructer CA., M.R.A. 
Jonarhrn R Townsend C A  
L.J. Sandy Weutein C.A. 

AUDITORS' REPORT 

To the Shareholders of 
Natural Resource Gas Limited 

We have audited the balance sheet of Natural Resource Gas Limited as at 
September 30, 2003 and the statcrncnts of income, retained earnings (deficit), and cash 
flow for the year then ended. These financial statements arc thc responsibility of the 
company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statemcnts based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards. Those standards require that wc plan and perform an audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of matcrial misstatement. 
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosurcs in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting 
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 

. ' overall financial statement presentation. 

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all matcrial respects, the 
financial position of the company as at September 30, 2603 and the results of its 
operations and changes in its financial position for the year then ended, in accordance 
with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 

London, Canada 
Decembcr 5,2003 CHARTEKED ACCOUNTANTS 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Balance Sheel 

As at September 30 

Assets 

Current assets: 
Cash . $ 570,499 $ 904,284 
Accounts receivable 865,914 690,88 1 
Inventory 95,873 75,743 
Prepaid expenses 35,595 14,545 
Income taxes recoverable 132,841 - 
Dcferred charges 18,270 10,4 15 

Capital assets (note 1) 9,296,447 9,459,011 

Other assets: 
Franchises and consents (note 2) 92,900 99,443 
Deferred financing costs (note 3) 29,626 35,821 

122,526 135,264 

$ 11,137,965 $ 11,290,143 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Balance Sheet 

As at September 30 

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity 

Current liabilities: 
Demand debenture payablc (note 4) $ 118,000 $ 1 18,000 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 5) 2,117,115 1,451,868 
Income taxes payable - 36 1,957 
Deferred revenue 1 14,559 84,575 
Customer deposits 90,440 83,162 
Current portion of long-term debt (note 6) 307,015 694,182 

2,747,129 2,793,744 

Long-term debt (note 6) 3,068,451 3,375,467 

Shareholders' equity: 
Share capital (note 7) 15,500,020 450,203 
Retained earnings (deficit) (10,177,635) 4,670,729 

5,322,385 5,120,932 

Contingent liabilities (note 6) 

$ 11,137,965 $ 11,290,143 

Approved on Behalf of the Board: 

birector 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 

- 3 -  



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Statement of Retained Earnings (Deficit) 

Year ended September 30 

Balance, beginning of year 

Net income for the year 201,433 686,299 

Transfer of retained earnings to stated capital of 
Class A shares (notc 7) (15,049,797) . - 

Balance, end of year $ (10,177,635) $ 4,670,729 

Sec accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Statement of Income 

Ycar ended September 30 

Gas sales 
Gas costs 

Gross margin on gas sales 2,646,000 3,08 1,3 1 1 

Other sales 558,987 554,857 
Other costs 438,622 44 1,946 

Gross margin on other sales 120,365 112,911 

Othcr revenue 557,23 1 507,062 

Expenses 2,983,663 2,664,485 

Income before provision for income taxes 339,933 1,036,799 

Provision for income taxes 138,500 350,500 

Net income for the year 

Included in expenses are the following: 
Amortization of fiwance costs !§ 6,196 $ 6,196 
Amortization of franchises and consents $ 6,542 $ 6,542 
Amortization $ 539,879 $ 503,758 
Interest on long-term debt $ 395,121 $ 448,962 
Interest on capital lcase obligations $ - $ 1,681 
htcrest on short-term debt $ 7,312 $ 6,725 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS 1,lMITED 

Cash Flow Statement 

Year ended Septcrnber 30 

Cash flows from operating activities: 
Net income for the ycar 

Itcms not affecting working capital: 
Amortization 
&in on disposal of capital assets 

Changes in non-cash working capital: 
Accounts receivable 
Inventory 
Prepaid expenses 
Income taxes recoverable 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Income taxes payablc (note 9) 
Defcrrcd revenue 
Deferred charges 
Customer deposits 

Cash flows fiom investing activities: 
Additions to capital assets (377,314) (1,322,984) 
Proceeds on disposal of capital assets - 1 56,224 

(377,3 14) (l,l66,760) 

Cash flows from financing activities: 
Repayments of long-term debt (694,183) (368,078) 
Net repayment of obligations under capital lease - (22,965) 
Issuance of Class C shares 13,461,418 - 
Issuance of Class B sharcs 10 - 
lssuancc of Class Z shares 10 - 

Reduction of stated capital of Class A shares (note 7) (13,461,418) - 

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents during thc year (333,785) (726,652) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 904,284 1,630,936 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 570,499 $ 904,284 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

September 30,2003 

Summary of significant accounting policies: 

These financial statements have. been prepared in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted accounting principles, the more significant of which are 
summarized below. 

Regulations: 

The company is subject to regulations under The Ontario Energy Board Act and 
The Energy Act (Ontario). The accounting policies followed by the company are 
approved by The Ontario Energy Board. Rates are set to allow the utility to 
recover the cost of service including a fair and reasonable return on the utility 
investment. 

Inventory: 

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value, with cost being 
determined on a first-in, first-out basis. Market value is defined as replacement 
cost. 

Deferred charges and revenues: 

Pursuant to an order of The Ontario Energy Board, the company defers certain 
gas and other costs which will .be recovered against its rates for gas sales over a 
period which is not expected to exceed two years. In addition, when gas costs 
are less than the reference price set by The Ontario Energy Board, the company 
defers recognition of the savings since thcse may be recovercd by the Board. 

Pipeline installutions: 

Expenditures which substantially increase the useful life of existing pipeline 
installations and additions to the pipeline are capitalized. Such expenditures 
include material, labour and overhead. Maintenance and repairs which do not 
extend the useful life of pipeline installations are charged to income. 

Capital asset disposals: 

Pursuant to the regulations of The Ontario Energy Board on the disposal of 
capital assets, excluding major disposals, the company transfers the original cost 
of the retired capital assets, plus any related removal costs, lo accumulated 
amortization. Proceeds from disposition are credited to accurnulatcd 
amortization. This effectively credits gains, or charges losses on disposition to 
accumulated amortization. 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30,2003 

Amortization: 

Pursuant to the regulations of The Ontario Energy Board, amortization is 
calculated using the straight-line method on the total gross cost of each asset 
category at the end of the year, rather than on an asset specific basis, at the 
following annual rates for the capital asset categories listed below: 

Automotive equipment 
Buildings 
Computer equipment 
Computer software 
Furniture and fixtures 
Machinery and equipment 
Meters and regulators 
Pipeline installations 

Amortization of deferred finance costs is calculated at the annual rate of 7 % 
using the straight-line method. 

Amortization of franchises and consents is calculated at the annual rate of 4 % 
using the straight-line method. 

Income taxes: 

The company's ratc and revenues, established for regulatory purposes, allow for 
thc recovery of income taxes on a formula basis which differs from the amount 
as determined under the tax allocation basis of accounting. Accordingly, the 
company accounts for income taxes using the taxes payable hasis. This basis 
does not provide for future income taxes which may be payable in future years as 
a result of the difference between current financial reporting and reporting for 
income tax purposes. Future income taxes not providcd in these financial 
staterncnts would amount to a recovery of $46,000 for the year ended 
September 30, 2003 (2002 - expense of $8,000) and a future liability of 
$546,000 at September 30,2003 (2002 - $592,000). 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30,2003 

Use of estirnutes: 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dale of the financial 
statements and the reported amount of revenues and exp'enses during the 
reported period. These estimatcs arc rcvicwcd periodically and, as adjustments 
become necessary, they are reported in earnings in the period in which they 
become known. 

1. Capital assets: 

Accumulated Net Book Net Book 
Cost Amortization Value Valuc 

Land $ 
Buildings 
Furniture and 

fixtures 
Machinery and 

cquipmcnt 
Computer 

equipment 
Computer software 
Automotive 

equipment 
Meters and 

regulators 
Pipcline 

installations 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMlTED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30,2003 

2. Franchises and consents: 

Franchises and consents % 151,094 $ 151,094 
Less: accumulated amortization 58,194 51,651 

$ 92,900 $ 99,443 
- - - - 

3. Deferred finance costs: 

Deferred finance costs $ 92,945 $ 92,945 
Less: accumulated amortization 63,319 57,124 

!?i 29,626 $ 35,821 
-- - ~- -- -- 

4. Demand debenture payable: 

Demand debenture payable, with interest 
payable monthly at the floating 
ScotiaBank prime lending rate for 
Canadian dollar demand commercial 
loans in Canada plus 1.5% $ 118,000 $ 118,000 

The debenture is secured by a general security agreement over the accounts, monies 
and inventory of the company. 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continucd 

September 30,2003 

5. Related party transactions: 

During thc year, rent of $9,600 (2002 - $9,600) and management fees of $83,000 
(2002 - $81,000) were paid to affiliated companies. 

During the year, the company purchased gas in the amount of $1,012,734 (2002 - 
$995,92 1) from an affiliated company. 

During the year, the company paid interest of $91,867 (2002 - $92,532) on the 
loans payable to an affiliated company. 

During the year, maintenance charges of $41,280 (2002 - $33,340) were charged to 
an affiliated company. 

During the year, the company provided installation services and product to an 
affiliated company in the amount of $nil (2002 - $1 18,469 ). 

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities are amounts payable to 
affiliated companies of $102,499 as at September 30,2003 (2002 - $97,511). 

Included in accounts receivable are amounts receivable from affiliated companies 
of $24,781 as at September 30,2003 (2002 .-$41,094). 

Affiliated companies are companies controlled, directly or indirectly, by an 
associated group of trusts. 

These transactions are in the normal course of business, and are disclosed at the 
exchange amount. 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

Scpternber 30,2003 

6. Long-term debt: 

The Imperial Life Assurance Company of 
Canada, 1 1.8%, repayable in blended 
monthly instalments of $44,525 principal 
and interest, due July 3 1,2009 $ 2,225,492 $ 2,480,594 

Banco Securities Inc. 11.03%, repayable in 
blended monthly instalments of $3,384, 
principal and interest, due September 30, 
201 0 198,974 217,055 

Imperial Tobacco Limited, 6%, repayable in 
quarterly interest payments only, with 
annual principal payments of $125,000 
commencing October 22, 2000, due 
October 22,2002 

Banco Securities Inc., 9.66% (interest rate 
adjusted annually based upon the aliowed 
rate of return as set by the Ontario Energy 
Board. Minimum rate of 9.25%), 
repayable in monthly interest only 
instalrnents, due July 3 1,2009 951,000 95 1,000 

- 

Less: current portion 

The aggregate amount of principal payments required in each of the next 5 years to 
meet retirement provisions is as follows: 

2004 
2005 
2006 
2007 
2008 
thereafter 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30,2003 

6. Long-term debt - continued: 

The following has been pledged as security for the Imperial Life loan: 

a) fixed and floating charge over all of the assets of the company; 
b) general security agreement; 
c) general assignment of accounts receivable; and, 
d) assignment of all risk insurance over the assets of the company. 

In addition, a limited recourse guarantee and postponement of claim has been 
provided. 

The balances payable to the Banco Securities Inc. are secured by general security 
agcements which are subordinate to the security agreement registered for the 
Imperial Life loan. 

The company was in breach of three covenants during the year with respect to thc 
Imperial Life Loan. These were management fees of $8,000 in excess of the 
authorized amount, the debt service coverage ratio was less than the specified 1.4 to 
1 ratio, and the interest coverage ratio was less than the specified 2.25 to 1 ratio. 

The company has had similar experience in the prior years and also has not been in 
compliance with a few other eovcnants since fiscal 1995. The company did obtain 
a waiver from the lender subsequent to the issuance of the financial statements for 
the year ended September 30, 1998 with respect to these covenants. The company 
has continucd to make all required payments under this loan in accordance with the 
terms of the loan and the conditions remain unchanged fiom those which existed in 
the prior year. 

As in prior years, the company does not expect the loan agreemcnt to be terminated 
or penalties imposed with respect to this event and as such the company has not 
accrued any penally in these financial statements. The calculation of thc amount of 
any penalty is ambiguous under the tcrms of the lending agreement but could be 
interpreted as an amount up to $362,000. Accordingly, the company has continued 
to treat this loan as a long-term liability. 



NATURAL 'RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30,2003 

7. Share capital: 

Authorized: 
Unlimited Class A shares non-voting, 

redeemable and retractable with non- 
cumulative dividends 

Unlimited Class B shares non-voting, with 
non-cuntulative dividends ranking pari 
passu with common shares on dissolution 

Unlimited Class C shares non-voting, with a 
preferential 7% non-cumulative 
dividends redeemable and retractable at 
$100 per share 

Unlimited Class Z shares voting, 
redeemable and retractable at $1 per 
share, with no dividend entitlement 

Unlimited number of common shares 
Issued and outstanding: 

50,000 Class A shares $ 2,038,582 $ - 
10 Class B shares 10 - 
134,6 14.18 Class C shares 13,461,418 - 
10 Class Z shares 10 - 
50.000 Common sharcs - 450,203 

During the year the company issued 10 Class B shares for $1 each. 
During the ycar the company issued 134,614.18 Class C shares for $100 each. 
During the year the company issued 10 Class Z shares for $1 each. 
During the year thc company converted 50,000 common shares for 50,000 Class A 
shares. 
During the ycar the company pursuant to the provisions of the Business 
Corporations Act (Ontario), added to the stated capital of the Class A special shares 
an amount of $15,049,797. In a series of subsequent transactions during the year the 
company pursuant to the Business Corporations Acl (Ontario) rcduccd the stated 
capital of thc Class A shares in the amount of $1 3,461,418 by a transfer of funds to 
the shareholder. 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30;2003 

8. Financial instruments: 

The carrying values of the company's financial current assets and liabilities, 
including cash, accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, income taxes recoverable, 
defend charges, demand debenture payable, accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities, deferred rcvenue and customer deposits approximate their values due to 
their short-term maturity. 

The fair value of long-term debt is estimated using a discounted cash flow 
calculation that uses markel interest rates currently charged for similar debt 
instruments at September 30,2003 to expected maturity datcs. 

Based upon the above calculation the carrying value of $ 3,375,466 of long-term 
debt has a fair value of $3,819,191. 

Credit risk: 

Credit risk arises from the potential that a trade customer will fail to pay its 
account. The company is exposed to credit risk from its customers. However, the 
company has a large number of diverse customers, which minimizes concentration 
of credit risk. 

9. Additional cash flow statement information: 

Interest paid 
Income taxcs paid 
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ADDITIONAL CONMENTS OF AUDITORS 

The accompanying schedule of expenses. is presented as supplementary information 
only. In this respect, it does not form part of the financial statements of Natural 
Resource Gas Limited for the year ended September 30, 2003 and is hence excluded 
from the opinion expressed in our report dated December 5, 2003 to the shareholders on 
such financial statements. The information in this schedulc has been subject to audit 
procedures only to the extent neccssary to express an opinion on the financial statements 
of thc company and, in our opinion, is fairly presented in all respects material to those 
financial statements. 

London, Canada 
December 5,2003 CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Unaudited Schedule of Expenses 

Year ended September 30 

Advertising $ 
Automotive and maintenance 
Bad debts 
Bank charges and other interest 
Capital tax 
Consulting fees 
Direct purchase costs 
Dues and fees 
Employee benefits 
Gain on disposal of capital assets 
Insurance 
Interest on Iong-term debt 
Legal and audit 
Managcmcnt fccs - affiliated company 
Miscellaneous 
Office 
Ontario Energy Board hearings 
Promotional rebates 
Property taxes 
Rent - affiliated company 
Salaries and wages 
Telephone 
Travel and promotion 
Utilities 
Amortization - Automotive equipment 

Buildings 
Computer equipment 
Computer soltware 
Deferred finance costs 
Franchises and consents 
Furniture and Fixtures 
Machinery and equipment 
Meters and regulators 
Pipeline installations 

3,005,761 2,713,849 
Equipment expenses capitalized to pipeline 

installations (1 8,355) (25,223) 
Interest expense (income) 3,614 (1 5,542) 
Amorti7ation capitalized to pipelinc installations (7,357) (8,599) 
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AUDITORS' REPORT 

To the Board of Directors 
Natural Resource Gas Limited 

We have audited the balance sheet of Natural Resource Gas Limited as at 
September 30, 2004 and the statements of income, deficit, and cash flow for the year 
then ended. These fmancial statements have been prepared, with the unanimous consent 
of the company's shareholders, in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles using differential reporting options available to non-publicly 
accountable enterprises, as described in the summary of significant accounting policies 
attached to the financial statements. These fmancial statements are the responsibility of 
the company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial statements based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether the fmancial statements are fiee of material misstatement. 
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the fmancial statements. An audit also ihcludes assessing the accounting 
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall fmancial statement presentation. 

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the company as at September 30, 2004 and the results of its 
operations and changes in its financial position for the year then ended in accordance 
with the basis of accounting disclosed in the summary of significant accounting policies. 

London, Canada 
December 14,2004 CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Balance Sheet 

As at September 3 0 

Assets 

Current assets: 
Cash $, - $ , 570,499 
Accounts receivable 1,289,437 , 865,914 
Inventory 130,262. 95,873 
Prepaid expenses 23,919 ' 35,595 
Income taxes recoverable 58,978 ,132,841 
Deferred charges 32,795 18,270 

'1,535,391 1,718,992 

Property, plant, and equipment (note 1) 9,271,362 9,296,447 

Other assets: 
Franchises and consents (note 2) 
Deferred financing costs (note 3) 23,430 29,626 

See accompanying.notes to the fmancial statements. 



- NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Balance Sheet 

As at September 30 

Liabilities and Shaxeholders' Equity 

Current liabilities: 
Bank indebtedness $ 49,178 $ 
Demand debenture payable (note 4) 118,007 1 18,000 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 5) 1,720,803 2,117,114 
Deferred revenue 118,938 114,559 
Customer deposits 102,214 90,440 
Current portion of long-term debt (note 6) 345,042 307,O 15 

. . 2,454,182 2,747,128 
Long-term debt (note 6) 2,723,409 3,068,45 1 

Shareholders' equity: 
Share capital (note 7) 

Retractable shares (redemption value $15,500,0 10) 15,500,010 15,500,010 
Participating shares 10 10 

Deficit (9,761,070) (1 0,177,634) 

Contingent liabilities (note 6) 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Statement of Deficit 

Year ended September 30 

Balance, beginning of year 

Net income for the year 41,6,564 20 1,434 

Addition to the stated capital of the Class A shares - (1 5,049,797) 

Balance, end of year $ (9,76 1,070) $ (1 0,177,634) 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 

- 4 -  



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Statement of Income 

Year ended September 30 

Gas commodity and distribution revenue $ 9,480,595 $ 9,212,250 
Gas commodity cost 6,424,612 6,566,250 

Gross margin 
. .  , . 

3,055,983 2,646,000 

Other sales 1,262,628 1,041,311 
Other costs 817,489 571,675 

Gross margin on other sales 445,139 469,636 

Other revenue 65,128 74,907 

Expenses 2,907,186 2,850,609 

Income before provision for income taxes 659,064 339,934 

Provision for income taxes 242,500 138,500 
- - - -  

Net income for the year $ 416,564 $ 201,434 

Included in expenses are the following: 
Amortization of deferred financing costs 
Amortization of franchises and consents 
Amortization 
Interest on long-term debt 
Interest on short-term debt 

See accompanyihg notes to the financial statements. 

- 5 -  



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Cash Flow Statement 

Year ended Se~tember 30 

Cash flows from operating activities: 
Net income for the year 

Items not affecting working capital: 
Amortization 554,603 552,6 17 

Changes in non-cash worlung capital: 
Accounts receivable (423,522) (1 75,034) 
hventory (34,389) (20,130) 
Prepaid expenses 11,676 (2 1,050) 
Income taxes recoverable (note 1 1) 73,863 (132,841) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (396,3 11) 665,246 
Income taxes payable (note 11) - .  (361,957) 
Deferred revenue 4,379 , ' 29,984 
Deferred charges (14,525) (7,855) 
Customer deposits 11,774 . 7,278 

204,112 737,692 

Cash flows fiom investing activities: 
Additions to property, plant, and equipment (5 1 6,78 1) (377,3 14) 

Cash flows fiom fmancing activities: 
Repayments of long-term debt (307,015) (694,183) 
Issuance of Class C shares - 13,461,418 
Issuance of Class B shares - 10 
Issuance of Class Z shares - 10 
Advances from demand debenture payable 7 
Reduction of stated capital of Class A shares - (13,461,418) 

(307,008) (694,163) 

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents during the year (6 19,677) (333,785) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 570,499 904,284 - 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ (49,178) $ 570,499 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 

- 6 -  



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

September 30,2004 

Summary of significant accounting policies: 

The company, with the unanimous consent of its shareholders, has elected 
to prepare its financial statement in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles, using differential reporting options available to non-publicly 
accountable enterprises as described below: 

(a) Share capital: 

The company has elected to apply the differential reporting measurement option 
allowed for the accounting for retractable shares and, therefore has presented as 
equity instead of disclosing as a liability, the issued and outstanding Class A and 
Class C shares of the company. 

Regulation: 

The utility operations of the company is a rate regulated, natural gas distribution 
utility and operates within a limited area of Southwestern Ontario under 
franchise agreements that are approved by the Ontario Energy Board (OEB). 

The utility operations are subject to regulations under The Ontario Energy Board 
Act and The Energy Act (Ontario). Revenue rate schedules are approved 
periodically by the OEB and are designed to permit a fair and reasonable return 
to the Company on the utility investment. Realization of the allowed rate of 
return is subject to actual operating conditions experienced during the year. 

The Company follows Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. Such 
accounting principles may differ for regulated entities from those otherwise 
expected in non-regulated entities. These differences occur when the regulatory 
agencies render their decisions on the Company's rate applications and generally 
involve the timing of revenue and expense recognition to ensure that the 
Company has achieved a proper matching of revenues and expenses. In addition 
to defining certain accounting requirements, the regulatory agencies have 
jurisdiction over a number of other matters, which include the rates to be 
charged for the distribution of gas and approval and recovery of costs for major 
construction and operations. 

Inventory: 

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value, with cost being 
determined on a first-in, first-out basis. Net realizable value is defined as 
replacement cost. 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 3 0,2004 

Deferred charges: 

Certain costs, required or permitted by the OEB, have been deferred for recovery 
from future revenues. Certain regulatory deferrals are subject to future decision 
by the OEB, who will determine the financial reporting to be provided for these 
deferred accounts. 

Property, plant, and equipment. 

Pursuant to the regulations of the OEB on the disposal of property, plant, and 
equipment, excluding major disposals, the company transfers the original cost of 
the retired assets, plus any related removal costs and net of any proceeds on 
disposition, to accumulated amortization. Proceeds from disposition are credited 
to accumulated amortization. This effectively credits gains, or charges losses on 
chposition to accumulated amortization. 

Expenditures which substantially increase the use l l  life of existing pipeline 
installations and additions to the pipeline are capitalized. Such expenditures 
include material, labour and overhead. Maintenance and repairs which do not 
extend the useful life of pipeline installations are charged to income. 

The company has reviewed its long-lived assets and determined there exists no 
asset retirement obligation as of September 30,2004. 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30,2004 

Amortization: 

Pursuant to the periodic review and approval by the OEB of amortization rates, 
amortization is calculated using the straight-line method on the total gross cost 
of each asset category at the end of the year, rather than on an asset specific 
basis, at the following annual rates for the property, plant and equipment 
categories listed below: 

Automotive equipment 
Buildings 
Computer equipment 
Computer software 
Furniture and furtures 
Machinery and equipment 
Meters and regulators 
Pipeline installations 

Amortization of deferred finance costs (related to the issue of long-term debt) is 
calculated at the annual rate of 7 % using the straight-line method over the life of 
the related debt issuance. 

Amortization of franchises and consents is calculated at the annual rate of 4 % 
using the straight-line method. 

Income taxes. 

The company's rate and revenues, established for regulatory purposes, allow for 
the recovery of income taxes on a formula basis which differs from the amount 
as determined under the tax allocation basis of accounting. Accordingly, the 
company accounts for income taxes using the taxes payable basis. This basis 
does not provide for future income taxes which may be payable in future years as 
a result of the difference between current fmancial reporting and reporting for 
income tax purposes. Future income taxes not provided in these fmancial 
statements would amouht to a recovery of $20,000 for the year ended 
September 30, 2004 (2003 - $46,000) and an accumulated future liability of 
$526,000 at September 30,2004 (2003 - $546,000). 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 3 0,2004 

Revenue recognition.. 

The Company recognizes revenues when gas has been delivered or services have 
been performed. Gas distribution revenues are recorded on the basis or regular 
meter readings and estimates of customer usage since the last meter reading to 
the end of the reporting period. 

A significant portion of the Company's operations are subject to regulation and 
accordingly there are circumstances where the revenues recognized do not match 
the amounts billed. Revenue is recognized in a manner consistent with the 
underlying rate setting mechanism as mandated by the OEB. This may give rise 
to regulatory deferral accounts on the balance sheet pending disposition by a 
decision of the OEB. 

Gas commodity costs: 

Gas commodity costs are recorded using prices approved by the OEB in the 
determination of customers sales rates. Differences between the OEB approved 
reference prices and those costs actually incurred are deferred in accounts 
receivable for future &sposition subject to the approval of the OEB. 

Use of estimates: 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the 
reported period. These estimates are reviewed periodically and, as adjustments 
become necessary, they are reported in earnings in the period in which they 
become known. 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 3 0,2004 

1. Property, plant, and equipment: 

Accumulated Net Book Net Book 
Cost Amortization Value Value 

Land $ 
Buildings 
Furniture and 

f~ tu re s  
Machinery and 

equipment 
Computer 

equipment 
Computer software 
Automotive 

equipment 
Meters and 

regulators 
Pipeline 

installations 

2. Franchises and consents: 

Franchises and consents 
Less: accumulated amortization 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30,2004 

3. Deferred finance costs: 

Deferred finance costs 
Less: accumulated amortization 

- - - - - - - - 

4. Demand debenture payable: 

Demand debenture payable, with interest 
payable monthly at the floating 
ScotiaBank prime lending rate for 
Canadian dollar demand commercial 
loans in Canada plus 1.5% 

The debenture is secured by a general security agreement over the accounts, monies 
and inventory of the company. 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30,2004 

5. Related party transactions: 

During the year, rent of $9,600 (2003 - $9,600) and management fees of $85,000 
(2003 - $83,000) were paid to an affiliated company. 

During the year, the company purchased gas in the amount of $1,296,886 (2003 - 
$1,0 12,734) fiom an affiliated company. 

During the year, the company paid interest of $nil (2003 - $91,867) on the loans 
payable to an affiliated company. 

During the year, maintenance charges of $4 1,280 (2003 - $4 1,280) were charged to 
an affiliated company. 

During the year, the company provided installation services and product. to an 
affiliated company in the amount of $208,17 1 (2003 - $nil ). 

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities are amounts payable to 
affiliated companies of $419,464 as at September 30,2004 (2003 - $102,499). 

Included in accounts receivable are amounts receivable from affiliated companies 
of $49,570 as at September 30,2004 (2003 -$24,781). 

Affiliated companies are companies controlled, directly or indirectly, by trusts, 
where the beneficiaries of the trusts are common to both trusts. 

These transactions are in the normal course of business, and are measured at the 
exchange amount. 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 3 0,2004 

6. Long-term debt: 

Debenture payable, 1 1.8%, repayable in 
blended monthly instalments of $44,525 
principal and interest, due July 3 1,20 0 9 $ 1,938,607 $ 2,225,492 

Debenture payable, 11.03%; repayable in 
blended monthly instalrnents of $3,3 84, 
principal and interest, due September 30, 
2010 178,844 198,974 

Debenture payable, 9.72% (interest rate 
adjusted annually based upon the allowed 
rate of return as set by the Ontario Energy 
Board. Minimum rate of 9.25%), 
repayable in monthly interest only 
instalments, due July31,2009 .951,000 951,000 

Less: current portion 

The aggregate amount of principal payments required in each of the next 5 years to 
meet retirement provisions is as follows: 

2005 
2006 
2007 
2008 
2009 
thereafter 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30,2004 

6. Long-term debt - continued: 

The following has been pledged as security for the mortgage payable: 

a) fixed and floating charge over all of the assets of the company; 
b) general security agreement; 
c) general assignment of accounts receivable; and, 
d) assignment of all risk insurance over the assets of the company. 

In addition, a limited recourse guarantee and postponement of claim has been 
provided. 

The debentures payable are secured by general security agreements which are 
subordinate to the security agreement registered for mortgage payable. 

The company was in breach of two covenants during the year with respect to the 
mortgage payable. These were management fees of $10,000 in excess of the 
authorized amount, and the company made $1,023 of capital expenditures in excess 
of the $550,000 annual limit. 

The company has had similar experience in the prior years and also has not been in 
compliance with a few other covenants since fiscal 1995. The company did obtain 
a waiver from the lender subsequent to the issuance of the financial statements for 
the year ended September 30, 1998 with respect to these covenants. The company 
has continued to make all required payments under this loan in accordance with the 
terms of the loan and the conditions remain unchanged fiom those which existed in 
the prior year. 

As in prior years, the company does not expect the loan agreement to be terminated 
or penalties imposed with respect to this event and as such the company has not 
accrued any penalty in these financial statements. The calculation of the amount of 
any penalty is ambiguous under the terms of the lending agreement but could be 
interpreted as an amount up to $278,000. Accordingly, the company has continued 
to treat this loan as a long-term liability. 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30,2004 

7. Share capital: 

Authorized: -.. 
Unlimited Class A shares, non-voting, ' 

redeemable and retractable with non- , 1 
cumulative dividends 

Unlimited Class B shares, participating, non- , 
voting, with non-cumulative dividends , 
ranking pari passu with common share3 ' 
on dissolution 

Unlimited Class C shares non-voting, w i d  
preferential 7% non-cumulative 
dividends redeemable and retractable at,' 
$100 per share 

Unlimited Class Z shares voting, 
redeemable and retractable at $1 per 1 1  

share, with no dividend entitlement 
Unlimited number of common shares 

Issued and outstanding: 

(.,.LA 
Retractable shares: ( , 

Class A shares ' $ 2,038,582 $ 2,038,582 
Class C shares 13,461,418 13,461,418 

10ClassZshares L Z J . \ C ~ , ,  7 10 10 

participating shares: 
10 Class B shares 



' .. '. 

NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30,2004 

8. Gas imbalances: 

The Company, in the normal course of its operations experiences imbalances in the 
quantity of gas purchased and the quantities of gas sold and provides the gas 
balancing services to customers. The company records the net liability (or net 
asset) associated with gas imbalance volumes. 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities include $305,242 (2003 - $173,503) 
related to gas imbalances. Natural gas volumes owed from the Company are valued 
at the natural gas reference price as approved by the OEB as of the balance sheet 
dates. 

9. Regulatory matters: 

The Company has rates that are approved by the OEB. The fiscal year 2004 was 
the final year in a two-year Cost of Service Rate filing. The fiscal year 2005 Cost 
of Service Rate filing application was submitted to the OEB and the Company is 
awaiting the OEB decision. 

Rates for the sale of gas are adjusted quarterly to reflect updated commodity price 
forecasts. The difference between the approved and the actual cost of gas incurred 
in the current period is deferred for future recovery subject to approval by the OEB. 
These differences are directly flowed through to customers and, therefore, no rate of 
return is earned on the deferred balances. The OEB's approval for recovery of these 
gas purchase costs primarily considers the prudence of costs incurred. 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30,2004 

10. Financial instruments: 

The carrying values of the company's fmancial current assets and liabilities, 
including cash, accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, income taxes recoverable, 
deferred charges, demand debenture payable, accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities, deferred revenue and customer deposits approximate their values due to 
their short-term maturity. 

The fair value of long-term debt is estimated using a discounted cash flow 
calculation that uses market interest rates currently charged for similar debt 
instruments at September 30,2004 to expected maturity dates. 

Based upon the above calculation the carrying value of $ 3,068,451 of long-term 
debt has a fair value of $3,45 1,32 1. 

Credit risk: 

Credit risk arises from the potential that a trade customer will fail to pay its 
account. The company is exposed to credit risk from its customers. However, the 
company has a large number of diverse customers, which minimizes concentration 
of credit risk. 

11. Additional cash flow statement information: 

Interest paid 
Income taxes paid 

12. Comparative balances: 

Certain of the comparative balances have been reclassified to conform to the 
presentation adopted for the current year. 
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ADDITIONAL COMMENTS OF AUDITORS 

The accompanying schedule of expenses is presented as supplementary information 
only. In this respect, it does not form part of the fmancial statements of Natural 
Resource Gas Limited for the year ended September 30, 2004 and is hence excluded 
fiom the opinion expressed in our report dated ~ecember 14, 2004 to the board of 
directors on such fmancial statements. The information in this schedule has been 
subject to audit procedures only to the extent necessary to express an opinion on the 
financial statements of the company and, in our opinion, is fairly presented in all 
respects material to those fmancial statements. 

London, Canada 
.December 14,2004 

A a z z f r - J ~  

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Unaudited Schedule of Expenses 

Year ended September 3 0 

. .  . 
Advertising $ 41,450 $ 12,154 
Automotive and maintenance 217,669 240.3 18 
Bad debts 
Bank charges and other interest 
Capital tax 
Consulting fees 
Direct purchase costs 
Dues and fees 
Employee benefits 
Insurance 
Interest on long-term debt 
Legal and audit 
Management fees - affiliated company 
Miscellaneous 
Office 
Ontario Energy Board hearings 
Promotional rebates 
Property taxes 
Rent - affiliated company 
Salaries and wages 
Telephone 
Travel and promotion 
Utilities 
Amortization - Automotive equipment 

Buildings 
Computer equipment 
Computer software 
Deferred finance costs 
Franchises and consents 
Furniture and Fixtures 
Machinery and equipment 
Meters and regulators 
Pipeline installations 

-- - 

2,956,722 2,872,707 
Equipment expenses capitalized to pipeline 

installations (25,657) (18,355) 
Interest expense (income) (14,638) 3,614 
Amortization capitalized to pipeline installations (9,241) (7,357). 
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ASSIGNMENT, POSTPONEMENT AND SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT 

TO: THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA (''the Bank") 

WHEREAS the Bank has agreed to provide certain credit facilities to NATURAL RESOURCE 
GAS LIMITED (the "Borrower") pursuant to an Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated 
October 9,2008 as the same may be amended, modified or replaced (the "Credit Agreement"); 

AND WHEREAS the execution and delivery of this Agreement is a condition precedent to the 
Bank extending the credit facilities to the Borrower under the Credit Agreement; 

NOW THEREFORE in consideration of the Bank granting the credit facilities to the Bonower 
and for other valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby 
acknowledged, the undersigned Class C shareholder of the Borrower (hereafter called the 
"Subordinator"), agrees and undertakes as follows: 

1. Postponement, Subordination and Assignment 

From the date hereof and until such time as all indebtedness, obligations and liabilities of the 
Borrower to the Bank under the Credit Agreement or arising under any other credit agreement 
between the Bank and the Borrower are repaid in full, the Subordinator agrees: 

(a) to postpone the payment and satisfaction by the Borrower of all shareholder loans, 
dividends and other rights to withdraw capital now or hereafter due and owing by the 
Borrower to the Subordinator and all interest accruing thereon (the "Subordinated 
Obligations") in favour of the Bank, and to subordinate the Subordinated Obligations to 
all indebtedness, liabilities and obligations of the Borrower to the Bank; 

(b) to assign and transfer to the Bank as security for the Subordinated Obligations and all 
liabilities of the Borrower to the Bank, all debts, demands and liabilities which are now 
due, owing or accruing due or may hereafter become due. owing or accruing due to the 
Subordinator by the Borrower and also all securities and rights of any nature which now 
are or may hereafter be held by the Subordimtor as collateral therefore and the same shall 
be deemed security granted by the Borrower to the Bank; 

(c) that except with the Bank's prior written consent, any monies owing or which may 
become owing by the Borrower to the Subordinator and which constitute the 
Subordinated Obligations, shall not be withdrawn, transferred, pledged, encumbered, 
assigned or otherwise dealt with by the Subordinator but shall remain on the books of the 
Borrower at all times for so long as any monies remain owing to the Bank by the 
Borrower under the Credit .Agreement or otherwise; and 

(d) not to demand or accept payment of all or any part of the Subordinated Obligations. 

2. Insolvency 



In the event of the bankruptcy or winding up of the Borrower or of any distribution of the assets 
of the Borrower or proceeds thereof among its creditors in any manner whatsoever, the Bank 
shall be entitled to receive the dividends payable in respect of the Secured Obligations, such 
dividends to be applied on such part or parts of the Borrower's then indebtedness to the Bank as 
the Bank shall deem fit until the whole of such indebtedness has been paid in full and thereafter 
the Subordinator shall be entitled to such dividends. 

3. Suborditor consent to Registrations 

The Subordinator hereby wnsents to the filing by the Bank of financing statements, F i c i n g  
change statements or to any similar registrations or filings in any and all appropriate jurisdictions 
in respect of the postponement and subordimation of the Subordinated Obligations granted 
herein, and the Subordinator shall, upon written request from the Bank, undertake such 
registrations or filings in prescnied form. Further, to facilitate the filing by the Bank of 
fiiancing statements. financing change statements or similar registrations or filings, the 
Subordinator authorises the Bank or its solicitors to prepare, execute and file such documents as 
agent of the Subordinator. The Subordinator waives all rights to receive a copy of the financing 
statement, verification statement and any financing change statement relating thereto. 

4. Subordinator as Trustee 

In the event any payments are made by the Borrower to the Subordinator in contravention of this 
Agreement, the Subordinator shall hold such payments in trust for the Bank and shall forthwith 
pay such payments to the Bank. 

5. General 

(a) The Subordinator shall, from time to time, and at all times hereafter do dl things and 
execute all documents which the Bank may deem necessary or desirable in order to give 
full effect to this Agreement. 

(b) This agreement shall be governed by and constmed in accordance with the laws of the 
Province of Ontario and the laws of Canada applicable therein. 

(c) This agreement shall extend and enure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Bank and 
the Subordinator and their respective successors and assigns. 

(d) No provision in this agreement may be changed, modified or amended other than by an 
agreement in writing signed by each of the parties hereto. 

(e) The rights and remedies granted to the Bank hereunder shall be cumulative of and not 
substituted for any rights or remedies to which the Bank may be entitled under the Credit 
Agreement or any other security provided to the Bank or at law and may be exercised 
whether or not the Bank has pursued or is then pursuing any such other rights and 
remedies. 

(f) This agreement and the rights and remedies it creates are a continuing agreement and 
security, and shall bind the parties until the termination of this agreement. 



S WIIEWOF the party hereto has executed this agreement this 2tZ*P day 
,2008. 

v CIS 
I have authority to bind the Corporation 



Appendix D 



GENERAL SECURITY AGREEMENT 

THIS GENEWU SECURITY AGREEMENT made as of the 24th day of 
June, 1994. 

B E T W E E N :  

THE IMPERIAL LIFE ASSURANCE 
COMPANY OF CANADA, a life insurance 
company existing under the laws of Canada 

(the "Creditor") 

- and - 

NATURGL RESOURCE GAS IJMITEID, a 
corporation existing pursuant to the laws of the 
Province of Ontario 

(the "Debtor") 

WHEREAS the Debtor is now or will be indebted to the Creditor; 

AND WHEREAS the Debtor has agreed to provide the Creditor with collateral 
security over its assets to secure the debts and obligations of the Debtor to the Creditor pursuant 
to the terms of a Loan Agreement between the Creditor and the Debtor dated as of June 24, 
1994, as the same may be modified, amended, supplemented, restated or replaced from time to 
time (the "Loan Agreement"); 

NOW -ORE FOR VALUE RECEIVED (the receipt and sufficiency of 
which is hereby acknowledged) the parties hereto agree as follows: 

1. Securitv Interest: 

(a) The Debtor hereby grants to the Creditor, by way of mortgage, charge, 
assignment and transfer, a security interest (the "Security Interest") in the assets, 
property and undertaking of the Debtor and in all Goods (including aLl parts, 
accessories, attachments, specid tools, additions and accessions thereto), Chattel 
Paper, Documents of Title (whether negotiable or not), Instruments, Intangibles 
and Securities now owned or hereafter owned or acquired by or on behalf of the 



Debtor (including such as may be returned to or repossessed by the Debtor) and 
all proceeds and renewals thereof, accretions thereto and substitutions therefor 
(collectively "the Collateral"), including, without limitation, all of the following 
now owned or hereafter owned or aquired by or on behalf of the Debtor: 

(i) all inventory of whatever kind and wherever situate ("Inventory"); 

(ii) all equipment (other than Inventory) of whatever kind and wherever 
situate, including, without limitation, all pipelines, pumping stations, 
machinery, tools, apparatus, plant, furniture, fixtures and vehicles of 
whatsoever nature or kind; 

(5) all book accounts and book debts and generally all accounts, debts, dues, 
claims, choses in action and demands of every nature and kind howsoever 
arising or secured, including letters of credit and advices of credit, which 
are now due, owing or accruing or growing due to or owned by or which 
may hereafter become due, owing or accruing or growing due to or owned 
by the Debtor (collectively, the "Debts"), 

(iv) all deeds, documents, writings, papers, books of account and other books 
relating to or being records of Debts, Chattel Papr or Documents of Title 
or by which such are or may hereafter be secured, evidenced, 
acknowledged or made payable; 

(v) all contractual rights and insurance claims and all goodwill, patents, 
trademarks, copyrights, and other industrial property; 

(vi) to the full extent permitted by law, all hchises, privileges, permits, 
grants, licenses, by-laws, consents and orders owned or held by or granted 
to the Debtor covering the purchase, import or export of natural or other 
gas or the laying, maintenance or operation of the existing gas pipeline or 
any gas pipelines owned, acquired, or constructed by the Debtor in, on, 
over, under or along lands, streets, roads, highways, railroads, rivers, 
canals, ditches, bridges, public grounds and land, public structures or 
elsewhere, and rights incidental thereto, in each case whether now owned 
or hereafter acquired; 

(vii) all monies other than trust monies lawfully belonging to others; and 

(viii) all other property of the Debtor of any kind. 

(b) The Security Inteest granted hereby shall not extend or apply to and collateral 
shall not include the last day of the term of any lease or agreement therefor but, 
upon the enforcement of the Security hInterest, the Debtor shall stand possessed 
of such last day in trust to assign the same to any person aquiirng such term. 



(c) The terms "Goods", "Chattel Paper", "Documents of Title", "Equipment", 
"Consumer Goods", "Instruments", "Intangibles", "Securities", " P r d s " ,  
"Inventory" and "Accession" whenever used herein shall be interpreted pursuant 
to their respective meanings in the Personal Property Security Act, R.S.O. 1990, 
P.  10, as amended h m  time to time, (the "PPSA"), provided always that the term 
"Goods" when used herein shall not include "consumer goods" of the Debtor as 
defined in the PPSA. Any reference herein to "Collateral" shall, unless the 
context otherwise requires, be deemed a reference to "Collateral or any part 
thereof". The term "Proceeds" whenever used herein and interpreted as above 
shall by way of example include trade-ins, equipment, cash, bank accounts, notes, 
chattel paper, goods, contract rights, accounts and any other personal property or 
obligation received when such collateral or proceeds are sold, exchanged, 
collected or otherwise disposed of. 

2. Indebtedness Secured: The Security Interest granted hereby secures payment and 
satisfaction of any and all obligations, indebtedness and liability of the Debtor to the Creditor 
(including interest thereon and costs and expenses related thereto) pursuant to the Loan 
Agreement (collectively the "Indebtedness"). If the Security Interest in the ColIateral is not 
sufficient, in the event of default, to satisfy all Indebtedness of the Debtor, the Debtor 
acknowledges and agrees that the Debtor shall continue to be liable for any Indebtedness 
remaining outstanding and the Creditor shall be entitled to pursue W payment thereof. 

3. Re~resentations and Warranties of the Debtor: The Debtor represents and 
w m t s  and, so long as this General Security Agreement remains in effect, shall be deemed to 
continuously represent and warrant that: 

(a) the Debtor is duly incorporated and organized and validly exists under the laws 
of Ontario and has full power and authority (corporate or otherwise) to conduct 
its business and own its properties in all jurisdictions in which the Debtor carries 
on business, and to execute, deliver and perform all of its obligations under this 
General Security Agreement; 

(b) all action (corporate or otherwise) which is necessary for the authorization, 
execution, delivery and performance of this General Security Agreement and any 
agreements ancillary hereto or required hereunder has been duIy taken on the part 
of the Debtor, its directors and shareholders; 

(c) this is a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Debtor, enforceable against it 
in accordance with its terms, subject only as such enforcement may be limited by 
bankruptcy, insolvency and any other laws of general application affecting 
creditors' rights and by rules of equity governing enforceability by specific 
performance and by mandatory requirement of applicable law specific to the 
Debtor's business of supply and distribution of natural gas; 

(d) there is no provision in the Debtor's articles of incorporation (including any 
amendments thereto), by-laws or resolution of the directors or shareholders of the 



Debtor, and there is no provision of any indenture or agreement, written or oral, 
to which the Debtor is a party or under which the Debtor is obligated, nor to the 
knowledge of the Debtor is there any statute, rule or regulation, or any judgment, 
decree or order of any court or agency binding on the Debtor which would be 
contravened by the execution and delivery of this Genera1 Security Agreement, 
or by the performance of any provision, condition, covenant or other term hereof; 

(e) to the knowledge of the Debtor, there is no litigation, tax claim, proceeding or 
dispute pending, the adverse determination of which might materially and 
adversely affect the Debtor's financial condition, operations or property or impair 
the Debtor's ability to perform its obligations hereunder or under any other 
instrument or agreement required hereunder; 

(0 the Collateral is owned by the Debtor free of all security interests, mortgages, 
liens, claims, charges or other encumbrances (collectively the "Encumbrances") 
which may have priority over the Security Interest, subject only to the Permitted 
Encumbrances (as defined under the Loan Agreement); 

(g) each Debt, Chattel Paper and Instrument constituting the Collateral is enforceable 
in accordance with its terms against the party obligated to pay the same (the 
"Account Debtor"), and the amount represented by the Debtor to the Creditor 
from time to time as owing by each Account Debtor or by all Account Debtors 
will be the correct amount actually and unconditionally owing by such Account 
Debtor or Account Debtors, except for normal cash discounts where applicable, 
and no Account Debtor will have any defense, set off, claim or counterclaim 
against the Debtor which can be asserted against the Creditor, whether in any 
proceeding to enforce the Collateral or otherwise; 

(h) business operations and records with respect to Goods (including Inventory) 
constituting the Collateral are located in the Province of Ontario, (except for 
Goods in transit and Inventory on lease or consignment) and all fixtures or Goods 
about to become fixtures will be located in Ontario; and 

(i) the complete and accurate name of the Debtor is set out on the first page of this 
Agreement. 

4. Covenants of the deb to^ So long as this General Security Agreement remains 
in effect, the Debtor covenants and agrees: 

(a) to defend the Collateral against the claims and demands of all other parties 
claiming the same or an interest therein, to keep the CoLlateraI free from all 
Encumbrances in priority to the Security Interest (except those hereafter approved 
in writing by the Creditor prior to their creation or assumption) and not to sell, 
exchange, transfer, assign, lease, or otherwise dispose of the Collateral or any 
interest therein without the prior written consent of the Creditor; provided always 
that, until default; the Debtor may in the ordinary course of the Debtor's business 



sell or lease Inventory and, subject to Section 7 hereof, use monies available to 
the Debtor; 

(b) to notify the Creditor promptly of: 

(i) any change in the information contained herein or in that relating to the 
Debtor, the Debtor's business or the Collateral; 

(ii) the details of any significant acquisition of the Collateral; 

(iii) the details of any claims or litigation affecting the Debtor or the 
Collateral; 

(iv) any loss or damage to the Collateral; 

(v) any default by any Account Debtor in payment or other performance of 
his obligations with respect to the Collateral; and 

(vi) the return to or repossession by the Debtor of the Collateral; 

(c) to keep the Collateral in good order, condition and repair and not to use the 
Collateral in violation of the provisions of this General Security Agreement or 
any other agreement relating to the Collateral or any policy insuring the Collateral 
or any applicable statute, law, by-law, rule, regulation or ordinance; 

(d) to do, execute, acknowledge and deliver such financing statements and further 
assignments, transfers, documents, acts, matters and things as may be reasonably 
requested by the Creditor of or with respect to the Collateral in order to give 
effect to this General Security Agreement and to pay a l l  costs for searches and 
filings in connection therewith; 

(e) to pay all taxes, rates, levies, assessments and other charges of every nature 
which may be lawfully levied, assessed or imposed against or in respect of the 
Debtor or the Collateral as and when the same become due and payable; 

(f) to insure the Collateral for such periods, in such amounts, on such terms and 
against loss or damage by fire and such other risks as the Creditor shall 
reasonably direct with loss payable to the Creditor and the Debtor, as insureds, 
as their reqective interests may appear, and to pay al l  premiums therefor; 

(g) to prevent the Collateral, save Inventory sold or leased as permitted hereby, from 
being or becoming an Accession to other property not covered by this General 
Security Agreement; 

(h) to carry on and conduct the business of the Debtor in a proper and efficient 
manner and so as to protect and preserve the Collateral and to keep in accordance 



with generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied proper books 
of account for the Debtor's business as well as accurate and complete records 
concerning the Collated, and mark any and all such records and the Collateral 
at the Creditor's request so as to indicate the Security Interest; 

(i) to deliver to the Creditor from time to time promptly upon request: 

(i) any Documents of Title, Instruments, Securities and Chattel Paper 
constituting, representing or relating to the Collateral; 

(ii) all books of account and a l l  records, ledgers, reports, correspondence, 
schedules, documents, statements lists and other writings relating to the 
Collateral for the purpose of inspecting, auditing or copying the same; 

(iii) all financial statements prepared by or for the Debtor regarding the 
Debtor's business; 

(iv) all policies and certificates of insurance relating to the Collated; and 

(v) such information concerning the Collateral, the Debtor and the Debtor's 
business and affairs as the Creditor may reasonably request. 

5. Use and Verification of Collateral: Subject to compliance with the Debtor's 
covenants contained herein and Section 11 hereof, the Debtor may until default possess, operate, 
collect, use and enjoy and deal with the Collateral in the ordinary course of the Debtor's 
business in any manner not inconsistent with the provisions hereof; provided always that the 
Creditor shall have the right at any time and from time to time to verify the existence and state 
of the Collateral in any manner the Creditor may consider appropriate and the Debtor agrees to 
furnish all assistance and information and to perform all such acts as the Creditor may 
reasonably request in connection therewith and for such purpose to grant to the Creditor or its 
agents access to all places where the Collateral may be located and to all premises occupied by 
the Debtor. 

6.  Securities: If the Collateral at any time includes Securities, the Debtor authorizes 
the Creditor to transfer the same or any part thereof into its own name or that of its nominee(s) 
so that the Creditor or its nominee@) may appear on record as the sole owner thereof; provided 
that, until default, the Creditor shall deliver promptly to the Debtor aU notices or other 
communications received by it or its nominee(s) as such registered owner and, upon demand and 
receipt of payment of any necessary expenses thereof, shall issue to the Debtor or its order a 
proxy to vote and take all action with respect to such Securities. After default, the Debtor 
waives all rights to receive any notices or communications received by the Creditor or its 
nominee(s) as such registered owner and agrees that no proxy issued by the Creditor to the 
Debtor or its order as aforesaid shall thereafter be effective. 

7. Collection of Debts: On default under this General Security Agreement, the 
Creditor may notify all or any Account Debtors of the Security Interest and may also direct such 



Account Debtors to make all payments on the Collateral to the Creditor. The Debtor 
acknowledges that any payments on or other proceeds of the Collateral received by the Debtor 
finm Account Debtors, whether before or after notification of this Security Interest to Account 
Debtors and whether before or after default under this General Security Agreement, shall be 
received and held by the Debtor in trust for the Creditor, shall be kept separate and independent 
from the property of the Debtor and shall be turned over to the Creditor upon request. 

8. Income from and Interest on Collateral: Until defkult, the Debtor reserves the 
right to receive any monies constituting income from or interest on the Collateral and if the 
Creditor receives any such monies prior to default, the Creditor shall either credit the same to 
the account of the Debtor or pay the same promptly to the Debtor. After default, the Debtor 
shall not request or receive any monies constituting income from or interest on the Collateral 
and, if the Debtor receives any such monies without any request by it, the Debtor shall pay the 
same promptly to the Creditor. 

9. Increases. Profits. Pavments or Distributions: Whether or not default has 
occurred, the Debtor authorizes the Creditor: 

(a) to receive any increase in or profits on the Collateral (other than money) and to 
hold the same as part of the Collateral, provided that money so received shall be 
treated as income for the purposes of Section 8 hereof and dealt with accordingly; 
and 

@) to receive any payment or distribution upon redemption or retirement or upon 
dissolution and liquidation of the issuer of the Collateral to surrender such 
'Collateral in exchange therefor and to hold any such payment or distribution as 
part of Collateral. 

If the Debtor receives any such increase or profits (other than money) or payments 
or distributions, the Debtor will deliver the same promptly to the Creditor to be held by the 
Creditor as herein provided. 

10. D*is~osition of Monies: Subject to any applicable requirements of the PPSA, all 
monies collected or received by the Creditor pursuant to or in exercise of any right it possesses 
with respect to the Collateral shall be applied on account of Indebtedness in such manner as the 
Creditor deems best or, at the option of the Creditor, may be held unappropriated in a collateral 
amunt or released to the Debtor, all without prejudice to the liability of the Debtor or the rights 
of the Creditor hereunder, and any surplus shall be amounted for as required by law. 

11. Events of Default: The happening of any of the following events or conditions 
shall constitute default hereunder which is herein referred to as "Default": 

(a) the nonpayment when due, whether by acceleration or otherwise, of any principal 
or interest forming part of Indebtedness or the failure of the Debtor to observe 
or perform any obligation, covenant, term, provision or condition contained in 



this General Security Agreement or any other agreement between the Debtor and 
the Creditor; 

(b) the bankruptcy or insolvency of the Debtor, the filing against the Debtor of a 
petition in bankruptcy, the making of an authorized assignment for the benefit of 
creditors by the Debtor, the appointment of a receiver or trustee for the Debtor 
or for any assets of the Debtor or the institution by or against the Debtor of any 
other type of insolvency proceding under the l3ankm~tcv and Insolvencv Act 
(Canada) or o t h e ~ ,  

(c) the institution by or against the Debtor of any formal or informal proceeding for 
the dissolution or liquidation of, settlement of claims against or winding up of the 
affairs of the Debtor; 

(d) if any Encumbrance affecting the Collateral in priority to the Security Interest 
becomes enforceable against the Collated; 

(e) if the Debtor ceases or threatens to cease to carry on business or makes or agrees 
to make a bulk sale of assets without complying with applicable law or commits 
or threatens to commit an act of bankruptcy; 

(f) if any execution, sequestration, extent or other process of any court becomes 
enforceable against the Debtor or if a distress or analogous p m s  is levied upon 
the assets of the Debtor or any part thereof; 

(g) if any certificate, statement, representation, warranty or audit report heretofore 
or hereafter furnished by or on behalf of the Debtor pursuant to or in connection 
with this General Security Agreement or otherwise (including, without limitation, 
the representations and warranties contained herein) or as an inducement to the 
Creditor to extend any credit to or to enter into this or any other agreement with 
the Debtor, proves to have been false in any material respect at the time as of 
which the facts therein set forth were stated or d f i e d ,  or proves to have 
omitted any substantial contingent or unliquidated liabiity or claim against the 
Debtor; or if upon the date of execution of this General Security Agreement, 
there shall have been any material adverse change in any of the facts disclosed 
by any such certificate, representation, statement, warranty or audit report, which 
change shall not have been disclosed to the Creditor at or prior to the time of 
such execution; and 

(h) if there occurs an Event of Default under the Loan Agreement. 

12. Acceleration: The Creditor, in its sole discretion, may declare all or any part of 
Indebtedness which is not by its terms payable on demand to be immediately due and payable, 
without demand or notice of any kind, in the event of a Default hereunder or if the Creditor, 
in its unfettered discretion, considers itself insecure. The provisions of this section are not 



intended in any way to limit any rights of the Creditor with respect to any Indebtedness which 
may now or hereafter be payable on demand. 

(a) Upon default, the Creditor may appoint or reappoint by instrument in writing, any 
person or persons, whether an officer or officers or an employee or employees of the Creditor 
or not, to be a receiver or receivers (hereinafter called a "Receiver", which term when used 
herein shall include a receiver and manager) of the Collateral (including any interest, income or 
profits therefrom) and may remove any Receiver so appointed and appoint another in his stead, 
Any such Receiver shall, so far as concerns responsibility for his acts, be deemed the agent of 
the Debtor and not the Creditor, and the Creditor shall not be in any way responsible for any 
misconduct, negligence, or non-feasance on the part of any such Receiver, his savants, agents 
or employees. Subject to the provisions of the instrument appointing him, any such Receiver 
shall have power to take possession of the Collateral, to preseme the Collateral or its value, to 
carry on or concur in car$ng on all or any part of the b&iness of the Debtor, and to sell, lease 
or otherwise dispose of or concur in selling, leasing or otherwise disposing of the Collateral. To 
facilitate the foregoing powers, any such Receiver may, to the exclusion of all others (including 
the Debtor), enter upon, use, and occupy all premises owned or occupied by the Debtor wherein 
the Collateral may be situate, maintain the Collateral upon such premises, borrow money on a 
secured or unsecured basis and use the Collateral directly in carrying on the Debtor's business 
or as security for loans or advances to enable him to carry on the Debtor's business or 
otherwise, as such Receiver shall in his discretion determine. Except as may be otherwise 
directed by the Creditor, all monies received from time to time by such-~eceiver-in carrying out 
his appointment shall be received in trust for and paid over to the Creditor. Every such Receiver 
may, in the discretion of the Creditor, be vested with all or any of the rights and powers of the 
Creditor. 

(b) Upon default, the Creditor may, either directly or through its agents or nominees, 
exercise any or all of the powers and rights given to a Receiver by virtue of the foregoing sub- 
section (a). 

(c) Upon default, the Creditor may take possession of, collect, demand, sue on, 
enforce, recover and receive the Collateral and give valid and binding receipts and discharges 
therefor and in respect thereof, and may sell, lease or otherwise dispose of the Collateral in such 
manner, at such time or times and place or places, for such consideration and upon such terms 
and conditions as are commercially reasonable. 

(d) In addition to those rights granted herein and in any other agreement now or 
hereafrer in effect between the Debtor and the Creditor and in addition to any other rights the 
Creditor may have at law or in equity, the Creditor shall have, both before and after default, all 
rights and remedies of a secured party under the PPSA, provided always that the Creditor shall 
not be liable or accountable for any failure to exercise its remedies or to institute any 
proceedings for such purposes. Furthermore, the Creditor shall have no obligation to take any 
steps to preserve rights against prior parties to any of the Collateral or the Proceeds whether or 
not in the Creditor's possession and shall not be liable or accountable for failure to do so. 



(e) The Debtor acknowledges that the Creditor or any Receiver appointed by it may 
take possession of the Collateral wherever it may be located and by any method permitted by 
law and the Debtor agrees upon ques t  from the Creditor or any such Receiver to assemble and 
deliver possession of the Collateral at such place or places as directed. 

(f) The Debtor agrees to pay all costs, charges and expenses reasonably incurred by 
the Creditor or any Receiver appointed by it, whether directly or for services rendered (including 
reasonable auditors costs and any legal expenses and Receiver remuneration) in operating the 
Debtor's accounts, in preparing or enforcing this General Security Agreement, or taking custody 
of, preserving, repairing, processing, preparing for disposition and disposing of the Collateral 
and in enforcing or collecting Indebtedness and all such costs, charges and expenses, together 
with any monies owing as a result of any bornwing by the Creditor or any Receiver appointed 
by it, as permitted hereby, shall be a part of the Indebtedness. 

(g) The Creditor will give the Debtor such notice, if any, of the date, time and place 
of any public sale or of the date after which any private disposition of collated is to be made, 
as may be required by the PPSA. 

O Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of Section 13 hereof, the remedies 
contained therein are subject to the mandatory requirements of applicable law specific to the 
Debtor's business of supply and distribution of natural gas. 

(a) The Debtor hereby authorizes the Creditor to file such fmancing statements and 
other documents and do such acts, matters and things as the Creditor may deem appropriate to 
perfect and continue the Swurity Interest, to protect and preserve the Collateral and to realize 
upon the Security Interest and the Debtor hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints the 
Creditor from time to time of the above mentioned branch of the Creditor the true and lawful 
attorney of the Debtor, with full power of substitution, to do any of the foregoing in the name 
of the Debtor whenever and wherever it may be deemed necessary or expedient. 

(b) Without limiting any other rights of the Creditor, whenever Indebtedness is 
immediately due and payable or the Creditor has the right to declare Indebtedness to be 
immediately due and payable (whether or not it has so declared), the Creditor may, in its sole 
discretion, set off against Indebtedness any and all monies then owed to the Debtor by the 
Creditor in any capacity, whether or not due, and the Creditor shall be deemed to have exercised 
such right to set off immediately at the time of making its decision to do so even though any 
charge therefor is made or entered on the Creditor's records subsequent thereto. 

(c) Upon the Debtor's failure to perform any of its duties hereunder, the Creditor 
may, but shall not be obligated to, perform any or all of such duties, and the Debtor shall pay 
to the Creditor, forthwith upon written demand therefor, an amount equal to the expense 
incurred by the Creditor in so doing plus interest thereon at a rate of eleven and four-fifths 
percent (1 1.8%) caIculated from the date such expense is incurred until it is paid. For greater 
certainty, any such amount shall be deemed to be a part of the Indebtedness. 



(d) The Creditor may grant extensions of time and other indulgences, take and give 
up security, accept compositions, compound, compromise, settle, grant releases and discharges 
and otherwise deal with the Debtor, debtors of the Debtor, sureties and others and with the 
Collateral and other security as the Creditor may see fit without prejudice to the liability of the 
Debtor or the Creditor's right to hold and realize on the Security Interest. Furthermore, the 
Creditor may demand, collect and sue on the Collateral in either the Debtor's or the Creditor's 
name, at the Creditor's option, and may endorse the Debtor's name on any and all cheques, 
commercial paper and any other instruments pertaining to or constituting the Collateral. 

(e) No delay or omission by the Creditor in exercising any right or remedy hereunder 
or with respect to any Indebtedness shall m t e  as a waiver thereof or of any other right or 
remedy, and no single or partial exercise thereof shall preclude any other or further exercise 
thereof or the exercise of any other right or remedy. Furthermore, the Creditor may remedy any 
default by the Debtor hereunder or with respect to any Indebtedness in any reasonable manner 
without waiving the default remedied and without waiving any other prior or subsequent default 
by the Debtor. All rights and remedies of the Creditor granted or recognized herein are 
cumulative and may be exercised at any time and from time to time independently or in 
combination. 

(9 The Debtor waives protest of any Instrument constituting the Collateral at any 
time held by the Creditor on which the Debtor is in any way liable and, subject to Section 13(g) 
hereof, notice of any other action taken by the Creditor. 

(g) This General Security Agreement shall enure to the benefit of and be binding upon 
the parties hereto and their respective heirs, executors, administrators, s u m r s  and assigns. 
In any action brought by an assignee of this General Security Agreement and the Security 
Interest or any part thereof to enforce any rights hereunder, the Debtor shall not assert against 
the assignee any claim or defence which the Debtor now has or hereafter may have against the 
Creditor. 

Q No modification, variation or amendment of any provision of this General Security 
Agreement shail be made except by a written agreement executed by the parties hereto and no 
waiver of any provision hereof shall be effective unless in writing. 

(i) Subject to the requirements of Sections 13(g) and 140) hereof, whenever either 
party hereto is required or entitled to notify or direct the other or to make a demand or request 
upon the other, such notice, direction, demand or request shall be in writing and shall be 
sufficiently given only if delivered to the party for whom it is intended at the principal address 
of such party herein set forth or as changed pursuant hereto or if sent by prepaid registered mail 
addressed to the party for whom it is intended at the principal address of such party herein set 
forth or as changed pursuant hereto. Either party may notify the other pursuant hereto of any 
change in such party's principal address to be used for the purposes hereof. 

(j) This General Security Agreement and the security afforded hereby is in addition 
to and not in substitution for any other security now or hereafter held by the Creditor and is, 
and is intended to be, a continuing security agreement and shall remain in full force and effect 



until the Creditor shall actually receive written notice of its discontinuance; and, notwithstanding 
such notice, shall remain in full force and effect thereafter until all Indebtedness contracted for 
or created before the receipt of such notice by the Creditor, and any extensions or renewals 
thereof (whether made before or after receipt of such notice) together with interest accruing 
thereon after such notice, shall be paid in full. 

(k) The headings used in this General Security Agreement are for convenience only 
and are not to be considered a part of this General Security Agreement and do not in any way 
limit or a m p m  the terms and provisions of this General Security Agreement. 

0) When the context so requires, the singular number shall be read as if the plural 
were expressed and the provisions hereof shall be read with all grammatical changes necessary 
dependent upon the person referred to being a male, female, firm or corporation. 

(m) In the event that any provisions of this General Security Agreement, as amended 
from time to time, shall be deemed invalid or void, in whole or in part, by any Court of 
competent jurisdiction, the remaining terns and provisions of this General Security Agreement 
shall remain in full force and effect. 

(n) Nothing herein contained shall in any way obligate the creditor to grant, continue, 
renew, extend time for payment of or accept anythmg which constitutes or would constitute 
Indebtedness. 

(0) The Security Interest created hereby is intended to attach when this General 
Security Agreement is signed by the Debtor and delivered to the Creditor. 

@) This General Security Agreement and the transactions evidenced hereby shall be 
governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario and the 
federal laws applicable therein as the same may from time to time be in effect. 

(q) AU disputes arising from or in connection with this General Security Agreement 
shall be exclusively adjudicated by the courts of the Province of Ontario. 

(r) This General Security Agreement may be signed in c o u n w .  



15. CODY of Amment: The Debtor hereby acknowledges receipt of a copy of this 
General Security Agreement. 

IN WlTNESS WHEREOF the Parties have executed this General Security 
Agreement as of the date first above written. 

THE IMPEXIAL LTF'E ASSURANCE 
COMPANY OF CANADA 

Per: SQ c / s  
Name - Glen MacNeill 
Title - Assistant Vice-President 

NATURAL RESOURCE GAS WMITED 

/ ,;. 5.  

Per: ,. .. A,., ,' . / CIS - 
Name -' wil1ia.m Blake 
Title - President and General Manager 



Appendix E 



David J. Pallett C.A. 
Partner, Neal, Pallett & Townsend u p  

Education 

I-Ionoms Business Administration - The University of Western Ontario Business School- 1987 
Chartered Accountant - 1990 

Responsibilities 

David is a partner providing full business services including accounting, auditing, taxation and client 
consulting for a wide variety of owner-managed clients. llavid also provides accounting, taxation 
(including estate planning) and general financial consulting and advisory services to individuals. 

Experience 

Dayid has been in public accounting for twenty years. He obtained his chartered accountancy 
designation in 1990 after completing his internship with a large international accounting firm in ],ondon, 
Ontario. I-Ie established an individual practice in 1992 and developed a keen understanding of the 
scnrtce and dedication to client necds required to f~~lfill  client expectations. 'I'his hlgh level of personal 
service to clients continues today from Dm-id and the entire professional team at Neal, Pallett LYT 
'I'ouinsend I.I.P. 

llavid's experiences have ~ncluded audting of various manufacturing, sen-ice, retail, non-for-profit and 
charitable organizations. Hc has extensive experience in many different mdustries and businesses and 
specifically enjoys working with his owner-managed bumless and growth oriented clients. 

Professional and Community Service 

Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants 
Ontano Insutute of Chartered Llccountants 
Institute of Chartered ,Iccout~tants of Westcrn Ontario (Membership Chair, Treasurer) 
Alumru Assoc~ation of the Umvcrsity of Westcm Ontario 
Iiormer volunteer leader for Scouts Canada (12 years) 
Former volunteer for the Small Business Counselling program 
Former Finance Committce Member - London District Scouts Canada 
Formcr l'reasurer and Executive Committee Member - Conservative Party of Canada 
F~ormer 'I'reasurer, Southend United Competitive Soccer Club 
Former T'reasiirer, Youth Opportun~t~es Unlinuted (4 years) 
Vol~mteer/~\dvisor for I,ow Income Seniors Tax (:lmics 
'Volunteer coach for youth competitive soccer teams (8 years) 
Board Member, Southcnd liecreatiorlal Socccr Club 
Treasurer, Southend United Competitive Soccer Club 



SUMMARY OF RESPONSE TO PRE-FILED EVIDENCE OF UNION 

Union's evidence gives two reasons for Union's determination that NRG's creditworthiness has 
become less satisfactory: 

(1) UNION ARGUMENT #1: NRG's 2006 Financial Statements were accompanied by a 
qualified auditor's opinion that stated that GAAP requires NRG's Class C shares to be 
shown as a liability, not equity. 

NRG's RESPONSE: 

NRG's Class C shares were created in 2003, well before 2006. 

The retractable nature of NRG's Class C shares has been explicitly disclosed on 
NRG's fiiancial statements since 2003. 

The GAAP requirement that NRG's Class C shares be treated for accounting 
purposes as a liability and not equity has been explicitly disclosed on NRG's 
financial statements since 2004. 

NRG's Class C shareholder has postponed its right to retract these shares for five 
years (under its BNS loan). So the shares cannot be retracted. 

The Class C shares still represent equity, in that they are the equity contributed 
by the shareholders to the business. 

NRG's capital structure has been scrutinized at two OEB proceedings (with 
Union as an intervenor) since creation of the Class C shares. 

(2) UNION ARGUMENT #2: In 2006, NRG pledged all of its present and future assets, 
property and undertaking to the Bank of Nova Scotia ("BNS") pursuant to NRG's new 
financing. 

NRG's RESPONSE: 

General Security Agreements ("GSAsW) are common in secured fmancings, for 
both large and small companies (e.g., Canwest, TransAlta, etc.). 

NRG's assets have pledged under a GSA since at least 1994 (i.e., under NRG's 
previous loan from Imperial Life, NRG had a GSA with Imperial Life). 

The fact that NRG's assets have been pledged under a GSA since 1994 has been 
explicitly disclosed in every financial statement since 1994. 

The existence or non-existence of a GSA is not indicative of creditworthiness. 
Since being purchased by the Graat family in 1979, NRG has grown its customer 
base by 350%' and recently secured financing from a major Canadian bank. 

NRG has never missed a payment to Union. 
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